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Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries (the Company and the subsidiaries are
hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) are the designing,
manufacturing, marketing and trading of fine jewellery and
diamonds. Also, the Group maintains an investment portfolio
including property investment and development, mining and
other investments.

On the manufacturing side, Continental Jewellery (Mfg.)
Limited, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, mainly
engages in the product development, manufacture
and marketing of fine jewellery primarily for export
and is regarded as one of the leaders in fine jewellery
manufacturing. A substantial share of our jewellery products
is currently directed at the middle to upper segments of the
market. We specialise in manufacturing fine jewellery in
precious metal set with diamond, ruby, emerald, sapphire,
pearl and other semiprecious stones.

The Group has fully-integrated production plant in China
with around 308 staff as at 30 June 2024. Our facility is
best known for their quality with extensive capabilities in
jewellery design, direct stone sourcing, lapidary, alloying and
gold refining. The management of the Group is known for its
commitment to quality, and its finished products are visible
testaments to that commitment.
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Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Group Chairman

| am pleased to present the annual report of Continental
Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2024. This
report aims to provide you with an overview of the financial
performance of our Group and to highlight key factors that
have influenced our results.

The current reporting year has presented significant
challenges, leading to a decline in revenues and net income.
This downturn reflects broader macroeconomic realities and
specific market dynamics that has adversely affected our
businesses. This decline can be attributed to weaker jewellery
sales across all major markets, which have been directly
affected by the prevailing weak market conditions. As for
the property segment faced with challenges in suppressed
purchasing and in the Hong Kong residential and commercial
sectors. The overall weak economy has further compounded
the downward pressure in our group’s performance this year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the fiscal year ended 30 June 2024, the Group’s
consolidated revenue recorded a decrease of approximately
HK$95.2 million or 20.9% from last year’s HK$455.6 million
to HK$360.4 million. During the year, loss attributable to
owners of the Company was HK$257.3 million as compared
to last year's loss of HK$98.3 million. The loss for the year
was mainly resulting from (i) decrease in revenue and gross
profit of approximately HK$95.2 million and approximately
HK$109.0 million respectively, the substantial decrease
in gross profit was mainly attributable to the write-down
of approximately HK$141.0 million for properties under
development and properties for sales affected by the
current property market conditions; (ii) recognition of loss
of approximately HK$87.9 million arising from the change
in fair value of investment properties; (iii) impairment loss in
respect of goodwill, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$9.8 million and (iv) increase in finance
cost of approximately HK$18.1 million. The basic loss per
share was HK37.67 cent (2023: HK14.39 cent).

In the most recent reporting year, our jewelry segment
experienced a decline in revenue due to several
interconnected factors. The macro-environment remains
challenging, with high inflation and interest rate reducing
consumer confidence and purchasing power on luxury
goods. As political tensions and instability continue to
persist impacting Sino-American trade, and United Kingdom
impacting cross border supply chain businesses and
dampened retail sales. Consumers are increasingly cautious
about spending amid concerns over political and economic
uncertainties. This hesitance is coupled with a shift in retailer
behavior; many of them focusing on selling down existing
inventory rather than placing new orders. The combination
of these factors resulted in a decrease in our jewelry revenue.
The challenging economic environment across major markets
necessitated a cautious approach to business operations and
maintaining sales momentum.
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As result of above negative factors, the Group’s revenue from

jewellery segment recorded a decrease of approximately

HK$101 million or 23.2% from last year's HK$434.9 million
to HK$333.9 million for the year ended 30 June 2024.
Jewellery segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$23.7
million for the year ended 30 June 2024 as compared to last
year's profit of approximately HK$2.7 million. Such loss was
mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue, unavoidable
fixed operating expenses and impairment loss in respect
of goodwill, intangible assets and right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$9.8 million.

The Hong Kong property market also faced various
challenges in the past years, characterized by a combination
of high interest rates and over supply of new developments.
These factors have contributed to a weak market
environment affecting commercial and residential sectors.
This glut intensified competition resulting in driving prices
down. As a result we have made the decision to sell
down Amber Place at a discount. This decision reflects
our commitment to maintaining liquidity and reallocating
resources towards more promising opportunities.

In property, revenue from rental income during the year
amounted to approximately HK$22.3 million representing an
increase of HK$6.6 million from the corresponding year of
2023 of HK$15.7 million. The increase in revenue was mainly
because more units were leased out at One Continental
during the year. With a diverse and balanced portfolio, the
Group believes that these investments and projects will
generate steady income and return in the long run.

In December 2021, the Group acquired six properties located
at No. 164-164A Boundary Street, Kowloon, with a site
area of approximately 5,054 sq.ft. and a developable gross
floor area of approximately 25,270 sq.ft. Demolition of the
old building has been completed, and the intention is to
redevelop into a residential development.



Chairman’s Statement m /&R

H
=

[MEER LR EBETE232
FoAKBERFHAE BEHRL] Z
75%HEm ZANER—IHR28E R
BIEHEEL AE86970F TR &
BETERTEHFRAET - REE
B A IR B 0 0 B0 K i A R AR = T Y
I ANEEBR - _NE F¥FE
TRIWESELZEERR -

AEEHREEMUANERDESE
198 2 A (M AR AR 4) 53,240
FHR) Z90% e o AR E EHEA
—AEMNESTEFE L2258
STEEERER ZEGEET
BT MEAEL A29,147F H IR <18
EEmiAalERH| YER-E
Z=FLARBIERFAE ZE
TERIBE KIEHQ2ETEEN -
FEBEMHERR -_T_NFt
R 245 HE29F E LB RT3 G

o 25 4 2%
E\E\TME}‘J%°

REBREETREYME BEM
R ITERE L8655 2 12{EE fE i =
MEE - RO NBEBMEB19-235 2
MEEHEMZERAEM-EEY
¥ NFARELES0%IU L AARE
EHERIBEHESWA -

REDMAE AHESEL EER
BB N ARFTR YR ITEE
& 2 RALBD - A B T P9 A B T
EREAENES RERER]T -
HRZERRIL RETEMNEE
B - U 3 R B A I A SRS A )
Wik o bR A BE TR R B B/ V2B AMRIR
S REBFAL RETARESR
KA -

“One Continental (B .)) ” is located at No. 232 Wan
Chai Road, Hong Kong. The Group currently holds 75%
of the interests in “One Continental”, a premium grade
office and retail composite building of 28-storey tall with a
gross floor area of approximately 86,970 sq.ft. Despite the
challenges posed by sluggish inbound tourism and high
financing costs, the Group managed to secure additional
quality tenants during the 1st half of 2024.

The Group owns 90% of its interests in the site at No. 1
of Cheung Wah Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, with
a site area of approximately 3,240 sq.ft. The site has been
developed into a 25-storey residential development with a
2-storey retail podium/high-rise composite building, with a
gross floor area of approximately 29,147 sq.ft. The project
has been named “Amber Place (1E39) “ and the occupation
permit has been obtained in July 2023. The residential
development offers a total of 42 residential units. The sales
of the residential units commenced in July 2024, and since
then, a total of 29 units have entered into provisional sales
and purchase agreement.

The Group holds certain investment properties comprising
12 floors of commercial properties located at No. 65 Castle
Peak Road, Yuen Long, and 2 shops with several office units
located at No. 19-23 Hart Avenue, Kowloon. The investment
properties are above 80% leased out, generating a stable
rental income for the Group during the year.

In the mining segment, operation at Hongzhuang Gold Mine
was minimised. The Company focused on the exploration at
the northeastern of Yuanling. Meanwhile, we will continue
developing new shaft and re-visiting the old shaft in the
Yuanling mine site. No revenue was recorded for the period
under review as these mines did not carry out any production
activities. Apart from the minimal operations on both mines,
no large-scale capital investment was carried out during the
year under review.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The outlook for the market remains bleak, primarily driven
by the prevailing high interest rates. These rates continue
to exert significant pressure on consumer spending and
investment, which will likely hinder economic recovery in the
near term.

Despite the overall negative sentiment, there is a silver lining
in the jewellery retail sector. Retailers are currently operating
at very low inventory levels, which could create a momentum
shift as demand begins to stabilize. As consumer confidence
gradually improves, we anticipate that jewellery retailers may
increase their purchasing activities, potentially driving growth
in this specific segment.

The recovery of the property market is expected to be a
protracted process. Given the current economic conditions
and the high-interest rate environment, it is likely that
any rebound in property values and transactions will take
considerable time. Stakeholders should prepare for a slow
recovery phase, with gradual improvements rather than rapid
escalations. Hong Kong's economic performance remains
closely tied to the economy of the People’s Republic of China
(PRC). As the PRC navigates its own economic challenges,
including potential slowdowns, Hong Kong will likely feel
the repercussions, further complicating local market recovery
efforts.

In light of these challenges, it is imperative for our
management team to take more cautious steps regarding
investments and resource allocations. Thorough due diligence
and a conservative approach will be essential as we navigate
this uncertain landscape. By carefully evaluating opportunities
and risks, we can position ourselves to weather the current
market conditions effectively and capitalize on future
recovery when the environment becomes more favorable.
We acknowledge the impact of these factors on our financial
performance and remain focused on implementing strategies
to mitigate their effects. We sincerely appreciate the support
and trust of our shareholders.
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REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON MINING
RIGHT AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the directors of the
Company appointed an independent professional valuer,
BMI Appraisals Limited, to perform a valuation with respect
to Hongzhuang Gold Mine situated at Henan Province,
China. Based on the valuation of recoverable amount of
Hongzhuang Gold Mine, reversal of impairment loss on
mining right and property, plant and equipment amounting
to HK$9,406,000 (2023: HK$22,728,000) and HK$168,000
(2023: HK$419,000) respectively was recognized as the
result, which primarily due to the change of market gold
price during the year.

The fair value of Hongzhuang Gold Mine was estimated
based on the Market Based Approach with reference to
comparable transactions, in which such approach was
consistent with mining right valuation as at 30 June 2023.

The key inputs used in the valuation were the consideration-
to-resources multiples obtained from comparable
transactions, the adjusted contained gold metal based on the
technical review report prepared by SRK Consulting China
Limited under Chinese standard.

The Chinese standard resources estimates as reported by SRK
Consulting China Limited were risk with uncertainty. The
estimated fair value of the Hongzhuang Gold Mine has been
assigned a lower or no credit to those resources with high
resources risks.

As at 30 June 2024, the directors of the Company also
conducted an impairment assessment on certain of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment under Yuanling mine
site based on the estimation of discount cash flow of current
stage of mining explorations and gold price during the year.
Accordingly, no reversal of impairment loss or impairment
loss of property, plant and equipment (2023: Nil) was
recognized and included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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All the above-mentioned reversal of impairment loss on
mining right and property, plant and equipment was
included in the Group’s mining segment in the reportable
and operating segment of the Group.

ANNUAL UPDATE ON DETAILS OF RESOURCES
AND/OR RESERVES UNDER RULES OF 18.15, 18.17
AND 18.18 OF THE LISTING RULES

There has been no material change on the resources and/or
reserves of the Group during the year. The following table
shows the details of resources and/or reserves of the Group
as at 30 June 2024:

RERS BLER HERERE HEEY E¥ A
Type of
Reporting mining Gold  Reporting
date operation resources  Standard Gold grade
() (%/%)
(t) (g/t)
“ECmE O#T 1073 REREI22D 558
~A=TH Underground PRC 122b
30 June 2024 546 PEIRER 1.89
PRC 332
266 PERE3 446
PRC 333
“EomE BT - HEREL -
~A=TH Underground PRC 122b
30 June 2024 - RERESR -
PRC 333

Factors and assumptions such as gold grade, ore body
thickness and shape of vein were considered for estimating
the resources and/or reserves. Please refer to Section 8
of Appendix VII of the circular of the Company dated 25
January 2010 for further information of the resources and/or
reserves estimation.

* The unofficial English translations or transliterations of Chinese
names are for identification purpose only.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING

As of 30 June 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio was 0.3619
(2023: 0.3215), which is calculated on net debt divided by
total equity plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as the sum
of bank and other borrowings less cash and cash equivalents
and time deposit with original maturities over three months.
The cash and cash equivalents and time deposit with original
maturities over three months of HK$49,156,000 (2023:
HK$97,101,000) which were mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar, US Dollar, Renminbi and British Pound. Other
borrowings in respect of amounts due to joint ventures,
amounts due to related companies, loan from a controlling
shareholder, amounts due to non-controlling interests and
lease liabilities were approximately of HK$136,169,000
(2023: HK$122,007,000). Bank loans denominated in HK$
and US$ were approximately HK$1,036,236,000 (2023:
HK$1,058,377,000). Details of pledge of assets in respect of
bank loans are set out in the section PLEDGE OF ASSETS.

The decrease in the Group’s cash and cash equivalent
as at 30 June 2024 were mainly due to the payment of
the finance costs and partial repayment of bank loans. In
line with the Group's prudent financial management, the
directors of the Company considered that the Group has
sufficient working capital to meet its ongoing operational
requirements.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 30 June 2024, the Group’s bank loans denominated
in HK$ of HK$1,024,440,000 (2023: HK$1,036,213,000)
are secured by the Group’s certain property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, certain right-of-use assets,
properties under development and properties for sales,
pledged by ordinary shares of certain subsidiaries of the
Company and guaranteed by corporate guarantees executed
by the Company. Whereas, bank loans denominated in
US$ in the equivalent amount of HK$11,796,000 (2023:
HK$22,164,000) are guaranteed by corporate guarantees
executed by the Company and/or secured by all the assets of
a subsidiary of the Company.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
Dollar, US Dollar and Renminbi. Interest is determined with
reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or Prime
Rate for Hong Kong Dollar borrowings, US Prime Rate for
US Dollar borrowings and the benchmark lending rate of the
People’s Bank of China for Renminbi borrowings. The Group
also made use of foreign exchange forward contract in order
to minimise exchange rate risk as a result of fluctuation in
British Pound. There was no change to the Group's capital
structure during the year ended 30 June 2024. In light of the
current financial position of the Group and provided there is
no unforeseeable circumstance, the management does not
anticipate the need to change the capital structure.
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ADVANCE FROM A CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

As at 30 June 2024, Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley has advanced
a loan in the amount of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$4,280,000) to a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, the loan is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on 25 October 2026.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2024, the Company has provided guarantees
to the extent of HK$843,690,000 (2023: HK$863,695,000)
with respect to bank loans to its subsidiaries. Under the
guarantees, the Company would be liable to pay the banks
if the banks are unable to recover the loans. At the reporting
date, no provision for the Company's obligation under
the guarantee contracts has been made as the Directors
considered that it was unlikely the repayment of the loans
would be in default.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 30 June 2024, the Group had outstanding
capital commitment of approximately HK$Nil (2023:
HK$15,858,000), which was mainly the capital commitment
for the investment property undertaken by the Group.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are no other significant event after the reporting
period and up to the date of the Annual Report.
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group employs a total of approximately 465 employees
with the majority in the PRC. The Group’s remuneration to its
employees is largely based on common industrial practice. In
order to attract, retain and motivate the eligible employees,
including the Directors, the Company have adopted share
option schemes.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 13
July 2010 (“the “2010 Share Option Scheme”), which was
valid for a period of ten years commencing on the date
of adoption 13 July 2010. Under which, the Company
may grant options to eligible person including directors
and employees (as explained hereinafter). The 2010 Share
Option Scheme was expired on 12 July 2020. Therefore, the
Company has adopted a new share option on 22 December
2020 (the “2020 Share Option Scheme"”). Subsequent to
the expiry of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, no further
option can be granted thereunder but in all other respects,
the provisions of the 2010 Share Option Scheme shall remain
in force and all options granted prior to such expiry shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme.

On 31 May 2021, every ten (10) issued shares of the
Company were consolidated into one (1) share of the
Company (the “Share Consolidation”). As such, adjustments
were made to the exercise prices and the number of shares
of the Company falling to be issued in respect of the
outstanding share options in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the 2010 Share Option Scheme and the
Listing Rules. As at 30 June 2024, there were options for
10,200,000 shares (after Share Consolidation) were valid
and outstanding under the 2010 Share Option Scheme. No
share option has been granted under the 2020 Share Option
Scheme since it has been adopted.



Chairman’s Statement m =/EH%

—E-EFEREAENR T Z
FHEREFSZTERRBEN

T

(a)

—E-TEBRETS

—E-TFEBREIEE
(RIELREEEB 2AER
AL RRESIHAEEE
BEZAT  (IETRER
ATHASERZRR ZER
BREEREEBTARFLZ
PTG R - R (i) B Ko 22 E i
ERERATHEBHAEER
Z REBERNAME ALK KIES
ARk

BRE-ZZ—FTFERE
£ ArEARAR] RSB
RAIKNESSMET B LK
HERAEEERRERE
HERZARIREERBLE
BRB2HEHEZENKREER
B2 EMES aRITHAR
HEE KB BEF(BEHR
T FERITRBEIIFRITE
=) ok R R B A - AT
A+ —EAHE ARFESR
BERATZBIREEITE
METRETETZRHOE
BArHa AR R REMB
HIE TR Z21% °

BERALTHARHENH
HIEG T EZ X B NRAE
B B REREL - R
ZHN > AR ANBRARRF L
1.008 THEARER(E-

Summary of the principal terms of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme and 2020 Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(a)

2010 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2010 Share Option Scheme is
(i) to recruit and retain high caliber eligible persons
and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group; (ii) to recognise the contributions of eligible
persons to the growth of the Group by rewarding
them with opportunities to obtain ownership interest
in the Company and (iii) to motivate and to give
incentives to these eligible persons to continue to
contribute to the long-term success and prosperity of
the Group.

Under the 2010 Share Option Scheme, options might
be granted to any employee, senior executive or
officer, manager, director (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive director) or
consultant of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any invested entity who, as determined by the Board,
have contributed or will contribute to the growth
and development of the Group or any invested entity
are eligible to participate the scheme. The number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each eligible person in any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the Company's
shares in issue at the adoption date.

The eligible person must accept any such offer notified
to him or her within ten business days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant.
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The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for
shares of the Company shall be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

As at 30 June 2024, 13,200,000 share options
(after Share Consolidation) have been granted to
certain directors and employees of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$1.38, HK$1.21, HK$2.45,
HK$1.49 or HK$0.52 each (after Share Consolidation)
subject to the terms of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme. 1,000,000 share options (after Share
Consolidation) had been exercised thereafter and
2,000,000 share options (after Share Consolidation)
has been lapsed during the year ended 30 June 2024
since the grant of the 2010 Share Options.
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Details of movement of the 2010 Share Options up to

RlE —ET-TFERECE 30 June 2024 are set out below:
BHBHEIWT:
ERiER
Number of share options
2HEY R-FI=ZE RIEZME
AEAEEE BHEH R#EER  tA-Bz ~AEtHZ
LE ] (B/R/%) &8 BRITEEY Wi B8 REAEH  REAFE  RERXR &8
Closing price
per Share
Name or immediately Balance Granted Exercised lapsed Balance
category Date of Grant  Exercisable Exercise Price before the as at During During During as at
of Grantee (dd/mm/yyyy)  Period per Share® date of grant 1 July 2023 the Year the Year the Year 30 June 2024
(%71) (E1)
(HKS) (HKS)
RELLE 19/06/2014 19/06/2014 - 138 138 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 -
Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor 18/06/2024
07/07/2015 07/07/2015 - 245 2.00 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
06/07/2025
03112016 031172016 - 149 1.50 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
02/11/2026
REELL 19/06/2014 19/06/2014 - 138 138 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 -
Ms. Chan Wai Kei, 18/06/2024
ik 07/07/2015 07/07/2015 - 245 2.00 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 1.50 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
0211112026
FERRE 07/07/2015 07/07/2015 - 245 2.00 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Mr. Yam Tat Wing 06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 1.50 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
02/11/2026
REELE 250072014 25072014 - 121 1.20 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Mr. Wong Edward 24007/2024
Gwor-hng 070772015 070772015 - 245 200 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 1.50 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
021172026
fpE8 2210672020 2210672020 - 052 050 1,200,000 - - - 1200000
Other Employees 21/06/2030
12,200,000 - - 2,000,000 10,200,000
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(b)

Note: (1) Due to Share Consolidation, adjustments were made
to the number of outstanding share options and the
exercise price on 31 May 2021. The exercise price per
share of the share options granted on 19 June 2014
was adjusted from HK$0.138 to HK$1.38; the exercise
price per share of the share options granted on 25 July
2014 was adjusted from HK$0.121 to HK$1.21; the
exercise price per share of the share options granted on
7 July 2015 was adjusted from HK$0.245 to HK$2.45;
the exercise price per share of the share options granted
on 3 November 2016 was adjusted from HK$0.149 to
HK$1.49 and the exercise price per share of the share
options granted on 22 June 2020 was adjusted from
HK$0.052 to HK$0.52.

2020 Share Option Scheme

The 2010 Share Option Scheme was expired on 12
July 2020. Therefore, the Company has adopted the
2020 Share Option Scheme, which should be valid
for a period of ten years commencing on the date of
adoption 22 December 2020.

The purpose of the 2020 Share Option Scheme is
(i) to provide eligible persons with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company;
(i) to encourage eligible persons to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company; (iii) shares for
the benefit of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole and (iv) provide the Company with
flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits
to eligible persons.
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Under the 2020 Share Option Scheme, options might
be granted to any employee, senior executive or
officer, manager, director (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive director)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who, as
determined by the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the
Group.

The total number of shares available for issue under
the 2020 Share Option Scheme was 68,311,825
shares which represented 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at 25 September 2024.

The eligible person must accept any such offer notified
to him or her within ten business days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant.

The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for
shares of the Company shall be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

No share option has been granted under the 2020
Share Option Scheme since it has been adopted.

Zl—‘ NIRRT B E— T FIEE Further details of the Company’s share option scheme are set
ERE B TG R M ek P o out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EXPOSURE TO FINANCIAL RISK AND RELATED
HEDGE

The Group utilises conservative strategies on its financial
risk management and the market risk had been kept to
minimum. With the exception of the UK subsidiaries,
all transactions and the borrowings of the Group are
primarily denominated in US Dollar, Hong Kong Dollar and
Renminbi. During the year, the Group had entered into
foreign exchange forward contract in order to minimise the
exchange rate risk as a result of fluctuation in British Pound.
Management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange
risk in British Pound and recent fluctuation in Renminbi and
will take appropriate actions when necessary.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM")
will be held on Monday, 2 December 2024 and the Notice
of AGM will be published and despatched in the manner as
required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the Register of Members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 27 November 2024 to Monday,
2 December 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
and appropriate transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company’s Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 26 November 2024.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their
continuous supports and trust, and extend my heartiest
thanks and appreciation to our directors, to all staffs, for
their relentless efforts, dedication and resilience during this
challenging period. Looking ahead, we will continue our
endeavor to overcome the future challenges and enhance
the value of our business.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 September 2024
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Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor, was appointed as Chairman of
the Group since 2017. He joined the Group in 2000 and was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in 2006.
He currently strategises the direction of the Group and also
provides leadership to the Board. He manages and oversees
the overall Group operations and is responsible in leading
the management on various aspects of the Group such
as sales and marketing, product development, investment
and financing activities, as well as corporate and business
development, etc.

Mr. Chan holds a number of public and honorary positions,
such as Vice Chairman of The Hong Kong Jewellery & Jade
Manufacturers Association; Vice-Chairman, Manufacturing
and Member of Young Diamantaire of the Diamond
Federation of Hong Kong China Ltd.; Founding Chairman
of the Youth Chapter of the Hong Kong Young Industrialists
Council; Associate Member of YPO (Young Presidents’
Organization); Member of the Jewellery Advisory Committee
of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council; and Member
of Jewellery Industry Training Advisory Committee of Hong
Kong Qualification Framework. He was also a Member of
International Affairs Committee of Federation of Hong Kong
Industries, President of Entrepreneurs’ Organization (Hong
Kong and China South Chapters) and Director of Hong Kong
United Youth Association.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan had worked in both
banking and manufacturing industry for several years. He
holds a Bachelor of Science degree with double majors in
Entrepreneurial Studies and Finance from Babson College in
Boston, Massachusetts. Mr. Chan is the son of Ms. Cheng Siu
Yin, Shirley.
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Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley, is the Managing Director
and Co-Founder of the Group. Ms. Cheng is an Executive
Director of the Company and holds directorship in various
subsidiaries of the Company. She is responsible for the daily
operations, financial management, corporate development,
sales and marketing as well as strategic planning of the
Group. Ms. Cheng has over 50 years of experience in the
jewellery industry and has been actively involved in the
business development of the Group since the beginning. Ms.
Cheng also plays an active role in the community, currently
Director and Treasurer of Zonta Club of Hong Kong (2022-
2024), and Vice Chairman, Executive Committee and
Honorary Vice President of the Hong Kong Federation of
Women. In addition, she was awarded as one of the “100
Chinese Outstanding Women Entrepreneurs” in 2006 and
was a Committee Member of the City of Jiangmen Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki, joined the Group in 1995. She
is an Executive Director of the Company and is responsible
for property development in Hong Kong, retail operation
and the business administration functions in the Group.
Ms. Chan graduated from University of California, Berkeley
with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and Minor in
Business Administration. Ms. Chan is a Graduate Gemologist
of the Gemological Institute of America. She was Charter
President of Zonta Club of Hong Kong Il and Area Director
of Zonta International (2010-2012), actively involved in the
Zonta Community. Ms. Chan is Honorary Vice President
of the Hong Kong Federation of Women. She was also an
awardee of the 4th Golden Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur
Award. She is the daughter of Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.
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Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice, Joined the Group in 2004 and
was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
on 8 February 2024. She is responsible for driving the
corporate development strategy, sales and marketing
functions of the Group. She is also the General Manager
of two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and is
responsible for overseeing the property development and
investments of the Group. She was a director of the Group’s
joint venture company — Shanghai Haijin Real Estate Co.,
Ltd* from December 2014 to June 2018, where she led the
development and operations of a sizeable shopping mall
in Shanghai. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor of Science degree
from the School of Hotel Administration of Cornell University.
She has extensive experience in the jewellery industry,
including retail marketing in Hong Kong, export marketing
and product development, retail operations in China. Prior
to joining the Group, She held positions at Credit Suisse
First Boston in equity capital markets and Christian Dior Asia
Pacific Ltd in marketing and communications New York and
Hong Kong offices respectively. She is the daughter of Ms.
Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.

* The unofficial English translations or transliterations of Chinese
names are for identification purpose only
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Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing, joined the Group in
1998, and has been appointed as Executive Director of
the Company since 1 March 2014. He is also the General
Manager of Continental Jewellery (Mfg.) Limited. Mr. Wong
has over 30 years’ experience in manufacturing, sales
marketing and management in jewellery industry. Mr. Wong
is responsible for overall development and management of
the Group's jewellery business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 25 April 2005. Mr.
Yu is a businessman who has been actively engaged in the
construction business both in the public and private sectors
in Hong Kong for the last 40 years. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers. Other
than his working experience in managing a construction
company, he has also actively involved in the community
services of Hong Kong and has served several advisory
bodies of Hong Kong Government for over 30 years. He was
subsequently awarded as an unofficial Justice of the Peace by
the Hong Kong Government in the year 1989 and awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in the year 2007. From
March 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Yu was the Chairman and
an Executive Director of K. H. Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1557), a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 7 March 2008. Mr.
Chan has more than 30 years' experience in logistics industry
and possesses extensive experience in distribution. Mr. Chan
was a Founder and Director of various logistic companies and
was a Director of a private company engaging in logistics and
forwarding.
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Mr. Sze Irons, BBS, JP was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 2 October 2008. Mr. Sze
graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Science from
University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, United States in 1985. Mr.
Sze has extensive experience in investment and corporate
management and is currently an Independent Non-executive
Director of Chevalier International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 25), Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
2360), Redco Healthy Living Company Limited (Stock
Code: 2370), Forward Fashion (International) Holdings
Company Limited (Stock Code: 2528) and Tongda Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 698), all of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange. He is also an Executive Director of
a private company, Hang Tung Resources Holding Limited,
and holds directorship in various private companies. Mr.
Sze has resigned as Independent Non-executive Director of
Jianzhong Construction Development Limited (Stock Code:
589) and ST International Holdings Company Limited (now
known as WebX International Holdings Company Limited)
(Stock Code: 8521) on 21 November 2023 and 5 December
2023 respectively. He has resigned as Non-executive Director
of China Weaving Materials Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
3778) and Bel Global Resources Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 761) (listing of which shares on the Stock Exchange
has been cancelled with effect from 24 August 2018), with
effect from 6 June 2019 and 21 August 2019 respectively.

Mr. Sze is a Standing Member of the 14th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC"), Standing committee member of the
Beijing Committee of the CPPCC and Convener of Hong
Kong, the Permanent Honorary President of the Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, President of
Federation of Hong Kong Beijing Organisations and the
Secretary General of the Hong Kong Coalition. He is also
elected as a member of Election Committee of the Chief
Executive of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Mr.
Sze was appointed Justice of the Peace and awarded the
Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in 2011 and 2015 respectively.
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Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Board on 7 April 2010.
Mr. Cheung is currently the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of China Weaving Materials Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 3778), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. He has over 25 years of experience in accounting,
finance and administration and has held senior positions
in multinational companies. He obtained his MBA from
University of Technology, Sydney, Australia and is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.

From March 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Cheung was an
Independent Non-Executive Director of K. H. Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1557), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. From March 2009 to July 2011, he was a part-
time tutor at the Open University of Hong Kong (now known
as Hong Kong Metropolitan University). From March 2004
to November 2007, he was an Executive Director of Sun
Innovation Holdings Limited (now known as Digital Domain
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 547), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, and was also the Chief Financial Officer
from March 2007 to February 2008. He was an Independent
Director of LJ International Inc. (NASDAQ: JADE), a company
listed on NASDAQ from June 2007 to October 2007. From
January 2001 to December 2003, he was a Director of e-Lux
(Hong Kong) Limited (now known as Quants Capital (Hong
Kong) Limited), a subsidiary of e-Lux Corporation (JASDAQ:
6811) (now known as Quants Inc.), in charge of value-added
telecommunications services in Hong Kong, Taiwan and
China. He was the group financial controller and a director
of New Media Corporation, a subsidiary of e-New Media
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 128) (now known as ENM Holdings Limited)
from 1995 to 1999 and 1999 to 2000, respectively.
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Mr. Yam Tat Wing, joined the Group in 2011 as General
Manager — Business Development and Mining of the
Group, was appointed as Executive Director on 1 March
2014 and was re-designated as Non-executive Director and
Independence Non-executive Director of the Company on 1
January 2017 and 8 February 2024 respectively. Mr. Yam was
educated up to matriculation and he obtained a certificate
in Personnel Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yam had served in the Hong
Kong Police Force (the “Force”) for over 37 years, he was
previously Deputy Commissioner, Operations from January
2007 to March 2010. Mr. Yam has extensive experience in
leadership, public administration and crisis management.

During his career in the Force, Mr. Yam was awarded
the Silver Bauhinia Star Medal, Colonial Police Long
Service Medal with 3rd clasp, the Colonial Police Medal
for Meritorious Service, the Hong Kong Police Medal for
Distinguished Service and Chief Executives Commendation.
From August 2011 to August 2021, he was appointed an
Affiliated Fellow of Wu Yee Sun College of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is an Honorary Advisor to
the Asian Professional Security Association Hong Kong
Chapter. Mr. Yam was appointed an Honorary Chairman of
International Legal Commercial Elites Association in 2021.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi Wing Cheong, Eric, FGA, DGA, FGAHK, CG (Diamond),
joined the Group in 1987, is currently the Director of
Operations. With over 30 years of experience in application
system implementation and supply chain management in the
jewellery industry, he also holds gemmologist qualification
— a fellow member of The Gemmological Association of
Great Britain and director of The Gemmological Association
of Hong Kong, and is appointed as RPL Assessor at
Qualifications Framework of jewellery industry by Vocational
Training Council. Mr. Choi now oversees the daily
operation in logistic support, Information Technology, and
administration and human resources of the Group. He was
in charge of the implementation of ISO Quality Management
System and best practices project.
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The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the
Company is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report for the year ended 30 June 2024.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

The Group's vision continues to be the leader in the jewellery
industry by developing trusted, creative solutions to the
global jewellery industry, and dedicating to innovative
designs, excellent craftsmanship, and high-quality service.
The provision of quality jewellery product to customers has
always been a fundamental value of the Group.

A healthy corporate culture is important to good corporate
governance which is crucial for achieving sustainable long-
term success of the Group. The Board considers that the
corporate culture and the purpose, value and strategy of the
Group are aligned.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. The Board considers
shareholders can maximise their benefits from good
corporate governance.

Compliance with the Code Provisions

The Company has adopted code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. During the year ended
30 June 2024, the Company has complied with the Code,
except for the deviations from Code provisions C.2.1 and
D.2.5 which are explained below:

Code provision C.2.1
Under Code provision C.2.1, the roles of the chairman and

the chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.
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Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor (“Mr. Victor Chan") is an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Victor Chan
currently strategizes the direction of the Group and provides
leadership for the Board. He ensures that the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. Mr. Victor Chan is also responsible for ensuring that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and that all Directors receive adequate information,
which must be complete and reliable, in a timely manner.

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley ("Ms. Cheng”) is the Managing
Director of the Company. She is responsible for day-to-day
management and marketing activities of the Group.

Although the Company does not have a post for Chief
Executive Officer, the Board considers that there is adequate
segregation of duties within the Board to ensure a balance of
power and authority.

Code provision D.2.5

Code Provision D.2.5 provides that the issuer should have
an internal audit function. Issuers without an internal audit
function should review the need for one on an annual basis
and should disclose the reasons for the absence of such a
function.

The Company does not have an internal audit function
for the year ended 30 June 2024. Taking into account the
size and complexity of the operations of the Group, the
Company considers that the existing organisation structure
and the close supervision of the management could provide
sufficient internal control and risk management for the
Group. The audit committee of the Board regularly reviews
the effectiveness of the internal control systems and risk
management of the Group. The Board would review the
need to set up an internal audit function on an annual basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of
managing the Company’s business and affairs. Chairman
ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner.

As at 30 June 2024, the Board comprises five Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Victor Chan, Ms. Cheng, Ms. Chan
Wai Kei, Vicki (“Ms. Vicki Chan”) , Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice
("Ms. Alice Chan”) and Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing; five
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Shiu
Tin, Paul, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Sze Irons, Mr.
Cheung Chi Fai, Frank and Mr. Yam Tat Wing. All Directors
are expressly identified by categories of Executive Directors
and Independent Non-executive Directors, in all corporate
communications that disclose the names of Directors of the
Company.

Mr. Victor Chan is the brother of Ms. Vicki Chan and Ms.
Alice Chan. They are the son and daughters of Ms. Cheng.

Biographies which include relationships of Directors are
set out in pages 27 to 34 of the annual report, which
demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications among members of the Board.

A list containing the names of the Directors and their roles
and functions is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company at www.continental.com.hk.
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All Directors are given the opportunity to put items on
the agenda for regular Board meetings. All Directors have
access to advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to ensure that all
Board procedures and rules and regulations are followed.
Full minutes of Board meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and are available for inspection on reasonable
notice. Any Director may, in furtherance of his duties, take
independent professional advice where necessary at the
expense of the Company.

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction
and policies of the Group and supervising the management.
Some functions including, inter alia, the monitoring and
approval of material transactions, matters involving a conflict
of interest for a substantial shareholder of the Company
or Director, the approval of the interim and final results,
adequate resources for finance department to perform its
role in financial reporting, other disclosures to the public or
regulators and the internal control systems are reserved by
the Board and the decisions relating to such matters shall be
subject to the decision of the Board. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily operations
of the Company are delegated to the management under
the supervision of the respective Directors and the leadership
of the Chairman.

The roles of the Chairman and the chief executive officer are
not separate and the explanation in connection with such
deviation from Code provision C.2.1 is set out in the section
headed “Compliance with the Code Provisions” of this
report. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership
to the Board, effective running of the Board, ensuring all
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner and formulating business strategies. The Chairman
has ensured that all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and all Directors receive adequate,
complete and reliable information.



Annual Report 2024 “F ¥

Corporate Governance Report m {EEERIRE

REBEZE-_ZEZ_NMFA=+H81t
FE - EFg—HETLTHRAUZE
3.10(1) Q&3 10AIK Z T £
RO =RBUIFNITES B
HITESARELRESTE=H
—FA MEP—RBBEILIFNTE
FHEABEEREEXE ARG A
B BEREENE - SRR
TEEERE EMRBNEIGH
BEZBIEEHFERR - AQ
ARA ERBIIIERTEEHFH
A ETRBNEIMERE 2B E
5| IRIBIES G RBE LA T

RAFEHREY ARBBERZRBYL
FRTER HEFENEBR=D
Z— - ARABWE 2B ILIFH
TEEREBEEMRAEIBMGHAE
FIT &1 6 98 32 48 5| 1E A B0 M 7 1
RURB/REDRBILAL R
RIS A R R MR E S
ERREEEERBEETIARE
BIUIFAITEREIF - RERHER
REBMERITESFZRE RHE
VREABEER WEIBBBENNE
ZESBEBYEREMZE -E
BRERERNBEFE ZBILIIESR
B E=RR/RMELE RBX
A HERIEEEMREERLEY
e EmARREIAMGET 2B
M- BEBRENAEBXHLE
BHBENES EFRR BER
RS NREE L BB IEH
TEENEARERRR 2 BEKR

EXE

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Board at all
times complied with Rules 3.10(1), (2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
Independent Non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board; one of the Independent Non-
executive Directors is required to possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has five
Independent Non-Executive Directors, representing more
than one-third of the Board. The Company has received from
all Independent Non-Executive Directors their confirmation
of independence pursuant to the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that
they are independent. Each of Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek,
Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr. Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai,
Frank has served as Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company for more than 9 years. They continue to
demonstrate the attributes of an Independent Non-executive
Director by providing independent views and advice and
there is no evidence that their tenure have had any impact
on their independence. Taking into consideration their
independent scope of work in the past years, the Directors
consider Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Yu Shiu Tin,
Paul, Mr. Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank to be
independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rule. Having
considering their valuable knowledge and experiences in
the Group's business, the Board considers the re-election
of Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank as
Independent Non-Executive Directors are in the best interest
of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company do
not have a specific term of appointment but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s
AGM at least once every three years in accordance with
articles 115(A) and 115(D) of the Articles of Association of
the Company.

Continuous Professional Development
Under Code provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate

in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills.
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During the year ended 30 June 2024, all Directors received
regular updates and presentations on changes and
developments to the Group’s business and on the latest
developments in the laws, rules and regulations relating
to directors’ duties and responsibilities. Directors’ training
is an ongoing process. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.
Directors are requested to provide their records of training
they received to the Company Secretary for record.

Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice (appointed on 8 February 2024)
had obtained legal advice on 5 February 2024, as required
under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules from the legal advisor
of the Company and had confirmed that she understood
her obligations as a director of the Company prior to her
appointment.

BREMH
FREER
EE R
Reading
materials/
regulatory
= Directors updates*
HITEF Executive Directors
PRIZ S S Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor v
B/ N2+ Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley v
fREHE 2+ Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki v
PREE L+ (KT ZMF Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice
“ANBEZEMT) (Appointed on 8 February 2024) v
mARLE Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing v
BN ITEE Independent Non-executive Directors
RIE KA 8BS MBE- AT#+ M. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP v
PRANHE e = Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek v
MEERE ST A+ BBS AT 4t Mr. Sze Irons, BBS, JP v
RAEMEAEAE Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank v
FEREAE (R _HEF Mr. Yam Tat Wing (Re-designated as an Independent
ZANREFREREL Non-executive Director on 8 February 2024)
EMITES) v
# MEBEEHECEE TR 2&EHME # Reading materials concerning latest developments in
B HEEERENEEER M- corporate governance practices, relevant legal and regulatory

developments.
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g% Director

HIEE Brecutive Directors

REUEE Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor

g xat Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
REHLL Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vick
BEH L (fs-) Ms. Chan Mei Ke, Alice (Note 1)
BERLE Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing
BUANTES Independent Non-executive Directors
RBRFE 885 MBE K4+ Mr Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, 885, MeE,
gL Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek
HERBTE B KT4L M Sze lons, B8s, P

FEELE Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank
FEREE (M) M. Yam Tat Wing (Note 2)
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

Appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors and
officers of the Company and its subsidiaries arising out of
corporate activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Group.

BOARD OPERATION

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Board held four
Board meetings. The attendance records of each member of
the Board at Board meetings and the attendance records of
the respective members of the Board at the audit committee
meetings, nomination committee meetings, remuneration
committee meetings and the general meetings are set out
below:

BRUE/BIRY

Meetings Attended/Held
gnZEe  HMZRE  ReZEE ZBIzf
gzegd g% EE g% hREgLe
Meetings of Meeting of Meeting of 2023 Annual
Board Audit ~ Remuneration  Nomination General
Meetings Committee Committee Committee Meeting
44 - - i i
44 - N - 1N
44 - - - 111
0 - - - -
44 - - - 1N
34 112 0/ - [l
44 0N i 1l i
34 112 i - i
44 22 - 7 171
44 i - - i

Note 1. Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 8 February 2024.

Note 2:  Mr. Yam Tat Wing was re-designated from non-executive
director to independence non-executive director of the
Company and appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company on 8
February 2024.
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Directors are consulted to include matters in the agenda for
regular Board meetings.

Dates of regular Board meetings are scheduled at least
14 days in advance to provide sufficient notice to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend. For all other Board
meetings, reasonable notice will be given.

Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committee
meetings are duly kept and such minutes are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee
meetings have recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and
final versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their
comment and records respectively.

Should Directors need independent professional advice, the
Board will appoint professional advisors to render the advice.
The costs associated with such professional services will be
borne by the Company.

According to the current Board practice, any material
transaction which involves a conflict of interest for a
substantial shareholder or a Director, will be considered and
dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
Independent Non-executive Directors who have no material
interest in the transaction will be present at such Board
meeting.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference which states clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee have included the duties set out in code
provisions D.3.3(a) to (n) of the Code, with appropriate
modifications where necessary. The revised terms of
reference setting out the Audit Committee’s authority and its
duties and responsibilities are published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee
comprises five Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company and is chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank. The
Audit Committee meets with the external auditor at least
twice a year.

As set out in the terms of reference, the Audit Committee
is responsible for oversight of financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems, and for
reviewing the financial information of annual report, financial
statements and interim report. As required by code provision
D.3.7, the Audit Committee would review arrangements for
employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee would ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow up action and acting as
the key representation body for overseeing the Company’s
relations with the external auditor.

All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been
addressed by management. The work and findings of the
Audit Committee have been reported to the Board. During
the year, no issues brought to the attention of management
and the Board were of sufficient importance to require
disclosure in the Annual Report.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the Year in conjunction with the
Company’s independent auditor and was satisfied that
the consolidation financial statements for the Year were
complied with the applicable accounting standards and
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
therefore resolved to recommend the consolidation financial
statements for the Year be approved by the Board.

The Audit Committee does not have a former partner of
the Company’s existing auditor. The Audit Committee is
provided with sufficient resources, including the advice of an
independent auditor, to perform its duties.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) currently comprises one Executive
Director, Mr. Victor Chan, and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Cheung
Chi Fai, Frank and Mr. Yam Tat Wing. The chairman of
the Nomination Committee is Mr. Victor Chan. The role
and function of the Nomination Committee is to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board, make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, with
due regard to the board diversity policy, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members, select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships, assess the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, and monitor the implementation of the board
diversity policy and review such policy, as appropriate, to
ensure its effectiveness. A copy of the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The Nomination
Committee shall meet at least once a year.
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During the year ended 30 June 2024, one meeting was held
by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and assessed
the independence of all the Independent Non-executive
Directors.

Appointment and Re-election of Director

The appointment of a new Director is made on the
recommendation by the Nomination Committee or
by shareholders in a general meeting. The nomination
procedures by shareholders are published on the website of
the Company at www.continental.com.hk. All candidates
must be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules
3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independent criteria set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

Any Director who is appointed by the Board shall hold office
only until the first general meeting after their appointment
and shall be subject to re-election by shareholders in a
general meeting. All Directors, including those appointed
for a specific term, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM at least once every three years in accordance with
articles 115(A) and 115(D) of the Articles of Association
of the Company. To further enhance accountability under
code provision B.2.3, any further re-appointment of an
Independent Non-executive Director who has served the
Company’s Board for more than nine years will be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee
with specific written terms of reference as set out in code
provisions E.1.2(a) to (i) of the Code. The Remuneration
Committee, with delegated responsibility, is responsible
for annually reviewing the existing remuneration policy
including the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management whereas the Board as a
whole is responsible for determining the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors with recommendations from the
Remuneration Committee, if any. Terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee
are Independent Non-executive Directors. This Committee is
chaired by Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul. The other members are Ms.
Cheng, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek and Mr. Sze Irons. The
Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended
30 June 2024 to discuss remuneration related matters and to
review and approve the remuneration policy of the Directors
and of the Group.

The emoluments of the senior management by band for the
year ended 30 June 2024 is set out below:

A
Number of persons
Emolument bands 2024 2023
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the
Listing Rules are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources, including access to independent professional
advice, to perform its duties if considered necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should
be the collective responsibility of the Directors and their
corporate governance duties include:

(a

developing, reviewing and implementing the
Company’s policy and practices on corporate
governance;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; for re-election;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the above corporate
governance function has been performed and executed
by the Board and the Board has reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the Code.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Hui Chun Lam is an employee
of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman and his appointment and removal is subject to
the Board’s approval. The Company Secretary is accountable
to the Board for matters relating to Director’s duties, such
as by giving advice on corporate governance development
and facilitating the professional development program
of Directors. All Directors have access to the advice and
service of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board's
procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations,
are followed. During the fiscal year 2024, the Company
Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. The Company
has made specific enquiries with all of the Directors, each
of whom has confirmed that he has, throughout the year
ended 30 June 2024, complied with the required standards
set out therein.

Share Interests of Senior Management

On 22 June 2020, the Company resolved to grant the share
options to subscribe for a total of 1,200,000 shares to certain
eligible persons under the 2010 Share Option Scheme.
Among the 1,200,000 options granted, 200,000 options
were granted to a senior management of the Company.
During the year ended 30 June 2024, no options were
lapsed, exercised or cancelled (2023: Nil) in respect of share
options granted to the senior management.
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Save for the options granted, as at 30 June 2024, none of
senior management of the Company (whose biographical
details are disclosed on page 27 of this annual report) had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has through the Audit Committee reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board requires management to establish
and maintain appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Evaluation of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems covering financial,
operational and compliance controls had been done on
an on going basis. Review of internal controls on different
systems will be done on a systematic rotational basis based
on the risk assessments of the operations and controls.
The Board has confirmed that there was no significant
weakness and area of improvement have been identified and
appropriate measures have been taken. The Group currently
does not have an internal audit function for the year ended
30 June 2024 and the explanation in connection with such
deviation from code provision D.2.5 is set out in the section
handed “Compliance with the Code Provisions” of this
report.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy
("Whistleblowing Policy”) on 14 June 2023 which is available
on the website of the Company. The purpose of the
Whistleblowing Policy is to establish a mechanism to enable
staff and other members of the Group to voice concerns
in a responsible and effective manner so as to promote the
highest standards of openness, probity and accountability,
and encourage the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and
unethical behaviour. The Whistleblowing Policy shall be
review regularly by the Board to ensure its implementation
and continued effectiveness.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy (“Anti-
corruption Policy”) on 14 June 2023 which is available on the
website of the Company. The Anti-corruption Policy sets out
the specific behavioural guidelines that the Group’s personnel
and business partners must follow to combat corruption
and demonstrates the Group’s commitment to the practice
of ethical business conduct and the compliance of the anti-
corruption laws and regulations that apply to its operations.
The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed by the Board and the
Audit Committee as and when appropriate to ensure its
continued effectiveness.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Company's external auditor is BDO Limited. There has
been no change in the Company's external auditors for the
preceding three financial years. The Board agrees with the
Audit Committee’'s recommendation for the re-appointment
of BDO Limited as the Company’s independent auditor.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the remuneration paid
and payable to BDO Limited is set out as below:

2024

FET

HK$'000

FET RS Audit service 1,240
EEERESTILER BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
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The Board adopted a board diversity policy on 5 September
2013 (“Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of diversity of its Board
members. While all Board appointments will continue to
be made on meritocracy, the Company will ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
Board will consider setting measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board at an appropriate time.
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The Nomination Committee monitors the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and the progress on achieving
those measurable objectives and will review the Board
Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure its continuing
effectiveness. Such policy is available on the website of the
Company.

The Group is committed to maintain diversity (including
gender diversity) across all levels of the Group. The
Group ensures fair employment practices and offer equal
employment opportunities to recruit, promote and deploy
employees based on their skillset, abilities and how they
fit the job requirements and future development of our
businesses. As at 30 June 2024, the Board has three female
Directors out of ten Directors (approximately 30%). The
ratio of female to male in the workforce of the Group is
approximately 1 to 1.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of effective
communication with the shareholders and investors.
The Company’s AGM is one of the principal channels of
communication between the Board and its shareholders.
The Group encourages its Shareholders to attend and
participate in AGM to ensure a high level of accountability
and to keep Shareholders informed of the Group's strategy
and goals. The Company arranges for the notice for AGM
to be sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting. It has been the practice, the Chairman
of the Board and the Chairmen of the Board Committees,
together with the external auditor, shall attend the AGM
to answer questions of shareholders. Apart from the
direct interaction with the shareholders at the AGM,
the Company has established different communication
channels with its shareholders. We maintain a corporate
website www.continental.com.hk to publish our final and
interim results announcements, financial reports, public
announcements and other relevant shareholder information.
The announcements and the Articles of Association of
the Company are published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Board always ensures that shareholders’ and investors’
views are heard and understood, and welcomes their
questions and concerns relating to the Group’s management
and governance. Shareholders and investors may also at
any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing to the Company Secretary by post or by email
and contact information also set as below procedures for
enquiries to the Board.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings and Directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their written requests,
proposals, enquiries and concerns to the Company for
the attention of Chairman of the Board or the Company
Secretary whose contact details are:

The Company Secretary
Continental Holdings Limited
Flats M & N, 1st Floor

Kaiser Estate, Phase |ll

11 Hok Yuen Street

Hunghom, Kowloon

Hong Kong

E-mail: info@continental.com.hk
Tel no.: (852) 2363 8882

Fax no.: (852) 2765 7516

Procedures by which Shareholders may Convene a Special
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
shareholders of the Company representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights may call for an extraordinary general
meeting and put forward agenda items by sending a
written request to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office. Shareholders of the Company representing
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
who have a right to vote or at least 50 members who have a
right to vote on the resolution of the annual general meeting
to which the requests relate, may put forward proposal
for consideration at a general meeting of the Company by
sending a written request to the Company Secretary at the
Company's registered office. Procedures on how shareholders
can propose a person for election as a Director are available
at the Company’s website for shareholders’ information.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to provide stable and sustainable
returns to the shareholders. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in deciding whether
to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount. Under the Dividend Policy, the Board shall, where
appropriate, take into account, among others, the following
factors (i) the Group's overall results of operation, financial
condition, expected working capital requirements and capital
expenditure requirements, liquidity position and future
expansions plans; (i) the amount of retained profits and
distributable reserves of the Company; (iii) general economic
conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the
Group; (iv) interim dividend paid, if any; (v) interests of the
Shareholders; (vi) statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
(vii) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from
time to time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains a website at http/Amww.continental.com.hk
where information and updates on the Company's business
developments and operations, list of directors and their role
and function, constitutional documents, terms of reference
of the Board committees, procedures for nomination of
directors for election, announcements, circulars and reports
released to the Stock Exchange and other information are
posted. Information on the Company's website will be
updated from time to time. Full text of the Anti-Corruption
Policy, and Whistleblowing Policy are also available on the
Company’s website (http://www.continental.com.hk).
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Constitutional Document

There were no significant changes in the Company’s
Articles of Association during the year. The full text of
the Articles of Association is available on the websites of
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(http:/Awww.continental.com.hk).

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
the year ended 30 June 2024.

GENERAL

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing
the Group's financial statements for each financial period
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2024, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. The responsibilities of
the auditor with respect to the financial reporting are set
out in the Independent Auditor's Report on page 73 of this
annual report.



Directors’ Report m EE 2%}

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z-_NFRA=THIFE

EEMAREAKEHE—_T N
FRNAZTALFEZEZERE
BREEREE Y H®REK -

TERH
AR ZEBERR/ILEER-

TEMBRARZ EEXBH#HIIN
BMBHmRMEL+ =

%
=
AR

MABRE RO

AREFEHE-_ZE_-_MNEA=1H
IEFEHBRERAEERZA
ZHITEARN - #AI R B84 E E 5266
BRiREMB®mEA-

Hi l%\

EESTERRNEZ T _NF
NA=ZTHIEFEE Z IS -

ESE)

ARz ¥BEBEMAEEFRNE
R 25w Mo A K B 245 I B
BB E KA ZEH N A F IR
FTEEF26BE 2ERBMEN-

FTERRREAEES

1. HEERERERN TSR

ARKENREAREEZHRE
i MERE R EBRIRY
HEEEOMBENZRE
TRAIRER B AN SR 2 35 E R
K SRHE o NSRBI b TG K
BRIMELEIEEEREH
BoRENARTERARE
Z Wt e b S EIEIRIE A] BE
TEUREXRB CEERA 1
ME STITRA BRNER
PXANZE o

The Directors are pleased to present their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s financial performance for the year ended 30
June 2024 and the financial position of the Group at that
date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 84 to 266.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the
material factors underlying its results and financial position
are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 7 to 26 of
this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

1. Economic climate and individual market performance

As jewellery and diamonds are luxury consumer
products, the impact of global financial and economic
conditions on consumer confidence and purchasing
power would affect sales and results of the Group.
The economic growth or decline in our geographical
markets that affected consumer spending on jewellery
would also affect the revenue of the Group. In
addition, economic environment would affect the
production cost of jewellery business such as rent,
labour cost, packaging and transportation cost etc.
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In property side, economic climate directly affects
the value of properties and investors' interest in
our property projects and rental income. Rising
construction costs, labour costs, material prices and
interest rate will affect the budget and the timing for
completion of the property projects.

The Group’s mining business requires substantial
investment and may not achieve expected financial
results. The fluctuation in price of mineral ores may
affect prospects of the investments and impairment
of the mining business may affect the valuation of
mining assets.

Market risk

The Group is exposed to certain market risks such
as interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
details are set out in note 48.2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans
with floating interest rates. As at 30 June 2024, it
is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, with all other variables
remaining constant, net loss for the year would have
increased/decreased and retained profits decreased/
increased by approximately HK$7.5 million.
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FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The financial key performance indicators are analysed as

below:
2024 2023 +(-)
FET FET &
HK$'000 HK$'000 Change
MHEE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
= Turnover 360,402 455,608 -20.9%
HEEKAR Cost of Sales (403,159) (389,355) 3.5%
(E8)/EH Gross (loss)/Profit (42,757) 66,253 -164.5%
(EBXR)/EFE %) Gross (loss)/profit margin (%) -11.9% 145%  -264ppEDH
AREERAERER Loss attributable to owners of
the Company (257,302) (98,286) 161.8%
FEEE(%) Net loss margin (%) -711.4% -216%  -49.8ppE N
MERFIS RATGHIAIEE (TLBIT)) BT (241,724) (68,627) 252.2%
LBITEL (%) LBIT margin (%) -67.1% -15.1% S20pE D
488 FE 015 (%) Return on total assets (%) -7.2% -1.8% -5.3%
TEMBRE KEY FINANCIAL INDICATOR
Be RETHES Cash and bank balances 49,156 90,695 -45.8%
Y (AE) BEFE Net current (liabilities)/assets (223,783) 4,904 -4,663.3%
BEE Total assets 3,366,905 3,724,643 9.6%
LEE Total liabilities 1,386,246 1,438,710 -3.6%
RITER Bank loans 1,036,236 1,058,377 -2.1%
AREHE AEA#ER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 1,817,479 2,079,737 -12.6%
REL K (R X) Quick ratio (Cash ratio) 0.05 0.09 -44%
MENLE (£2) Current ratio (times) 0.78 1.00 22%
BEEARLE%) Gearing ratio (%) 36.19% 3215%  4.04ppE D
R B 22 [0 %R (%) Return on shareholders’ equity (%) -14.2% -4.7% -9.4ppE &
FREXREE (OBI) Basic loss per share (HK cents) (37.67) (14.39) 161.8%
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

1.

Environmental Protection

The Group promotes environmental protection by
raising the employees’ awareness of resources saving
and efficient use of energy. In recent years, the
Group has implemented several policies to encourage
employees for saving energy and paper. All these
policies aim at reducing resources and saving costs
which are beneficial to the environment and meet the
commercial goals of the Group.

Operating Practices

The Group upholds high standards of operating
practices and complies with stringent jewellery
manufacturing standards. One of the subsidiaries
of the Company is a certified member of the
Responsible Jewellery Council (“RJC™). RIC is a not-
for-profit organization which promotes responsible
ethical, social and environmental practices in respect
of human rights throughout the Diamond, Gold
and Platinum Group Metals jewellery supply chain.
As a certified member of the RIC, the subsidiary
had undergone independent, third party auditing
to show our business practices at all facilities within
the certification scope conform to RJC's Code of
Practices for business ethics, labour rights and working
conditions, social and environmental performance.
The Group has stringent requirements to maintain
high levels of quality control and responsible business
practices.

For further information about the environment
policies and performance of the Company during
the year, please refer to the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (“ESG Report”) prepared in
accordance with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules. The
ESG Report is available on the Company’s website at
www.continental.com.hk and the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are important assets and
provides competitive remuneration packages to attract and
retain employees. The management regularly reviews the
Group's remuneration of its employees and ensures that it is
up to prevailing market standard.

The Group values mutually-beneficial and long-standing
relationships with its suppliers and customers. The Group
aims at delivering high quality products to its customers and
developing mutual trust with its suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities
during the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2024, the Company's reserves available
for distribution amounted to HK$932,902,000 (2023:
HK$1,182,197,000).

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
268.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totaling HK$256,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 27.8% of the total sales for the
year and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 6.4%. The largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers accounted for 30.5% and 65.5%, respectively, of
the Group's total purchases for the year.

As far as the Directors of the Company are aware, neither
the Directors, their respective associates nor any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the

date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor (Chairman)
Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice

(appointed on 8 February 2024)

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (Managing Director)
Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki
Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP

Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek

Mr. Sze Irons, BBS, JP

Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank

Mr. Yam Tat Wing
(re-designated as Independent Non-executive Director
on 8 February 2024)
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In accordance with Articles 109, 115(A), 115(B) and 115(D)
of the Articles of Association, Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor, Ms.
Chan Mei Kei, Alice, Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul and Mr. Cheung
Chi Fai, Frank shall retire from office by rotation and all of
them are eligible for re-election at the AGM.

Each of the five Independent Non-executive Directors has
submitted written confirmation in respect of the factors
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules concerning his
independence. The Board considers each of the five
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of all directors who have served on the boards of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are available on the website of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 27 to
34 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for directors’ and senior management’s liabilities in respect
of legal actions against its directors and senior management
arising from corporate activities. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the directors as
required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) when the Directors'’
Report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set
out on pages 19 to 24 and in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B OF THE
LISTING RULES

1. With effect from 8 February 2024,

(i) Ms. Chan Mei Kei, Alice was appointed as an
executive director of the Company; and

(ii) Mr. Yam Tat Wing was re-designated from
non-executive director to independence
non-executive director of the Company
and appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company.

2. Mr. Sze Irons, an independent non-executive director
of the Company, was resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Jianzhong Construction
Development Limited (Stock Code: 589) and ST
International Holdings Company Limited (now known
as WebX International Holdings Company Limited)
(Stock Code: 8521) with effect from 21 November
2023 and 5 December 2023 respectively.
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MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report and
in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company’s holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company or an entity connected with a director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during or at the end of the financial year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the interests
of directors of the Company in businesses which might
compete with the Group during the year ended 30 June
2024 and as at 30 June 2024 were as follows:

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley, a Director of the Company, has
held interest in companies engaged in the same businesses
of property investments in Hong Kong and gold mining
activities in Indonesia. Although some of the businesses
carried out by these companies are similar to those of
the Group, they are of different scale and/or at different
locations. Therefore, the Board is of the view that the
businesses of those companies did not compete with the
businesses of the Group. The transfer of such interest and
directorship is in legal proceeding.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or in existence
during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of
Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were
set out below:
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BEEREM - HEARG RESS DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
ZHERER (&) SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(continued)
1. NG o 1. Interests in the Company
. YN
FARZEBRYE (BHEHE) Rt
Number of ordinary shares of the Company BAT M
(after Share Consolidation) Percentage of
BAES AL ¥ i the Company's
Personal Corporate Underlying @it issued share
BEEpg Name of Directors interest interest interest Total capital
REL ([REE]) Chan Wai Lap, Victor 270,000 - 2,000,000 2,270,000 033%
("Mr. Victor Chan") (M=) (Note 2)
g (18xL]) Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley - 506,339,522 - 50633952 74.12%
("Ms. Cheng") (Fit5E—) (Note 1)
SE(MREHRL]) Chan WaiKei, Vicki - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.29%
("Ms. Vicki Chan") (FH3E=) (Note 2)
it Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 20,000 - - 20,000 0.003%
TEg Yam Tat Wing 240,000 - 2,000,000 2,240,000 0.33%

(F15E=) (Note 2)

R Wong Edward Gwon-hing - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.44%
(MfEE=) (Note 2)
Mag— ZSEah B+ B Note 1: Such interests are held by Tamar Investments Group
B70% 2 A A Tamar Limited, which is a company owned as to 70% by Ms.
Investments Group Limited Cheng. Ms. Cheng and Mr. Victor Chan are directors
B B+ RR%ESE of Tamar Investments Group Limited.

¥ ATamar Investments
Group LimitedZ &% ©

M= ZEEREERERE Note 2: These interests represented the interests in underlying
&R 2 2 NN EHERE AR shares of the Company in respect of share options
DR o granted to the Directors.
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2. REBEE 2R

Tamar Investments Group

Limited
BESps Name of Directors
RET Chan Wai Lap, Victor
i Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
REH Chan Wai Kei, Vicki
RxH Chan Mei Kei, Alice

B EXFTEEIN RREBH-
i%&ﬁ“REZW%AMﬁmﬁ

ARk AR AR R A B 2 Bk (D - 4]
RO RESFTHEEALALRAR
LB 5 M HE RO EXVEL E35214%
TEZ%%%%&@F@ﬁFWﬁ

STe $ KB P 2 AR AT &
)\ ENICE Tﬂzﬁﬁm@é‘ A -

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

2. Interests in associated corporation

Tamar Investments Group Limited

)

g#f

BARAR

AREEZEERYA Percentage

Number of ordinary shares of the associated corporation of the issued
AN NAER HRER share capital of
Personal Corporate Underlying @5t the associated
interest interest interest Total corporation
16 - - 16 16%

70 - - 70 70%

7 - - 7 7%

7 - - 7 7%

Except as disclosed above, as at the reporting date, none of
the Directors or their respective associates had any personal,
family, corporate or other interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, no time during the year were the rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age to acquire such rights in any other corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2024, no person, other than Mr. Victor
Chan, Ms. Cheng, Ms. Vicki Chan and Ms. Chan Mei Kei,
Alice, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures” above, had registered an interest in 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company that was required
to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected party transactions, which also
constituted as related party transactions are set out in note
45 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public as at the date of this report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are no other significant event after the reporting
period and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to re-appoint the auditor, BDO Limited.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 September 2024
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Tel : +852 2218 8288 25t Floor Wing On Centre
Fax: +852 2815 2239 111 Connaught Road Central
www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong

EEE 1 +852 2218 8288 BB
{2E : +852 2815 2239 FesEh11188
www.bdo.com.hk FkZ2rhi254&

TO THE MEMBERS OF CONTINENTAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 266, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
30 June 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment assessment of mining right and related non-financial
assets

(Refer to notes 3.8, 3.9, 3.11, 3.13, 4, 14, 15 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements)

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had carrying amounts (before
current year's reversal of impairment) in relation to mining right
and non-financial assets of approximately HK$474.6 million and
HK$28.5 million respectively relating to one of the cash-generating
units within the mining operation segment (the “Mining CGU II”).

Management has performed an impairment assessment in
accordance with the Group's accounting policies and recognised
reversal of impairment losses of mining right and property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$9.4 million and HK$0.17
million respectively for the year ended 30 June 2024. Management
engaged an independent valuation firm to estimate the recoverable
amount of the Mining CGU Il using market approach with reference
to recent comparable transactions undertaken in the mining
industry.

We identified the impairment assessment of mining right and
related non-financial assets as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and because
the selection of recent comparable transactions involve significant
judgement and estimates with respect to the underlying market
approach.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
of mining right and non-financial assets attributable to the Mining
CGU II'included:

- evaluating the independent valuation firm's competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin
the fair value estimation;

- engaging an auditor's expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimations
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the fair value estimation; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.



Independent Auditor’s Report m Y83 % 2Tk

HARELSEE (&)

REYEIGE
(ZHEEHBEHRXN E3.12 AR
1x)

R-ZZE-_MFEA=+H EBE&H
HEYERIRE < %8 /41,990,000,000
PBTT o 1 B W) S AV 1A TR R IR A AN R T
B HERATESE mEmaEE
HRBRER - RNEE_T_MF A
=t+HLFE: BRECREEWE

RN FE E51887,900,00058 7T ° R &
MR GBS RERHE KRG W2
ZHFERETE . BESEFERKRE
ERMEESEELEOE (ER) BT
BEMEME - BRI IES REXHE
RiEFEBnERERERY: &
EECEAB I EMTETYEM
@o

HREREMENBELGEEMBERRY
EEX BEAEGLAEBER YA
EHERAE - MRMGREDE Db
BERpSRAREZEE-

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of investment properties
(Refer to notes 3.12, 4 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The carrying amounts of the Group's investment properties at
30 June 2024 was HK$1,990 million. Investment properties are
measured at cost on initial recognition, and thereafter are carried
at fair value, with any changes therein recognised in profit or loss.
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group recognised a fair
value loss on its investment properties of HK$87.9 million. The
valuation of investment properties involves significant judgement
and estimates and is underpinned by a number of key assumptions.
The Group carries out a valuation of its investment properties by
using income capitalisation method or direct comparison method,
as appropriate. To assist management in this area which involves
significant judgements and estimates, the Group engaged an
independent valuation firm to perform the property valuation.

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and because the valuation of investment properties can
be inherently subjective and requires significant judgement.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties
included:

- evaluating the independent valuation firm's competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin
the fair value estimation;

- engaging an auditor's expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the fair value estimation; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Assessment of the net realisable value of the properties under
development and properties for sale

(Refer to notes 3.15, 4 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements)

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had carrying amounts of properties
under development and properties for sale of approximately
HK$485 million.

Management has performed a net realisable value (“NRV")
assessment of the properties under development and properties
for sale in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies and
recognised a write-down of the properties under development
and properties for sale of approximately HK$141 million for the
year ended 30 June 2024. The NRV assessment involves significant
judgement and estimates and is underpinned by a number of
key assumptions including determining open market value and/
or the market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties
in the same locations and conditions and the estimated costs to
completion. To assist management in this area which involves
significant judgements and estimates, the Group engaged an
independent valuation firm to perform the NRV assessment for
properties under development and certain properties for sale.

We identified the NRV assessment of properties under development
and properties for sale as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and because
the NRV assessment of properties under development and
properties for sale can be inherently subjective and requires
significant judgement.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to the NRV assessment of properties
under development and properties for sale included:

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin
the NRV assessment;

- evaluating the independent valuation firm's competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- engaging an auditor's expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the NRV assessment; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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Other Information in the Annual Report (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lui Chi Kin
Practising Certificate Number P06162

Hong Kong, 25 September 2024
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For the year ended 30 June 2024
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2024 2023
k=3 F#T FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
W & Revenue 6 360,402 455,608
5 AR Cost of sales (403,159) (389,355)
E(#8) 7 Gross (loss)/profit (42,757) 66,253
HE Ko KA Selling and distribution costs (17,880) (20,639)
1TERE R Administrative expenses (109,444) (115,133)
HMUg A - HbUezs M2 E538  Other income, other gains and losses,
FRR net 8,557 7,811
B 5 UGB R E M FEUERTE Reversal of impairment loss on
prd KI=N 3= A EIE:R trade receivables and

other receivables, net 642 4,785
S EYENTEZED Change in fair value of investment

properties 16 (87,938) (27,797)
FREE 2 R EE 18 o Reversal of impairment loss on

mining right 20 9,406 22,728
BT A AN Finance costs 7 (52,425) (34,281)
FEliE & e FEER Share of results of joint ventures (1) )
i NI Share of results of associates (2,309) (6,633)
MRETEH IS Loss before income tax 8 (294,149) (102,908)
FrE B> Income tax expense 9 (6,165) (12,501)
FHER Loss for the year (300,314) (115,409)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income » Z7& 155 Kk 2 ElER

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z-_NFRA=THILFE

2024 2023
k=3 F#ET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
Hitt = EU s R HIE Other comprehensive income,
net of tax
HEAEMNEZEEZEZ Items that may be subsequently
HE: reclassified to profit or loss:
IAFER AHMEEWEZ 2 Change in fair value of debt
B TAAFEZE instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 153 (373)
RHEEAAFEF AEMEE Reclassified to profit or loss upon
Wamz BRI ARES  disposal of debt financial
NEEEEE instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income - 460
BMEBINEB ELZR Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations (2,502) (30,577)
HELAGEHFN»EEHEFEZ  Items that will not be
EHR: subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss:
A EFFAHEMEE WS 2 Change in fair value of equity
BATAEAFEZE instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (2,611) (872)
FRNHEMEEIE  IRFE  Other comprehensive income for
the year, net of tax (4,960) (31,362)
FRNEEWEHAE Total comprehensive income for
the year (305,274) (146,771)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z_MFEA=1THILFE

LA

Sak 2 ElER

2024 2023
k23 F#ET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FEILFE N : Loss for the year attributable to:
ZIN/NETE Z =N Owners of the Company (257,302) (98,286)
FE 12 il 4 2 Non-controlling interests (43,012) (17,123)
(300,314) (115,409)
B ENEEW SR Total comprehensive income for
the year attributable to:
KAREE A Owners of the Company (262,258) (129,766)
FE 12 il 4 2 Non-controlling interests (43,016) (17,005)
(305,274) (146,771)
Bl JENL
HK cents HK cents
AARHEA ANELEE ZEM Loss per share for loss
i} attributable to the owners of
the Company 11
— &K — Basic (37.67) (14.39)
—#E — Diluted (37.67) (14.39)
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2024 2023
Hiat F#T FEIT
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
BEERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current assets
M3 U MR Property, plant and equipment 14 25,688 27,072
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 32,445 38,295
wEMZE Investment properties 16 1,990,400 2,078,100
B Goodwill 17 = 8,124
B EE Intangible assets 18 7,304 8,291
g Mining right 20 484,054 477,531
P RN - e Interests in associates 21 21,253 23,562
REEPEER Interests in joint ventures 22 1,038 1,039
AT EFAHMEFWESZ Financial assets at fair value through
BREE other comprehensive income 23 22,003 24,492
ARAFEFAEZE 228 EE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 27 10,067 10,048
EIEFLIBE B Deferred tax assets 37 840 1,023
2,595,092 2,697,577
MENEE Current assets
BROMERSEYE Properties under development and
properties for sales 24 485,123 657,777
T8 Inventories 25 155,681 183,173
2 2 EWGRIA Trade receivables 26 61,399 64,591
828 - &i&ﬁﬁﬂﬁl& Prepayments, deposits and other
%K T8 receivables 17,933 15,262
ATEHALBEE Financial assets at fair value through
H&/\Z% LA E other comprehensive income 23 = 2,308
AT EFABRmERIEE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 27 2,521 6,854
REHAA=@ALEZ Time deposit with original maturities
TEHATE 3K over three months 28 = 6,406
BehkBeE5 Cash and cash equivalents 29 49,156 90,695
771,813 1,027,066
REAE Current liabilities
B 2 N IR Trade payables 30 (59,770) (75,679)
H b fE 218 2 pE 5+ 2 R Other payables and accruals 30 (37,714) (71,040)
SHBE Contract liabilities 31 (343) (354)
RITE K Bank loans 32 (882,506) (854,387)
HEEE Lease liabilities 33 (4,923) (4,179)
AR R IR 2 B3R Loan from a controlling shareholder 36 = (4,306)
XNl NGIE ] Due to related companies 35 (7,379) (8,859)
FEftE ERRNE Due to joint ventures 22 (1,036) (1,036)
AT EFAEZ 2SR A[E Finandal liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 27 - (18)
TIB R Provision for tax (1,925) (2,304)
(995,596) (1,022,162)
nE(al) EEZHE Net current (liabilities)/assets (223,783) 4,904
WEEHTBER Total assets less current liabilities 2,371,309 2,702,481
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As at 30 June 2024
RZTZWFAA=1+AH

2024 2023
Hiat FET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
RITERK Bank loans 32 (153,730) (203,990)
HEAE Lease liabilities 33 (7,834) (12,111)
FEAS FEFE ) ﬁéf\ﬁ?ﬁ( Due to non-controlling interests 34 (80,670) (63,529)
FE{S BB A R A Due to related companies 35 (30,047) (27,987)
128 i S R AR A Zf%m Loan from a controlling shareholder 36 (4,280)
EEMIE B & Deferred tax liabilities 37 (114,089) (108,931)
(390,650) (416,548)
BEFE Net assets 1,980,659 2,285,933
= EQUITY
N Share capital 38 560,673 560,673
(e Reserves 39 1,256,806 1,519,064
AAFHE ANEGES Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company 1,817,479 2,079,737
FE 2l #E I Non-controlling interests 163,180 206,196
WA Total equity 1,980,659 2,285,933
REREEZ On behalf of the Board
R 12 3L Chan Wai Lap, Victor
EZE Director
R /)8 5 Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
EZ Director
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2024 2023
HtaF F#ET FAT
Notes HKS$'000 HK$°000
RETFHHERE Cash flows from operating
activities
B PTSHE Al & 18 Loss before income tax (294,149) (102,908)
ERTIERFE: Adjustments for:
BT A AN Finance costs 52,425 34,281
EhaEEEE Share of results of joint ventures 1 2
JE{LEEE N R ¥ELE Share of results of associates 2,309 6,633
M- BERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 4,027 3,905
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,020 5,902
PR 2 R E R 1E B E Reversal of impairment loss on
mining right (9,406) (22,728)
B EEZREBRE Impairment loss on intangible
assets 965 -
EEZREEE Impairment loss on goodwill 8,124 =
ERREE RERBE Impairment loss on right-of-use
assets 717 =
YE B NGRS ZREEE  Net impairment loss/(reversal of
PR CREEERE) impairment loss) on property,
plant and equipment 6 (419)
FErRE Provision for inventories 1,566 507
Z SRR R E A EYGIE  Reversal of impairment loss on
R B E R B F R trade receivables and other
receivables, net (642) (4,785)
MORZERPYENEFEYWZE  Write down of properties under
development and properties for
sale 141,031 49,859
i EE HL i B A5 R IE Write off of other payables (7,747) =
LEWE- F};E%& 515 (Gain)/loss on disposal of property,
2 (W) /B8 plant and equipment (34) 70
HEAAFEFAEMET  Loss on disposal of debt
Wz EemT EZEE  instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income - 460
KREMERNTEZE Change in fair value of investment
properties 87,938 27,797
NFEFAEBZRZEREE  Fair value loss on financial assets at
Z A {EEE fair value through profit or loss 351 2,299
REIRINE B Unrealised foreign exchange loss 1,261 1,648
BLFE R —[E R EsE A Rl 508 Gain on debt modification on
BN ETE 2 Y as amounts due to a related
company (1,289) (1,293)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z_MFEA=1THILFE

2024 2023
i3 F#ET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
EEESEHNLE Operating (loss)/profit before
(BE18) i F working capital changes (6,526) 1,230
BRPYERSEMSE Decrease/(Increase) in properties
L (3gn) under development and properties
for sale 44,671 (64,390)
FERD Decrease in inventories 25,926 25,401
B 5 W FIR R Decrease in trade receivables 3,790 47,546
TARTFRIE ~ 1= K H Ath FE UL Increase in prepayments, deposits and
FRIRIE AN other receivables (2,671) (2,004)
AR EFGFABRZ Decrease/(Increase) in financial assets
TRIEENEE and liabilities at fair value through
w () profit or loss 3,961 (4,436)
B 5 K E A FE R FRIE A K Decrease in trade and other payables
FE=t & R and accruals (41,488) (17,792)
AHEECRD), /N (Decrease)/Increase in contract
liabilities (11) 86
BERE/ (RA)ZHE Cash generated from/(used in)
operations 27,652 (14,359)
[EENEESS Interest paid (63,373) (44,064)
2T TSR Income tax paid (578) (165)
BEEBTAZHE £ FH Net cash used in operating
activities (36,299) (58,588)
BREEFHHERE Cash flows from investing
activities
NEWE - BB N Additions to property, plant and
equipment (2,946) (2,405)
NBEREYE Additions to investment properties (238) (11,990)
S AR EF AEA Proceeds from disposal of financial
EHWGZ E@BEE assets at fair value through other
Z TS0 comprehensive income 2,342 6,585
HEMZE - HE RE#E L Proceeds from disposal of properties,
Fr8 kI8 plant and equipment 193 =
FEHEREZHA A=A L  Placement of time deposits with
ZTE BT original maturities over three
months - (6,406)
RIRIHAA=M@EALE  Withdrawal of time deposits with
ZEBFER original maturities over three
months 6,406 -
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2024 2023
HtaF FET FET
Notes HKS$'000 HK$°000
BREZHHE - (BFH)Z Net cash generated from/(used in)
HEFHE investing activities 5,757 (14,216)
MEFHHRERE Cash flow from financing
activities 47
B E Dividend paid = (13,662)
FEPE 2 B K Advance from non-controlling
interests 17,141 7,254
BERASEEEBEAREESHE Repayment of principal and interest
amount of lease liabilities (5,286) (5,303)
FIBRITER New bank loans 247,513 1,145,015
A 7T 25K Advance from a related party 781 =
EERTEXR Repayment of bank loans (269,579) (1,114,018)
MEEE (FTH) gz Net cash (used in)/generated from
BEFHE financing activities (9,430) 19,286
RERREEHBLVER Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents (39,972) (53,518)
FMZRERBEEH Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 90,695 144,008
SNEERBH L EFH Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net (1,567) 205
ERZAERBEEH Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 49,156 90,695
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For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z-_NFRA=THIFE

K0TREARRES
Fquity attibutable to the owners of the Compeny
HATE
HALH
Rt ERERE TUARER B izl ] HARE EXROBRE REEGER REAGER REEH R 5]
Fair value
Share Non- Capial Eichange Assets through other Non-
Share opton  distibutable Other Specdl  contrbuton fluctuation revaugion  comprehensive: Retaned contoling
aptdl resene fesene fesene fesene Tesene fesene fesene  ncome resene proft Total inetests
i FEr 7Hr FEr FET FET i FEr A 7Hr FEr

HSow S0 S0 S0 o S0 HSow Hsom S0 S0 Hsow S0 S0

WoBZZELR-A7ER Balance as at 1 July 2022 560,673 6,609 213606 (7.3%) 2103 28567 (509) 3,385 (3,0%6) 1330389 203165 0.0 2446366
ZE-CERERE (i) 2022 Finaldhidend (note 10) - - - - - - - - - (13662 (13662) - (13662
HEEAZRS Tiansacions with owners - - - - - - - - - (13662) (13662) - (13662)
ENER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - (98,286) (98,286 (1713 (115,409)
Eh2Eka: Other comprehensive ncome:
BEENER BN ER xchange difetences o tensaionof

foregn operations - - - - - - (306%) - - - (30695) 118 (30577)
WATEA LB EREL Changes in fairvalue of fiencil assetsat

SHEENTE.RY far vl through other comprefensie
income - - - - - - - - 1.245) - (1.45) - (1.245)

MEENAFEABREREL  Recassied toprofit o loss upon diposd
[EREBTARENABZEE of debtfnandalinstument o fa
value through other comprehensive

income. = = = = = = = = 460 = 40 = 40
FneERELR Total comprehensive income
for the year = = = = = = (30699) = (789) (98.286) (129,766) (17,005) (1d6711)

Transfer with equity unon disposal of
BRIARERES quly nsruments at air value through
ofher comprefiensive income - - - - - - - - B 3 - - -

RZEZZERRZTAZER Balance at 30 June 2023 560673 6,603 113606 (139" (2103 867 (31204 36,38 (Bour  12gMe 2073 206,1% 20893
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For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z-_NMFRA=THILFE

KRAREARERE
Equity attributable to the owners o the Company
IWATE
AR
B BRERE TUAREE LhER HHRE HERE  ERNORE EEEGEE 2ENERA REEH g FEsER Ea4E
Fair value
Share Non- Capital Exchange Assets  through other Non-
Share option ~ distrbutable: Other Specal  contnbution  fluctuation  revaluation ~ comprehensive Retained controling Total
capital Teserve reserve resenve Teserve reserve reserve Teserve  income reserve profits Total interests eqity
FEL FEi k23 7L FEL FEr 7L 7L FEi bz 7L FEi Fér
HKS000 HKS 000 HKS0no HS00 HKS 000 HKSono HES00 HKS00 S0 HKS000 HKS00 HKS 000 HSono
RIFZZELA-RZER Balance s at 1 July 203 560673 6,609 273,606 (1:3%) (2103) 2,567 (31,204) 36,385 (3844) 1.218,444 2019731 206,1% 2285933
BREERAAN (WHET) Lapsed ofshare opton upon expiy
(note 40) (1409) - - - - 1409 -
BEEAIRS Transactons with onners (1409) - = = = 1409 =
EnER Loss forthe year - - - - - o ) (B30r) (003t
LdERE: Other comprehensive income:
BERNEHEN 2R Eichange dferences on transaton o
foregn operations - = o (24%8) - - (24%8) ® (2500)
Changesin far value of fnancl asses at
fair value through other comprehensie
income - - - - (2458) (2458) - (2458)
EReERALE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - (24%8) - (2458) (257,302) (262258) (43,016) (305.274)
RIFZMERAZTAZER Balance at 30 June 2024 560673 52004 273,606 (7.3%)* (2103 8,567 (33700 36,385 (6302)* 92551 1817419 163,180 1,980,659

* ZEHERE ?ﬁ%ﬁéﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁi/%ﬁt?

.
2IEE

— =% :1,519,064,000/ 7T ) °

1#1%1,256,806,0007% 7T ( =

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$1,256,806,000 (2023: HK$1,519,064,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z_MFEA=1THILFE

— —RRER 1. GENERAL INFORMATION
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Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in Hong
Kong. The address of the Company’s registered office and
principal place of business is Flats M & N, 1st Floor, Kaiser
Estate, Phase Ill, 11 Hok Yuen Street, Hunghom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the following

activities:

o Design, manufacturing, marketing and trading
of fine jewellery and diamonds (the “Jewellery
Business”)

o Property investment and development

o Mining operation

° Investment

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s ultimate
holding company is Tamar Investments Group Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z-_NFRA=THILFE

— —iRER @ 1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

HIINESLBE £ 2668 ZirE The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to
M mERDIRBESSHMAE 266 have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
M2 BB E LR (ST Financial Reporting Standards (‘"HKFRSs") which collective
BEEMEER BB RE terms include all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
A -BESHENRRE) R Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
BB R AHEGIRE - 476 B 15T and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
RINE R R T RE 5 T AR Al Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and the Hong
(TEm#AB)HEEBEAIKRE Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
FIHo statements also include applicable disclosures required by

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Z - RNEBUBHREER 2. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs

(a) BRAFEI RIS RBEH (@) Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs —
BHEEA -G _= effective 1 July 2023

FLA-—BABEXN

REBERMNATEHES The Group has adopted the following new and
SR AGRMm  EHEE revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are
EBHARN_T_=F+ relevant to its operations and effective for annual
RA—Bs®EEFRBZFE periods beginning on or after 1 July 2023.

HAR AR ¥ R] (B RT
BRI RELER

EREHEAZINR  EHURIKE Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
BREHREE HKFRS Practice Statement 2
EBREDS
(37)
BREEAESE eI Amendments to HKAS 8 Definiton of Accounting Estimates
(#37)
BREN RN HE-RJEAR Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferted Tax relatedt to Assets and
(E:1) BENBRER Liabiltes arising from a Single
METHE Transaction
EREBRSEN  RRAD HKFRS 17 and related amendments Insurance Contracts
SRR
FRANLA ERET REIERT & The adoption of the above new and amended
VB SR 2RI (MEER AN HKFRSs did not have any significant impact on the
TXFRril 2 BEEFTAER Group's results, financial position and accounting
FIRE BT FwELE policies except for the adoption of Amendments to
RIERREFE25% (1B5]) HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure
[ZETBER 2 5E ] BRIN) of Accounting Policies” which are discussed below.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(a)

Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs —
effective 1 July 2023 (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The amendments require entities to disclose material
accounting policy information and provide guidance
on applying the concept of materiality to accounting
policies disclosure. The impacts on the Group's
accounting policy disclosure resulted in removal or
reduction of certain immaterial accounting policies.
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ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective

The following new and revised HKFRSs, potentially

relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial

statements, have been issued, but are not yet

effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply

these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

HK Interpretation 5 (Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture’

Classfication of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)'*

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)’

Presentation of Financial Statement - Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand Clause’

Supplier Finance Arrangements”

Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Finandil Instruments’

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements’

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures”
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2. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (continued)

Notes:

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2026

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027

9 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments,

the effective date of the 2020 Amendments was
deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

G No mandatory effective date yet determined by
available for adoption
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where
there is a sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. When
the transaction with an associate or joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of
a subsidiary that does not contain a business are
recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors' interests in that associate or
joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting
from the remeasurement of retained interest in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or
a joint venture) to fair value are recognised in the
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint
venture.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current, Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants and Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised), Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification that if
an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is
subject to compliance with future covenants, the
entity has a right to defer settlement of the liability
even if it does not comply with those covenants at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The 2020 Amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered as a settlement of a
liability.

The 2022 Amendments improve the information an
entity provides when its right to defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months is subject to
compliance with covenants. The 2022 Amendments
clarify that only covenants with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date will affect a
liability's classification as current or non-current.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier
Finance Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure
requirements to enhance the transparency of
supplier finance arrangements and their effects on
an entity's liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.

Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments clarify the requirements on
determining whether a currency is exchangeable into
another currency, and the spot exchange rate to use
when it is not.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The amendments clarify that a financial liability is
derecognised on the ‘settlement date’ and introduce
an accounting policy choice to derecognise financial
liabilities settled using an electronic payment system
before the settlement date. Other clarifications
include the classification of financial assets with
Environmental, Social and Governance linked
features via additional guidance on the assessment
of contingent features. Clarifications have been
made to non-recourse loans and contractually linked
instruments.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction,
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are intended to
improve the requirements for sale and leaseback
transactions in HKFRS 16. They do not change the
accounting for leases unrelated to sale and leaseback
transactions.

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 sets out significant new requirements
for how financial statements are presented, with
particular focus on the statement of profit or loss,
including requirements for mandatory sub-totals
to be presented, aggregation and disaggregation
of information, as well as disclosures related to
management-defined performance measures. The
aim of HKFRS 18 is to improve comparability and
transparency of companies’ performance reporting.
HKFRS 18 has also resulted in narrow changes to the
statement of cash flows.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures

HKFRS 19 aims at simplifying financial reporting for
eligible subsidiary companies by allowing reduced
disclosure.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is
expected to be in the period of initial application.
Other than HKFRS 18 that the directors anticipate
that the presentation of consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
will change and more disclosures would be made
and amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 that
the directors expect that there may be potential
impact on the classification and measurement of
financial instruments that would have on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, so far it has
concluded that the adoption of other amendments
and new standards in the future is not expected to
have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation

The material accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summaries below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company considered that
the Group is able to continue as a going concern
notwithstanding that the Group incurred a loss
attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$257,302,000 during the year
ended 30 June 2024, and as of that date, the
Group's current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$223,783,000. As
at 30 June 2024, the Group had bank loans of
HK$882,506,000 (note 32) that were classified as
current liabilities while the Group only maintained its
cash and cash equivalents of HK$49,156,000.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

When assessing the appropriateness of the use of
the going concern basis for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, the directors have
prepared a cash flow forecast covering a period
of 12 months from the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements. The directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to
the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and the Group’'s available source of financing,
having regard to the following plans and measure,
in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern:

1. Subsequent to year end date, the Group
had sold a portion of the properties for sale
and expected that the remaining portion
of the said properties could be sold within
the forecast period at a margin sufficient
to cover the bank loans of HK$60,000,000
and HK$153,730,000 classified under
current liabilities and non-current liabilities
respectively. The excess monies after repaying
the said bank loans are served as additional
working capital to the Group;

2. The directors of the Company expected
that the other bank loans classified under
the current liabilities could be repaid as
scheduled or renewed upon expiry on the
basis of the Group's past records in the
compliance with the terms of the relevant
bank loans, including timely settlement of
bank loans and/or the availability of sufficient
assets as collaterals;

ul
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

3. The Group will dispose of the listed equity
investments, listed bonds and investment
fund classified as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss within the forecast period as necessary in
order to provide additional working capital to
the Group; and

4. The Group will continue its effort to enhance
its operations and implement measures to
tighten cost controls over various operating
expenses to improve its cash flows from
operations to strengthen the working capital
of the Group.

In the opinion of the directors, taking into account
the above plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operation
and meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due. Accordingly, the directors consider it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above plans
and measures, it might not be able to continue as
a going concern, and adjustments would have to
be made to write down the carrying value of the
Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise,
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (i)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
accumulated impairment loss, if any. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

34

3.5

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but not control or
joint control over those policies. In consolidated
financial statements, associates are accounted for
using the equity method whereby they are initially
recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying
amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest
in the associate are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses.

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where
there is a contractual arrangement that confers
joint control over the relevant activities of the
arrangement to the Group and at least one other
party. Joint control is assessed under the same
principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint
arrangements as joint ventures where the Group
has rights to only the net assets of the joint
arrangement.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.5

3.6

Joint arrangements (continued)

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method whereby they are initially recognised at cost
and thereafter, their carrying amounts are adjusted
for the Group's share of post-acquisition changes in
the joint ventures’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group's interest in the joint venture are
not recognised unless there is an obligation to make
good those losses.

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of the
individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting
date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the reporting date
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss.

O
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.6

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined and are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all
individual financial statements of foreign operations,
originally presented in a currency different from the
Group’s presentation currency, have been converted
into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been translated
into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into
HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates, or at the average rates over the reporting
period provided that the exchange rates do not
fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from
this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in the exchange fluctuation reserve in equity.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is
allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit is the
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, by
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount (see note 3.13), and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired.

When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of
the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount to each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each
asset will not reduce the individual asset’s carrying
amount to below its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or its value in use (if determinable),
whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost, which
comprise purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note
3.13). Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

Other than mining structures and the construction in

progress, depreciation is calculated on the straight-

line basis to write off the cost of each asset over its

estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Factory buildings Over the term of the leases or

estimated useful lives of 25 years,

whichever is shorter

Commercial buildings Over the term of the leases or

estimated useful lives of 33 years,

whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the leases or

estimated useful lives of 4 years,

whichever is shorter

10% - 33%

17% - 20%

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles 25%
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation on mining structures is provided to
write off the cost of the mining structure using units-
of-production method based on the total proven and
probable mineral reserves of the ore mines.

The depreciation method, assets’ residual values
and useful lives, are reviewed and adjusted, if
appropriate, at each reporting date. The gain or loss
on retirement or disposal of an asset of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Cost comprises
direct costs of construction. No depreciation is
provided for in respect of construction in progress
until it is completed and ready for its intended use.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-
value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets
and leases for which at the commencement date
have a lease term less than 12 months and does
not contain a purchase option. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed on
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for
the accounting policy to account for lease liability);
(ii) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the
lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs
are incurred to produce inventories. The Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model which measures at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
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39 HE(#A) 3.9 Leasing (continued)

EFESE (&) Right-of-use assets (continued)
RNEERBEESFHLER The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings
FA0R FFFEH K E that are held for rental or capital appreciation
IR ERBEWIEATFET purpose under HKAS 40 and are carried at fair value.
ReHELHREFA The Group accounts for buildings which is held for
R-AKERBEEBSE own use under HKAS 16 and would be under cost
R FE 165 K FFIEB A model. For right-of-use assets related to interests
WEKAEER T ZEF in leasehold land where interest in the land is held
ABR (B RREAEES HM as inventory are carried at lower of cost and net
ETiiE=EREm A A realisable value in accordance with note 3.15. Other
THRERFEEETE 8 than the above right-of-use assets, the Group also
1R BRI 3. 159R A A EL A] has leased a number of properties under tenancy
FIFERE R 2 RIEE agreements which the Group exercises it judgement
HIHR o bR Ll fF A E and determines that it is a separate class of asset
SN AEETEREBHAE apart from the leasehold land and buildings which is
WA EZEYE  mA held for own use namely “other properties leased for
SEITEAETETHE S own use”. As a result, the right-of-use asset arising
REEBRZEE i from the properties under tenancy agreements are
REFLAINZ BRI E carried at depreciated cost.

E AEaBEEEA A
ZWE]Hit BE
& NEEEZEREER
ERATEK AT R -

HEEBRE Lease liabilities

HEB BRIWIFNEERH The lease liability is recognised at the present value
ANz HENRZ of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
IRE MR o iz A ZE 7] B of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
KrEE  HENRERAE are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
ERE 2 F=E (W f %= lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
LB EE ) BLER - Bl rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
AEEFRARBACEE the case of the Group, the Group uses the lessee’s
BEFE. incremental borrowing rate.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The following payments for the right-of-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are
not paid at the commencement date of the lease
are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii)
variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (i) amounts expected
to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring
the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment
or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or
rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the
in substance fixed lease payments or a change in
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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39 HE(#A) 3.9 Leasing (continued)
ERBHTANZ 5T IEFE Accounting as lessor
REEE METHEEE The Group has leased out its investment properties
HIgBEY - KEMHE 2 to a number of tenants. Rental income from
HEWAREBEHEERR operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
NEFEE B R R i a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
R SRS FTEE lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
2R E R AR AHE and arranging an operating lease are added to the
BEZRASE WHRHE carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
ERANBERERR R as an expense on the straight-line basis over the
X o lease term.

3.10 EFEE 3.10 Intangible assets
BEBEEETERFRAFEA Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
DU 2 B A ERK are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
ISR E 2R EE subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the
BAIER (R T X M5E3.13 accounting policy in note 3.13 below in respect of
BHREEEREBEZ impairment losses on intangible assets).

&) -

3.1  EREERE 3.11 Mining right
PRUERE R R AN R 5T 8 51 Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated
AR RDREE 1R 5 AR - IF amortisation and any impairment losses and are
LA EEBBADE RN A & amortised on the units-of-production method based
BB R AR EREE on the total proven and probable reserves of the ore
B o mines.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12

3.13

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but
not held for sale in the ordinary course of business,
use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. On initial recognition,
investment property is measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment property is stated
at fair value. Fair value is determined by external
professional valuers, with sufficient experience
with respect to both the location and the nature
of the investment property. The carrying amounts
recognised at the reporting date reflect the
prevailing market conditions at the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the
fair value or the sale of an investment property are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwill)

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right, and interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures are subject to impairment testing.
They are tested for impairment whenever there are
indications that the assets’ carrying amount may not
be recoverable.



Annual Report 2024 “F #f;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z-_NFRA=THILFE

= SR @)

3.13

FERMEERE (BB
5 (&)

BEEBEEAERFHL
BEVEESFREEARD
KREUR A RE TR E R B
ARIE °

EEEZRESREBA
Yol & HERF - B ERIE
AR R R AN FERR AR
X oA BB ARNTE
(RERMERHERAZT
) EEREEME 2]
=& o FHEEREER -
fREtRACR SRR R
EATMSHSERREEL
FHERZEEZBERR
AR IR RBREH
o

SEHERENS  WEE
REEELEARB EBYNE
EEZRERA - BIA
SEeRABIELARSE
MAZ&NEERR (B
ReELEM)EEAK
- Hi BOEE
BERETRER  #o
AEReELSEUER
TR - ERDREE 1R
Bz PIAZRTEE
BUCEEMG HEEE
FEHETERAREER
HAE Bl 2 F B S K
A (WA ) REME
B(WAEE) (ABF
BERE) -

3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.13

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwiill) (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be
impaired.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of
money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a CGU). As a result, some assets
are tested individually for impairment and some are
tested at CGU level. Any impairment loss is charged
pro-rata to the assets in the CGU, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable),
whichever is the higher.

Xe)
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.13

3.14

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwill) (continued)

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount and
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Financial Instruments

() Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in
the market place.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

()

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

Financial assets at amortised cost: Assets
that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()

Financial assets (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

Fair value through profit or loss: Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or
loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding
the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates,
or significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income: Financial assets that are held within
a business model whose objective is to be
achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the financial
assets give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount
outstanding are measured at fair value
though other comprehensive income.
Interest income calculated using the effective
interest method, foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income
are recycled to profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

(@

Financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value. Dividend income are recognised
in profit or loss unless the dividend income
clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investments. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit
or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as fair value through profit or loss,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or
loss.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(ir)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on trade
receivables and other financial assets
measured at amortised cost and debt
instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases:
(1) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an
approximation to the assets’ original effective
interest rate.

ul
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12-months ECLs. However,
when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since origination, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime ECLs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due. Depending
on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase
in credit risk is performed on either an
individual or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics, such as
past due status and credit risk ratings.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be
in default when the debtor is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to action. The
Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when:

- significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or being more than 90 days
past due event unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable
information demonstrate otherwise;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the
Group would not consider otherwise;

- it is becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

(ir)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

- the disappearance of an active
market for a security because of
financial difficulties.

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
loss allowance) of the financial asset. For
non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities
at amortised costs are initially measured at
fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade payables, other payables and accruals,
bank loans, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, loan from a controlling shareholder,
amounts due to joint ventures and amounts
due to related companies are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gain or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the amortisation process.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(iv)

v)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability,
or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset
expire or when the financial asset has been
transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

3.15

Financial Instruments (continued)

v) Derecognition (continued)

When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the weighted average basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on the estimated selling prices in the ordinary
course of business less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.



Annual Report 2024 “F #f;
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z-_NFRA=THILFE

= BFEBR @ 3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.15 FE(#) 3.15 Inventories (continued)

BRAMERFENFEZ The cost of properties under development and

A B IS B A AN - properties for sale comprise the acquisition cost of

BEAKN BEXEER -H land, construction costs, professional fees, other

tmEEAXRERETE direct expenses and capitalised borrowing costs

RZEERA (R M (see note 3.19). Properties under development and

3.19) s ERAME KA properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and

B IR K AR B R B3R % net realisable value. Net realisable value represents

B2 BRIEE IR - Al &35 the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of

FEIEN B E X% BIER business less estimated cost of completion and the

Z st EBR AT estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

BRZS RRAEH SH &S P Rs (5T

PXAETE o

3.16 Wz 3.16 Revenue recognition

EFPEHNENE MR Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised

B2 EHEES E R PR when control of goods or services is transferred
R R R E 5 to the customers at an amount that reflects the

RZEE M R TEST consideration to which the Group expects to be

BRESZRE T8 entitled in exchange for those goods or services,

FERE=FWE 2 FIE excluding those amounts collected on behalf of

W N BB ER s A third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or

SHER - AR HBREME other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade

S discounts.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z_MFEA=1THILFE

D

= E5HER ®

3.16

W R (4)

BB ERRE
w2 REME  Bmaik
B2 PR B Al B E K — B
BARER KBS -
HAKREZBOTTRNTE
THMEA— B G '
A AR T 2 PR I REFE R —
R AER

. Rt = P R
BRERZAA

Mk

. BIEHMRENR
SEROBEEP
PIEGIZEE X

. I &% Bl 3E — IR Al
RASEBIER
RKBgzEE A
REBAA R
SRIEETERZ
BRI D BE
R ATEATTHER

i 6 dm SR AR TS 2 R R A
R—EERAER Al
ERHNBRAN2E 2R
TRHBRB EETER -
SR WaEEFRER
A S AR TS 42 1|48 2 By A T

=7
s ©

BHEBEREASERE
B AP WREZ KE (X
PR ESE) AEF,E
BRI 2 BT

3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Revenue recognition (continued)

Depending on the terms of the contract and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods
or service may be transferred over time or at a point
in time. Control of the goods or service is transferred
over time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Revenue recognition (continued)

()

Sales of jewellery

Customers obtain control of the jewellery
when the jewellery are delivered to and have
been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised
upon when the customers accepted the
jewellery. There is generally only one
performance obligation. Invoices are usually
payable 30 to 120 days.

Some of the Group’s contracts with
customers from the sale of goods provides
customers a right of return (a right to
exchange another product). These rights of
return do not allow the returned goods to
be refunded in cash. The right of return gives
rise to variable consideration. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract
inception using expected value method and
constrained until the associated uncertainty
is subsequently resolved. The application
of the constraint on variable consideration
increases the amount of revenue that will be
deferred. In addition, a refund liability and
a right to recover returned goods assets are
recognised.

ul
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Revenue recognition (continued)

()

(ir)

Sales of jewellery (continued)

Some of the Group’s contracts with
customers from the sale of goods provide
customers a volume rebate if the customer
purchases more than certain volume of
goods in a calendar year. The volume rebates
give rise to variable consideration. A refund
liability would be recognised based on the
estimate of the expected value to be paid
for the customer’s volume-based rebate.
Any expected volume rebate provision is
recognised as refund liabilities.

Sale of property

Revenue arising from the sale of properties
held for sale is recognised in profit or loss
on the basis that control over the ownership
of the property has been passed to the
customer during the current accounting
period, which is the point in time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use
of the property and obtain substantially all
the benefits of the property. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under contract liabilities.
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3.16 WmiER (&) 3.16 Revenue recognition (continued)
(i)  HEA (i) Rental income
HEaWBAREE Rental income is recognised on a straight-line
BN B A T basis over the lease terms.
7,
(v)  FLEHKA (iv)  Interest income
MEWAKAE Interest income is recognised on a time-
B ) 2 UK e B [ proportion basis using the effective interest
LU ERER : & method; and
V)  REKA (v)  Dividend income
Az B U AP HE S Dividend income is recognised when the
A% 3R W BRI 2 shareholder’s right to receive payment is
T e R o established.
3.17 EEEA 3.17 Employee benefits
RIKIEF Retirement benefits

BB ZRINBRIE BT
HRET Bl

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

;Uh‘
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.17

Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Prior to the MPF Scheme becoming effective, the
Group operated a defined contribution retirement
benefits scheme (the “Prior Scheme”) for those
employees who were eligible to participate in this
scheme. The Prior Scheme operated in a similar way
to the MPF Scheme, except that when an employee
left the Prior Scheme before his/her interest in the
Group's employer contributions vested fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group were
reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
employer’s contributions.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.17

Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

The employees of the subsidiaries which operate in
the People’s Republic of China except Hong Kong
and Macau (“Mainland China”) are required to
participate in a retirement benefits scheme (the
“RB Scheme"”) operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
RB Scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the RB Scheme is to
pay the ongoing required contributions under the
RB Scheme. Contributions under the RB Scheme are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the RB Scheme.

The employees of the subsidiaries which operate in
the United Kingdom (“UK") and the United States
of America (“USA") are required to participate in a
retirement benefits scheme operated by the local
government. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the retirement
benefits scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as employees render services during the year.
The Group's obligations under these plans are limited
to the fixed percentage contributions payable to
these plans.

O
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.17

3.18

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Share-based compensation

All share-based payment arrangements granted after
7 November 2002 and had not vested on 1 January
2005 are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The Group operates equity-settled share-
based compensation plans for remuneration of its
employees and other eligible participants.

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation are
measured at their fair values. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the equity instruments
awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date
and excludes the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets).
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.18 Share-based compensation (continued)

All share-based compensation is recognised as an
expense in profit or loss over the vesting period
if vesting conditions apply, or recognised as an
expense in full at the grant date when the equity
instruments granted vest immediately unless the
compensation qualifies for recognition as asset, with
a corresponding increase in the share option reserve
in equity. If vesting conditions apply, the expense is
recognised over the vesting period, based on the
best available estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of equity instruments that are expected to
vest. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is
any indication that the number of equity instruments
expected to vest differs from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in reserve will
be transferred to share capital. After vesting date,
when the vested share options are later forfeited or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.19

3.20

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing
costs are expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.20 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method
on temporary differences at the reporting date
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available
to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
and unused tax credits can be utilised.

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value under
HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. The deferred
tax amounts on these investment properties are
measured using the tax rates that would apply on
sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date as the presumption is
not rebutted.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2024

BE—Z

“MERNA=THIEFE

H

EEBR @)

3.20 FrEBESTRE (&)

WA BT EREE
MBEELEZ BRERET
PR B ERT s A EET
wmAskEE BT SEL
A5 FE SR R AT OB e
=2 AT eI ERE
ERBEERBE-

REBEHNRFEA R
Bta N R REE R
mPTEE 2 R E R
HERELCHIEEGE
fin AN 5% [ e 22 ) B s 28R
BRI REREREA NS
£ 7] B A% 2R £ 21 & Bl B
Hho

E%WL%ZM+ﬁ
MR R MBS BEE
ERNEE FEEK-

SRR IBRER  HE
FTS R At 2 as
R ZIEE K EERER
%:zmam% TZ%E

ERT - IR B I D B
Hib2mUkessk EE
PR

3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.20 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary differences arising from initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on interests in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, provided
they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income
or when they relate to items recognised directly in
equity in which case the taxes are also recognised
directly in equity.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.21

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the regular
internal financial information reported to the chief
operating decision-maker i.e. the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group's business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major line of business.

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments:

Jewellery Business

o Property investment and development
° Mining operation
° Investment

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service lines
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers, if any, are
carried out at arm’s length prices.

ul
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.21

Segment reporting (continued)

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its financial statements
prepared under HKFRSs, except that finance costs,
income tax expense and corporate income and
expenses which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment, are not
included in arriving at the operating results of the
operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets but cash and cash
equivalents, time deposit with original maturities
over three months and deferred tax assets. In
addition, corporate assets which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment are not allocated to a segment,
which primarily applies to the Group'’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude bank loans, loan from a
controlling shareholder, provision for tax, deferred
tax liabilities and corporate liabilities, which are not
directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.22 Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply: (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Company or to the Company’s
parent.
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3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.22 Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Estimated fair value of investment properties

As at the reporting date, the Group’s investment properties
are stated at the value based on the valuation performed
by an independent valuation firm. In determining the fair
value, the valuer applies the income capitalisation method
or direct comparison method, as appropriate. In relying on
the valuation, management has exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the methods of valuation adopted
are appropriate for the relevant property and reflective of
current market conditions.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and properties for sale

Management determines the net realisable value of
properties under development and properties for sale by
using prevailing market data such as most recent sales
transactions and market valuation report available from
independent valuation firm. Such valuation is made
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to the
determination of open market value and/or the market
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in the
same locations and conditions. In making the judgement,
reasonable consideration has been given to the estimated
costs to completion. These estimates are regularly compared
to actual market data and actual transactions in the market.
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The expected loss rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially based
on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information.

At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
would be reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed. The assessment of the correlation
among historical observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of
ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in notes 26 and 48.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life are impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to
which goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life
and other non-financial assets have been allocated which
is considered to be the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. The value-in-use calculation
requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
fair value less costs of disposal involve the use of market
approach which includes the use of comparables in the
active market.
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
life)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Where an indicator of impairment exists,
a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made,
which is considered to be the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. All non-financial assets
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy
as disclosed in note 3.13. In carrying out the impairment
assessment of mining right and related non-financial assets,
the directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate
valuation technique. Where appropriate, the valuation is
estimated by independent valuation firm to estimate the
recoverable amount of the Mining CGU Il as defined in
note 14(b) using market approach with reference to recent
comparable transactions undertaken in the mining industry.
Any changes in economic conditions and mineral prices and
the availability of comparable transactions may materiality
affect the estimation of the recoverable amount of the non-
financial assets.

Provision for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories, the Group would
evaluate ageing analysis of inventories and compare the
carrying value of inventories to their respective net realisable
value. A considerable amount of judgement is required
in determining such allowance. If conditions which have
impact on the net realisable value of inventories deteriorate,
additional allowances may be required.

ul
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m - BREEsHHE R EIE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Amortisation of mining right and depreciation of
mining structures

Mining right and mining structures are amortised/
depreciated on the units of production method based
on the total proven and probable mineral reserves of the
ore mines. The directors of the Company exercised their
judgement in estimating the total proven and probable
reserves of the ore mines.

Estimate of current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of the provision for taxation and the timing of payment
of the related taxation. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination are made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
are recognised as management considers it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and income tax expenses in the periods in which such
estimate is changed. The outcome of their actual utilisation
may be different.
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m - BAE R R FIE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(%) AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
AEEFE Fair value measurement
RNEBLRE M BRERNE 2 Z1H A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s
BERBEAEL AT EFE consolidated financial statements require measurement at,
258 o or disclosure of, fair value.
rEEemEIECREERAR The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
ZATEFFERAEFERATS and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
B ABEREE BEEATE observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in
FrERER B AETIERFTE determining fair value measurements are categorised into
REERINATA B AE 2 TE different levels based on how observable the inputs used in
RIZEEE DA TRER: the valuation technique utilised are:
o FIE: HRABEARNEETSZ . Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for
WRIE (REHE) identical items (unadjusted);
o FE: EBEEIEEVBERZEH . Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs
NE(TBRESEIEZE other than Level 1 inputs;
INIE
o F3E: EBEBEZHAEE 0 Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived
WIEREMIZEE) ° from market data).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based
on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant
effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers
of items between levels are recognised in the period they
occur.

The Group measures the following items at fair values:
o Investment properties

o Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

o Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to note 16
and note 48.5 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to assess performance and allocate resources.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Company's executive directors. The executive directors
have identified the Group’s four business lines as operating
segments as further described in note 3.21.
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H DEER @)

(@) =EDE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Business segment

b3 £31 NERERER REER i &4
Property investment
Jewellery Business and development Mining operation Investment Consolidated
204 03 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 203 2024 03
f#r Tz iz T FET T i3 AT FE#r Az
HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000
pELe Segment revenue:
HETHREE/ Sals tofrevenue from
RENREF 25 external parties 333,897 434,936 230 15,659 = = 4185 5013 360,402 455,608
e+ Segment results (23,69) 2,741 (266,588) (115,373) (1,919) 13826 2,518 1,169 (289,681) (97,631)
ARAZ Unallocated expenses (1793) (2,530
BEMA Finance costs (2675 @781
WA EH A B Loss before income tax (294,149) (102,908)
——
KREH NERERER RRER BE g8
Property investment
Jewellery Business and development Mining operation Investment Consolidated
204 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 03
FE#r FEr T 7 FET AT FET TET F#x FHr
HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Segment assets 214174 290,968 2,505,785 2,766,125 518,242 512929 813 55,929 3316324 3,625,951
Cash and cash equivalents 49,156 90,695
Time deposit with original
maturities over three months - 6,406
Deferred tax assets 840 103
Unallocated corporate assets 585 568
EE Total assets 3366005 3724643
——
AH8E Segment liabilties 91,509 104,684 101,169 122,819 31,302 30773 4853 5593 28833 263,929
SER Bank loans 1,036,236 1,058.377
BRERREZER Loan from a controling
shareholder 4280 4306
RERR Provision for tax 1925 230
EXHBRE Deferred tax liabities 114,089 108,931
ARAREE Unallocated corporate liabiltes 883 863
AfRE Totd lbiltes 138646 1438710
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o

- SEHER @

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) HEDE (&) (a)  Business segment (continued)
KEEH NERERER RRER & ]
Property investment
Jewellery Business and development Mining operation Investment Consolidated
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 203 2024 2023 2024 2023
FET AT TET AT FET THT kZ:2 77 FAT AT
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000
E AR Other segment information:
0% BERRMETE  Deprecation of property,
plant and equipment (3,676) (3,557) - - (351) (348) - - (4,027) (3,905)
RAREENE Depreciation of
right-of-use assets (4,868) (4,783) - - (1,152) (1,159) - - (6,020) (5,902)
RENEATEZES  Changein fair value of
investment properties - - (87,938) (27,797) - - - - (87,938) (27,797)
DATEFABEZ  Fairvalue gain/loss) on
SREEIATHE financial assets at
Yiss/ (B518) fair value through
profit or loss 80 (579) - - - - (431) (1,720) (351) (2,299
HEMATET AL  Loss on disposal of debt
2EMEZEBIEZ  instruments measured at
EiE fair value through other
comprehensive income - - - - - - - (460) - (460)
HENF HERZE  (GainMloss on disposal
2 (W) /B8 of property, plant and
equipment 34 (70) - - - - - - 34 (70)
HEZERNER Wite-down of properties
FENR under development and
properties for sale - - (141,031) (49,859) - - - - (141,031) (49,859)
HEE O ERFUR Wite off of other payables - - 1741 - - - - - 1,747 -
BlEAEERE Share of results of
joint ventures - - (1) @ - - - - (1) (0]
NG Share of result of
an associate - - (2,309) (6,633) - - - - (2,309 (6,633)
FREZAESR Reversal of impairment
&E loss on mining right - - - - 9,406 0718 - - 9,406 0718
nE BERSEL (Net impairment loss)/
(REBEFE)/ reversal of impaiment
HEEEER Joss on property, plant and
equipment (174) - - - 168 419 - - (6) 419
FRREEZEBES  Impaimentloson
right-of-use assets (717) - - - - - - - (717) -
HELREER Impairment loss on goodwil (8,124) - - - - - - - (8,124) -
EMEEZREFE  Impaiment loss on
intangible assets (965) - - - - - - = (965) =
FERE Provision for inventories (1,566) (507) - - - = = = (1,566) (507)
BHREMERSE  Reversal of impairment
AEBEREEE Joss on trade and
other receivables, net 642 4,785 - - - - - - 642 4785
HEHA Interest income - - - - - - 1833 3035 1833 3035
A Interest expenses (811) (113) (@165  (29534) (1,289) (1,293) - - (a9750)  (31,540)
REERHHPEE  Additions to non-current
segment assets 2,608 1,600 238 77,184 338 - - - 3184 78,784
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H DEER @) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) HEER (b)  Geographic information
KEIIMAERZWE

Revenue from
external customers

2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$000
B (sEf) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 40,785 39,502
b= (FisEa) North America (note a) 115,463 172,309
B K A B (M 5Eb ) Europe and Middle East (note b) 197,170 229,204
H b [= Other locations 6,984 14,593
CE Total 360,402 455,608
ERENE E
Non-current assets
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$°000
B () Hong Kong (place of domicile) 2,019,949 2,110,194
LM (Hizta) North America (note a) 14,096 26,233
FE United Kingdom 2,458 3,527
A B K e Mainland China 525,679 522,060
CEn Total 2,562,182 2,662,014
Hat: Notes:
@) ZREZERINE (@) Principally included United States and Canada.
t °
(b) +* EBIE D R (b) Principally included Saudi Arabia, United Kingdom,
(SN2 ] Sweden, Spain, Netherlands and Norway.

IEIT - far B R B
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B MRS EE IR E
Rz M - BUMN KR R
BRI EARBER DI - W
REEMMR 2 ER B
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WITESEEASE M
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Geographic information (continued)

The revenue information above is based on the
location of the customers. The geographical location
of the non-current assets (other than financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) is based on the
physical location of the assets. The geographical
information of the Group's revenue from external
customers and non-current assets by individual
significant countries in North America, Europe and
Middle East, other locations is not available and
executive directors considers the cost to obtain the
information would be excessive.

The executive directors determine the Group is
domiciled in Hong Kong, which is the location of the
Group's principal office.

Information about major customers

Revenue from a major customer, which amounted
to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue, is set out

W EEHAT below:
2024 2023
FET FAET
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BEEA* Customer A * TER N/A 53,321
* HE—ZT-PFRA * The revenue from Customer A for the year ended

=+HIEFE ®RE
BEAZ W T BB
RNEE W 210%
BHESETTH
E-HE_T-=4%F
ANA=THILEE:
REREEAZ KR
EREANEREES
2

30 June 2024 did not exceed 10% of the Group's
revenue and the respective amount was not
disclosed accordingly. The revenue from Customer
A for the year ended 30 June 2023 was all
derived by the segment engaging in the Jewellery
Business.
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7~ WE 6. REVENUE
FRERZW=IT Revenue recognised during the year is as follows:
2024 2023
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$°000
HES BN AHELEZ  Revenue from contracts with customers
Uz
ERHEE MW E Timing of revenue recognition for sales
R — R E—RFE of goods — At a point in time 333,897 434,936
R B HAMRR 2 W Revenue from other sources

HEWA Rental income 22,320 15,659

MBI A Interest income 1,833 3,035

& ZRBIA Dividend income from investments 2,352 1,978

360,402 455,608
TREHBBAHEZTF ZENEH The following table provides information about trade
EEZESEWFIERENARE receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with

LB, customers.
2024 2023
FET FAET
HK$'000 HK$°000

g 5 e ERIE Trade receivables (note 26)

(B EE=—+7%) 61,399 64,591

EHBEE(METE=+—) Contract liabilities (note 31) 343 354
RZZEZ=FA=1TH &4 As at 30 June 2023, the contract liabilities mainly related to
BEFEZEENCHERAEES the advance consideration received from customers which
ZHERA=THIEFEZ K has been recognised as revenue for the year ended 30 June
ZRWEFRE- 2024.
RZZE-_WMFEASA=+H & As at 30 June 2024, the advance consideration received
W& F AR E343,0008 T (=2 from customers of HK$343,000 (2023: HK$354,000)
— =% :354,000/ 7T ) BIREAR represents unfulfilled performance obligation under the
SERBENMNRBETZBHAE Group’s existing contracts. This amount represents revenue
%o Z2BRBHNRRERZ expected to be recognised in the future. The Group will
WS o AN SR B P AR PR TEBK B AU recognise the expected revenue in future when performance
EERERTE AR  EHRER obligation is completed, which is expected to occur within
—FRNEE- one year.
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2]

+ - MBHA 7. FINANCE COSTS
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FIEXZH: Interest charges on:
RITER Bank loans 63,373 44,064
HEBBEZFE Interest on lease liabilities (note 33)
(HaEFE=+=) 811 692
FEAT —E BB A RIZKIEFT  Imputed interest expenses arising from
EECESHERX amount due to related company 1,289 1,293
LAEBER AN Total borrowing costs 65,473 46,049
BB EZ RIS Less: interests capitalised in:
—REYE — investment properties (note 16)
(B EE+7%) - (1,007)
—EREPYE — properties under development
(FfEE=—+m) (note 24) (13,048) (10,761)
52,425 34,281

FRABRTERNZEERATIE B Borrowing costs capitalised during the year were calculated
HEBEREELXHERTFED by applying a capitalisation rate of approximately 6.05%
6.05% (ZE-Z=F:42%)2 (2023: 4.2%) per annum to expenditure on the qualifying
BRERLEGE - assets.
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- BRETEHAEE 8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
2024 2023
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$000

NEBERFTSFIATEETY  The Group's loss before income tax is

R (FHA) arrived at after charging/(crediting):

ATRIE B #E30:
BEEHEFEERA Cost of inventories sold 260,618 338,990
M BB RFEETE Depreciation of property, plant and

(PFE+) equipment (note 14) 4,027 3,905
CRAEEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets

(BsE+3) (note 15) 6,020 5,902
12 BN AD B & Auditor’s remuneration 1,240 1,220
KEEEEHES S Low-value assets leases charges 897 830
T_ S B Provision for inventories* 1,566 507

NEEFFAEREZ Fair value loss on financial assets at

%EQEEZQ$TE fair value through profit or loss

&8 351 2,299
R INE B8 Net foreign exchange loss 1,010 4,407
uﬂ’%%% B & (Gainy/loss on disposal of property,

Bz (e )/Eﬁ?@ plant and equipment (34) 70

& — E RA s A B8 Gain on debt modification on amount

Z%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ&%fm due to related company (1,289) (1,293)
FAEEEZRAEEE  Impairment loss on right-of-use assets? 717 =
8 2B EsE Impairment loss on goodwill* 8,124 =
BZEEZREBE Impairment loss on intangible assets 965 =
VI R MR Z{E  Net impairment loss/(reversal of impairment

BERFE CREEE loss) on property, plant and equipment?

Bem) 6 419)
i S EL 8 A~ SR IR Write off of other payables* (7,747) =
MU BE R P K Write-down of properties under

EME development and properties for sale* 141,031 49,859
HRNEAHRSKAZ Direct operating expenses arising from

REMEEEZ investment properties that generate

EEEERY rental income during the period 3,298 3,480
HATEERSRAZ Direct operating expenses arising from

REMEEEZ investment properties that did not

HEEERX generate from rental income during

the period 400 421
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* FRZFERE RO R
RMERGEMEE AL
EHREMEGEERERA
2 [$HEKA] -

# FRAZEREEE BE &
WEERYE BEI&E
ZBEBR CRERBER
(1) A e 88 L 4t 8 A5 SR IR
Bt AGREaREMEE
Weas s A2 TEAIRA ~ Efth
Was REEFER] o

N~ FEHRX

EAETNBRANFAREBESE
BT FE AR B s FIR B % 16.5%

TE =& :165%)FTEH
b 11b [ & 2R B i ) 2 Bi IE T &
RARE B EIEFTE 2 ADERE
B2 IRITAN - 2R RIES &
ZERAERIBRERZFHET

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued)

*

Provision for inventories and write-down of properties
under development and properties for sale for the
year were included in “cost of sales” on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Impairment loss/(Reversal of impairment loss) on right-of-
use assets, goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment and write off of other payables for the year
were included in “other income, other gains and losses,
net” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits

assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the applicable

rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group

operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and

practices in respect thereof.

(@)

:%’t o
2024 2023
Fi#&T FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
B EAR 18 Current tax
BB Hong Kong 241 301
BEFEBEREE Over provision in prior years 42) (133)
199 168
FEIEFIE (E=+1) Deferred tax (note 37)
REEZE Current year 5,966 12,333
FTiSHiF X 58 Total income tax expense 6,165 12,501
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- EiEHREX @ 0.

FRSHA BIREAREAE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting

SETERZHER: loss at applicable tax rates:
2024 2023
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$°000
M PT{S B AT & 18 Loss before income tax (294,149) (102,908)
A TERE16.5% Tax on loss before income tax,
ZEZ=F:165%) calculated at the statutory rate of
B Z RS BLAT 16.5% (2023: 16.5%)
EER A (48,535) (16,980)
REAM AR EE 2 Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
B AR TR E 2 operating in other jurisdictions
-2 (1,641) 482
i AN e Tax effect of share of results of associates
MR e 381 1,094
TR 2 BTG E  Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 46,143 20,607
BRI A Z BT 2 Tax effect of non-taxable income (3,673) (1,635)
FFABERER Utilisation of tax losses previously
FHIaEE not recognised (929) (1,771)
NERTIEEE 2 T Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
-2 13,903 13,520
RIEREG R ZRE 2T Tax effect of temporary differences
mE not recognised 558 (2,683)
BEFEBREEE Over provision in prior years (42) (133)
FriSfifA 2 Income tax expense 6,165 12,501
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+ - B2 10. DIVIDENDS
2024 2023
Fi&T FEIT
HK$°000 HK$ 000
RE—FERSZ Final dividend paid in respect of
REARR B FRRZ AL the prior year of Nil cent
T =F 1 2780) (2023: HK2 cent) per share - 13,662
EETEEMEE_T_NFR The directors do not recommend any payment of dividend in
TR =FRA=THIEFEIR respect of the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023.
BEMMRKRS -
+— BREE 11. LOSS PER SHARE
RNRBEE ARIE G AREAR K The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share
SEEBRTDER T ERTE attributable to the owners of the Company are based on the
following data:
2024 2023
FiET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000

FRAGTESREAREIER Loss attributable to the owners of
i N/NEIE Z =N the Company for the purpose of
FE(G 1B basic loss per share (257,302) (98,286)
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+— BREBE @ 11. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)
e A
Number of shares
2024 2023

AR E G E AR Weighted average number of ordinary

B8 2 B AR e shares for the purpose of basic loss

T8 per share 683,118,258 683,118,258
TEEB W& 2 BE#E  Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares

TRk T2 in respect of

— BB AR (BIREG)) — Share option (note (i)) - -
RNt E SREEE Weighted average number of

E518 2 EimAR hntE ordinary shares for the purpose of

FHE diluted loss per share 683,118,258 683,118,258

Mt - Note:

@) BE_T-_WMF A=+ (i) For the year ended 30 June 2024, the calculation of basic
HIEFE ARBHEEFA loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company
BIEERERNBEIDER was based on loss for the year attributable to the owners of
RNRAREE AEMNFEAE the Company of HK$257,302,000 (2023: HK$98,286,000)
$6257,302,000% 7t (= F and on weighted average number of 683,118,258 (2023:
= =% :98,286,000/% Jr ) 683,118,258) ordinary shares during the year.

T G A N4 1 &

683,118,258/ (—E — =
£ :683,118,2580% ) 5T & »

BHET_WFR-_T=_= For the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, the
FRA=ZTHILEFE BR computation of diluted loss per share did not assume the
BEREARBESZE BN exercise of share option as they were antidilutive.

T8 GRS a8 R I R

R EATE
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(@)

+= - REEREE (&
RERME Wi

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS'
EMOLUMENTS - NOTE 13)

2024 2023
F#T FETT
HKS$'000 HK$'000

TE #He 2K Wages, salaries, allowances and benefits
B =t in kind# 87,819 97,154

REH-FORRET B H K Contributions on defined contribution

retirement plans 7,725 8,482
95,544 105,636

AR &R B 1 R R M8 4 FE 3 SR AROR UK
ZHER (HERERRREBEHR
EHHFEAIC M SN EERT
TR ) o Eth - WML YHER
AHARERARREZRERE
BARE T EIHFOKF -

g REBEEZZT=-_=F- A=+
HIEFE AEEEREE
Z B3 #B P9 Y2 B 1,606,000
B ZBEER HER
B F R 20197 R 7% = 7%
(TcovID-19]) K17 #AfE
HEBRHBIIE - ZEH
FIE B B 15 pA 45 75 oK BE HA fE
BEAREEZBEBHBRRIR
HITELER BEZEAAN
BEERES REALSE
EEBERHEIBRIE -#E
R =FXAZtTHILESF
ERHETFS R #HEE
1,606,0007& 7t * E A LAIK 85
EERFAY -ZERITH
B 4B R EAT R A sk A E
I o

There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contributions) in the Group for both years.
Hence, there is no forfeited contribution available for the
Group to reduce its existing level of contributions to the
pension schemes in future years.

o During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group had
received government subsidies of HK$1,606,000
from government bodies in Hong Kong with regards
to government support towards entities during the
Coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19") pandemic
situation. The purpose of these government subsidies
was to provide wage support to the subsidiaries in Hong
Kong of the Group to retain employees and to provide
financial support to the Group's operations during this
period of economic uncertainty. These grants received
for compensating salary of HK$1,606,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2023 had been offset against the employee
benefit expenses. There were no unfulfilled and other
contingencies attaching to these government grants.
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HE_Z-_NFRA=THILFE

+= ESEFMRANER 13. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND
SERATZEE EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS
(a) ES=ME (a) Directors’ emoluments
BIESR B R A KA Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to S.383
(ERBZTZE)® of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)
—BAN+=ZKEAT (# and the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
EEENZER)RM Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as
(BRNBEZTZGE)#E follows:
ZEEEHMOT
2024 2023
F#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
EEwe Directors’ fees 250 250
He EUR Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
EWH 7,101 6,864
TE4L Bonus 620 1,091
SRR AIET 2| FX  Contributions to retirement
benefit schemes 253 254
B < 4858 Total emoluments 8,224 8,459
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= EEHFMEAME 13.

BEHALTZME
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(@) E=M= (&)

FRAENKENSESZ
T

BEZE-_MEAA=ZT

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the
directors during the year were as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2024

BIESE
HE BMR RIAEF
2 BENFE 4 RIS st
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors’ and benefits benefit
fees in kind Bonus schemes Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS000
(BHEG))
(note (i)
wiTEs: Executive directors:
1] Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley - 1,200 100 54 1,354
FESEA(TR) Chan Mei Kei, Alice
(note ii) - 381 60 8 449
BEH Chan Wai Kei, Vicki - 1,200 100 54 1,354
BEL Chan Wai Lap, Victor - 2,640 220 119 2,979
BER Wong Edward Gwon-hing - 1,680 140 18 1,838
FHTES: Non-executive director:
R4 (i) Yam Tat Wing (note ii) = = = = =
BIEHTEs: Independent
non-executive
directors:
FPN Yu Shiu Tin, Paul 50 - - - 50
R imiE Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 50 - - - 50
BRE Sze Irons 50 - - - 50
R E Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 50 - - - 50
RS (i) Yam Tat Wing (note i) 50 - - - 50
&zt Total 250 7,01 620 253 8,224
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HE_Z-_NFRA=THILFE

+= EEFMEAME 13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
SmATZHME EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
(#&) INDIVIDUALS (continuea)
(a) EEME (&) (a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
BE—_T-_=%,A=+ Year ended 30 June 2023
BIEFE
e 2R RINER
etk BNl Al TRl it
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors’ and benefits benefit
fees in kind Bonus schemes Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
(BH=EG)
(note (i))
wrES: Executive directors:
RZ2 (fitiiv) Chan Sing Chuk, Charles
(note iv) - 300 - 14 314
Lfl)e:3 Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley - 1,200 100 54 1,354
-3 Chan Wai Kei, Vicki - 1,164 141 52 1,357
Rz Chan Wai Lap, Victor - 2,580 525 116 3221
BER Wong Edward Gwon-hing - 1,620 325 18 1,963
FHTES: Non-executive director:
RS (Biatii) Yam Tat Wing (note i) 50 = = = 50
BifyiTes: Independent
non-executive
directors:
AR Yu Shiu Tin, Paul 50 - - - 50
BRmE Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 50 - - - 50
TR Sze Irons 50 - - - 50
R Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 50 - - - 50
h Total 250 6,864 1,001 254 8,459
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WEE
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== e oS
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EEREREREL
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13. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND
EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

The bonus is determined by the individual
performance of the directors.

Chan Mei Kei, Alice was appointed as an executive
director with effect on 8 February 2024.

Yam Tat Wing was re-designated as an
independent non-executive director with effect on
8 February 2024.

The Executive director, Chan Sing Chuk, Charles
("Dr. Chan") resigned with effect on 1 October
2022.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the

Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or

upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss

of office.
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HE_Z-_NFRA=THILFE

+= ESHFMRANER 13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
SEHATZME EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
(#&) INDIVIDUALS (continuea)
(b) FHiuRsHFAL (b)  Five highest paid individuals
FR - AEBRMNTSFH The five individuals whose emoluments were the
ATBE=% (== highest in the Group for the year included three
FZR)EFE HEZ (2023: three) directors whose emoluments are
& EXFRE5) 291 reflected in the analysis presented above. The
[ o FEARFEREERA T emoluments payable to the remaining individual
ZMemT during the year are as follows:
2024 2023
Fi#T FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
e RN Salaries, allowances and other benefits
E M F 7 4,381 4,737
R 51 B2 6 2 79 A BX The number of individuals fell within the following
(EZE/BIN) : emolument bands (excluding the directors):
2024 2023
N & 5 Emolument bands
1,500,001/ 02 HK$1,500,001 to
2,500,000/ 7T HK$2,500,000 1 1
2,500,001 L% HK$2,500,001 to
3,000,000/ 7T, HK$3,000,000 1 -
3,000,001/ L2 HK$3,000,001 to
3,500,00078 7T HK$3,500,000 - 1
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(o))

+M - WK - BB RRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

EFR KB

HENEEE REEE FERREE RERRE ERIR &t
Furniture,
fixtures and
Buildings and equipment

leasehold Mining Plantand ~ and motor  Construction
improvements structures  machinery vehicles in progress Total

FAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

RZBZZEER-B Atlluly2022
A

Cost 77,866 47,703 47,282 59,124 12,892 244,867
ZtrE LA Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (68,731) (37,664) (43,276) (56,302) (8,643) (214,616)
FEPE Net carrying amount 9,135 10,039 4,006 2822 4,249 30,251

HEZEZZE7XAZ+A  Yearended 30 June 2023

LEE
ENRETE Opening net carrying amount 9,135 10,039 4,006 2822 449 30,251
ME Additions 1,342 - 308 755 - 2,405
E /i DisposalsMritten off (70) . - i} i 70)
e Depreciation (2,226) - (323) (1,356) - (3,905)
AEEEEE Reversal of impairment loss 28 231 2 - 158 419
[ Exchange realignment (647) (814) 7 (230) (344) (2,028)
EREETE (Closing net carrying amount 7,562 9,456 4,000 1,991 4,063 27,07
RZZZZERA=ZTHR  At30June 2023 and 1 July 2023
ZRIZEER-A

KA Cost 75310 43,774 47401 58,097 11,827 236,409
ZHMERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment (67,748) (34,318) (43,401) (56,106) (7,764) (209,337)
BESE Net carrying amount 7562 9456 4,000 1,991 4,063 2012
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+m - WE - BB RRE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(%) (continued)
EFR R RE-
RENEEE RERE HREHE RERRE EEIRE @t
Furniture,
fixtures and
Buildings and equipment
leasehold Mining Plantand ~ and motor  Construction
improvements structures machinery vehicles in progress Total
TAT AT AT AT TET AT
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
ﬁié}%:lﬂﬁ‘-ﬁ!ﬂ'ﬂ Year ended 30 June 2024
LEE
ENRETE Opening net carrying amount 7,562 9,456 4,000 1,991 4,063 2,01
AE Additions 38 - 60 2,848 - 2,946
e /i DisposalsMitten off = = = (159) = (159)
i \ Depreciation (2.357) - (245) (1,425) - (4,027)
(REFE)/BERE  (mpaimentloss)Reversal of
BEFE impairment loss, net (80) 9% (13) (14) 65 (6)
EHAR Exchange realignment 37) (57) ®) (16) (25) (138)
ERREER (Closing net carrying amount 5,126 9,495 3,739 3,225 4,103 25,688
RZBZMEXAZHE  At30June204
RE Cost 79,150 45,767 47,607 63,111 12,367 248,002
ZHIERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (74,024) (36,:272) (43,868) (59,836) (8,264) (222,314)
RE3H Net carrying amount 5126 9,495 3,739 3,225 4,103 25,688
Hiat - Notes:
(@) RZZE—WFEAA=1+H" @) As at 30 June 2024, the management of the Group

AEEEEEREEASE
/5,201,000 7L (=T ==
4 4,938,000/ 70) 2 & T
ME - B K& R 78 E B
B 5t 21 3T 32 1 o 3RO E B
%o

SREARBENTS R
] B 1 B b &1 AT 4 Bl & 2R
B AEEfGEEEEEM
BASEES —BRBEED
ZBReEESM ([RIERD
EEBM ) 2K E S -
RAEELBURRAREZ
IR

identified impairment indicator of certain property, plant
and equipment with carrying amount of HK$5,201,000
(2023: HK$4,938,000) due to the delay of the
predetermined mining plan.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit for one of the mining operations of the Group
("Mining CGU I") to which the asset belongs when it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually.
The cash-generating unit represents the Group’s mining
operation.

~l
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HE_Z_MFEA=1THILFE

o8]

+m - WX - BB RERE

(%)

Hiet: (&

AEEEEEERTEER
WE RBHReEABMIZ
A] Uy 6] & %8 45,740,000/ 7T
— T = =4 5,409,000/
JC) RN EHERE SR o
RérE B RE A2
KARYE BERFZEZ
FRESREERMERE-

SRR EEEMIZA
Yool 5285 RGN R
HEN(BERLEF(=F
=\ F)HRSRER
A ER A FERH SR A
EE - BAEERERSE
BRI Y Bl & 5R 2 BRSE (L
SR RERIAT

—EomE
REFHZERE  T19391%
CRik ik 14.01%
—E_=4F
RN\FHzERE T491.2%
R EEE 14.29%

il aT RARER i B 22 B R IR AR
BReEFEMIZBERR
K EREH TS ER 2 AH
EE -RERSELBEMZ
AFEREIEATENE -

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amounts
of the Mining CGU |, amounted to HK$5,740,000 (2023:
HK$5,409,000) is higher than its carrying amount.
No impairment loss have been recognised against the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The recoverable amount of this Mining CGU | has been
determined based on the fair value less costs of disposal
using discounted cash flow projection which was based
on the cash flow projection for a period of 7 years
(2023: 8 years). Key estimates and assumptions used for
determining the recoverable amount of the Mining CGU |
are as follows:

2024

Growth rate during the 7-year period  Average of 3.91%

Post-tax discount rate 14.01%

2023

Growth rate during the 8-year period Average of 1.2%

Post-tax discount rate 14.29%

Estimates and assumptions are determined by management
based on the past performance of the Mining CGU | and
management’s expectation for the market development.
The fair value of the Mining CGU | is a level 3 fair value
measurement.
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+m - WE - BB RRE
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(b)

M-ZE-_MmEXA=18H"
AEBEEEEEREETY
X R Rkt RS E
URRBEEITERNESHE
EHRERREGARL A
B EERMETN R
RZ+-

HBREAREHME R
A] Be fE Bl & &1 AT W =l & 78
B AEBGFEBREEMR
BAEEHES S —HERESE
B2 RS EEBMN ([HIESE
SEEENI]) ZAKES
B RSELBMRERE
B 2 R o RIS M
FETm-t+ARR=-+H—H
ELBRSREZVE BE
KR RS ERRE
EEARERERCEELS

£zl °

A ERE DT EEZFF
BN E= -

BE_T_MFANA=FH
LEFE AKEEEERER
ETHE BER&E £
BEE BIVEEALEE
B ER - B R BE K
e a2t N o T o ) AN
BRETYE BERKE
BB 2 FBR T+
W -

RZZTZMFEANA=F+
H ANEBBEREEFELN
3,837,000 L (=T ==
£ 15,849,000/ L) 2 & T
BFREEMEEE KE
KRR A RARMA - B - B
RAREDRER (ERAKE
B2 —RIRTTREE 2 ER
(fsE=+=) -

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

As at 30 June 2024, the management of the Group
identified impairment indicator of certain property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and mining right may
have decreased with details as set out in notes 14, 15 and
20, primarily due to the change in price of market gold
price.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit for another mining operation of the Group (“Mining
CGU 1I") to which the asset belongs when it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually. The cash-
generating unit represents the Group’s mining operation.
Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and the
mining right, set out in notes 14, 15 and 20 respectively
that generate cash flows together, have been allocated to
the Mining CGU II.

The result of the assessment and the details of the fair
value measurement are set out in note 20.

For the year ended 30 June 2024, the management of the
Group recognised impairment loss of certain property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
goodwill with details as set out in notes 14, 15, 17 and 18.
Particulars of the impairment testing on certain property,
plant and equipment are disclosed in note 19.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group's certain buildings and
leasehold improvements, plant and machinery, and
furniture, fixtures and equipment and motor vehicles
with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
HK$3,837,000 (2023: HK$5,849,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 32).

Xe)
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+H EREEE 15.

EREEERTFRIZEBEE
BREH 2 oM T

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use
assets by class of underlying assets is as follows:

HinHEE
T fE A HELTH BRAZYE Rt
Other
properties
Land use Leasehold leased for
rights land own use Total
FET FET & FE7T
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
R-ZF_"_&#tH—H At 1 July 2022
XA Cost 39,612 3,538 26,971 70,121
ZEIE Accumulated
depreciation (14,493) (2,277) (12,302) (29,072)
REFHE Net carrying amount 25,119 1,261 14,669 41,049
HEZE-=HF Year ended
ABZ+HLEE 30 June 2023
FHIBREH 5 Opening net carrying
amount 25,119 1,261 14,669 41,049
NE Addition - - 5,089 5,089
WEZH Depreciation charges (1,195) (53) (4,654) (5,902)
ME i % Exchange realignment (2,037) - 96 (1,941)
FREEFH Closing net carrying
amount 21,887 1,208 15,200 38,295
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5 FERAEEE » 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
HiiEE
T i iE AR HEL EERZYE st
Other
properties
Land use Leasehold leased for
rights land own use Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
MRZEZ=Z&£,A=+H% At30June 2023 and
—E”_=£tA—H 1 July 2023
DN Cost 44,309 3,538 30,301 78,148
2EHTE Accumulated
depreciation (22,422) (2,330) (15,101) (39,853)
IRmEFE Net carrying amount 21,887 1,208 15,200 38,295
BE-F_MF Year ended
NAE+HLEFE 30 June 2024
FAEREF5E Opening net carrying
amount 21,887 1,208 15,200 38,295
NE Addition - - 819 819
FEL Depreciation charges (1,188) (53) (4,779) (6,020)
HEEWR Lease modification - - 157 157
WEEE Impairment loss - = (717) (717)
bE N AR Exchange realignment (132) = 43 (89)
FRREFR Closing net carrying
amount 20,567 1,155 10,723 32,445
RZEZWMENA=1TH At30June 2024
(DN Cost 44,309 3,538 31,277 79,124
ZETMERBEEBE Accumulated
depreciation and
impairment loss (23,742) (2,383) (20,554) (46,679)
REFE Net carrying amount 20,567 1,155 10,723 32,445

BE_ZT-_MFA=+THL
FE AEBEEEERERETY
X BEAZE FRAEEE-
BREEAREERERRE"
BREGIBHAMZETTE - +5
TR+ -EETERESR
ERBERIR < BRI T UK

=

For the year ended 30 June 2024, the management of the

Group recognised impairment loss of certain property, plant

and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and

goodwill with details as set out in notes 14, 15, 17 and 18.

Particulars of the impairment testing on certain right-of-use

assets are disclosed in note 19.
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BE—Z

“MERNA=THIEFE

+35 -

EHEEE &)

R-ZE_WWFESA=F+H K
& E R AR5 )F(E 492,152,000
BIL (ZE =4 : 2,244,0007%
TIZERAREECER A
REEER 2 —MRIRITHE 2 &
RFFE=FT=) -

BB

AEERE ARRES RMEER
BEZRENEES BERR
FEELAE YOBRARARK
SHER B R - ARERELZ
MEHHREYSE - WK A WER
Gkl

REEMBIRAREZINZ FEE

15.

16.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

As at 30 June 2024, certain of the Group's right-of-use
assets with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,152,000 (2023: HK$2,244,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
32).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

All of the Group's property interests held to earn rentals
and for capital appreciation purposes are measured using
the fair value model and are classified and accounted for
as investment properties. The Group leases out investment
properties under operating leases with rentals receipts in a
monthly basis.

Movements of the carrying amounts presented in the

BmEFHMAOT consolidated statement of financial position can be
summarised as follows:

2024 2023

FETT FAT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FYRESRE Carrying amount at beginning of the year 2,078,100 2,092,900

NE Additions 238 11,990
BETER 2T E Interests capitalised (note 7)

(FFaE+) - 1,007

NI EREZ EIEFE Net loss from fair value adjustments (87,938) (27,797)

FEREEEHE Carrying amount at end of the year 1,990,400 2,078,100

ER - WWATE WAL
HE3E -

RZZE-_WMFANA=+H %
éﬁ%%ﬂl%ﬂ%ﬁ)mﬂ%ﬁ;ﬁus
MTERAR(ZE =4

R ERITER A A ERA
BEEERE(ZE_=F &
LEBOE)ETHE - B2 EE
£260,400,0008 T (=& ==
£ : 265,100,0005 7T ) ° H &t
BEEZERRABEIBRYMEZK
RS RN mARRE T
i@%z%ﬁfﬁﬂﬁf&tt? ZIBREST
EER R

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurement into or out of Level 3.

Investment properties (individual unit) were valued at
30 June 2024 by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2023:
Knight Frank Petty Limited) at HK$260,400,000 (2023:
HK$265,100,000) by adopting the direct comparison
approach (2023: direct comparison approach). The direct
comparison approach considers the sales, listing or offerings
of similar or substitute properties and related market
data establishes a value estimate by processes involving
comparison.
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+75 REWE @) 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

RZEBEZNFESA=TH B% Completed investment properties (whole block) was valued
PRIEE Y (B EFRE) BHS at 30 June 2024 by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2023:
AEMTAERAR(ZE== Knight Frank Petty Limited) at HK$1,730,000,000 (2023:
FHRGRAEMITHER AR HK$1,813,000,000) by adopting the income capitalisation
Al mEREE(ZE =4 method (2023: income capitalisation method). The income
W EAE)ETHE & capitalisation method involves certain estimates including
it 7 {& 18 A&1,730,000,0007% 7T capitalisation rates and reversionary rental value.

— T~ =%:1,813,000,000%
L) BB ANMEIES KB TE
A BREARMERRERR

E:
REBIEEMFE 2 AT EBES The fair value of the Group’s investment properties is a level
EREMERFERTE  FHIEF 3 recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the
NATFEARERNAT opening and closing fair value balance is provided below:
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHEEER Opening balance
(F3BEFEUERTE) (level 3 recurring fair value) 2,078,100 2,092,900
NE Additions 238 11,990
BEREZTERNZFE (FEt) Interests capitalised (note 7) = 1,007
N EREZ EEFE Net loss from fair value adjustments (87,938) (27,797)
FERFHER Closing balance
(E3BREHENTE) (level 3 recurring fair value) 1,990,400 2,078,100
HERFEESABZRZZ Change in unrealised losses for the
FRNREEBEE year included in profit or loss for
assets held at the end of the year (87,938) (27,797)
NEEEEA LIS E Y EBE The fair value measurement is based on the above
TEROER (EEERARI investment properties’ highest and best use, which does not
HEAE) BEME - differ from their actual use.
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Description Valuation technique

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair

values of the investment properties are determined.

EAREBREARE

Significant unobservable inputs

EXEERER
BAEZEE
Range of
significant
unobservable
inputs

EARERZOABAATEZRE

Relationship of significant
unobservable inputs to fair value

RZFZMERAZTH
As at 30 June 2024

ERARENR
(fERIEHL)
Completed investment  Direct comparison approach
properties
(individual units)

BRUEE

ERARENR
(B4RE)

Completed investment  Income capitalisation method
property (whole block)

Y EMEE

WEEE WIELE KIRERE

Quality of properties such as location, size
and level of the properties

B %

Capitalisation rate

REHAE

Reversionary rental

43% - +18%

3%

BENZ
SEAR

B R52ETL-
14457
HK$52 to
HK$144 per
square foot
per month

for commercial
premises

WERERTEL BN EERR
ATERS:

The higher the quality of properties with
reference to comparables, the higher
the fair value.

ERERR ATEAE-

The higher the capitalisation rate, the
lower the fair value.

py

EEREDR ATERR:

=
ot
ot

The higher the reversionary rental, the
higher the fair value.
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+5 BEWE @) 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
EXREEE
Gt b EXEABRRAE WAEZEE EXBABRRNERATEZBE
Range of
significant
unobservable Relationship of significant
Description Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs inputs unobservable inputs to fair value

R-B-=F/ A=tH

As at 30 June 2023

BERRENZ BEERE NEEE INELE N REE -69% - +26% MERERATEENX SR
(fE5I%fz) RHERR.

Completed investment  Direct comparison approach Quality of properties such as location, size The higher the quality of properties with
properties and level of the properties reference to comparables, the higher
(individual nits) the fair value.

BERRENZ WEERLE B = 25%-3% BXfciERs ATERE.
(BfEtR)

Completed investment  Income capitalisation method Capitalisation rate The higher the capitalisation rate, the
property (whole block) lower the fair value.

fR5HE EEES EREEDS ATERR
LR
SR53AT-
WUTET
Reversionary rental HK$53 to The higher the reversionary rental, the
HK$147 per higher the fair value.
square foot
per month
for commercial
premises

RZEZWEFEASA=+H K& As at 30 June 2024, the Group's investment properties

R 1 £ %81,990,400,000/% 7T with carrying amounts of HK$1,990,400,000 (2023:
— &~ =14:2,078,100,000% HK$2,078,100,000) were pledged to secure certain bank

TL)ZIEBEMEDER EAR borrowings granted to the Group (note 32).

REER 5T RITEEZ BT
(HiEE=+=) >
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+t - BE 17. GOODWILL

(o))

REBEE ORI 2 BRI
ROBREXEKEEE N28H
CEEEMN ([EEKXBERCE
A B(7 | ) Novell Enterprises Inc.
([Novell |) - & Bé re Z R BRI

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to Novell Enterprises Inc. (“Novell”) under
cash-generating unit of Jewellery Business in US (“Jewellery
US CGU"). Particulars regarding the impairment testing on
goodwill are disclosed in note 19.

Z BRI T K E -
2024 2023
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$000
FYRE S5 Opening net carrying amount 8,124 8,124
JEEE Impairment loss (8,124) =
FRIREF R Closing net carrying amount — 8,124
- BREE 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2024 2023
F#ET FET
HKS$'000 HK$°000
FYIRRE S Opening net carrying amount 8,291 8,300
B EE Impairment loss (965) =
P& 34 Exchange realignment (22) )
FRIRE 5 Closing net carrying amount 7,304 8,291

R-_ZE_-_WEXA=+8"
7,304,000 L (ZE ==
8,291,000 L) 2 G IR EEF &
EREBTFEHTIERE
BB E EHRIZR 97
B R AT S E AR
A5 fF A [Wright & Lido ] &
[Lieberfarb | i k& 54 18 2 sk & #
Fl-BEZRA ZEEEZEANT
MEAR B A A KAER  JEE
ERBAAAEEELEFRER
A Btk BB EREE A FERF
H-BREREERBEIRZF
BRAM LI EE -

As at 30 June 2024, intangible assets of trademarks
amounting to HK$7,304,000 (2023: HK$8,291,000) were
arising from a business combination in prior years. Intangible
assets represent the perpetual right to use of brand name
of “Wright & Lido” and “Lieberfarb” which takes the form
of sign, symbol, name, logo design or any combination
thereof. The directors considered these trademarks have an
indefinite useful life since they are registered with a legally
perpetual life and expected to generate net cash inflows to
the Group indefinitely. Particulars of the impairment testing
on intangible assets are disclosed in note 19.
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BE-Z

THFERA=ZTRIEFE

+N\

+7 -

BEEE @

RZE-_WMESA=+H"
7,304,000 T (ZE = =4 :

8,291,000/87) v B EEE E
B ERAEBER 2 —MRIRIT
BEZER(FE=1+=) -

BEREEEAER
ﬁ%zﬁﬂﬁmﬁ
EEZBENR

RETRENR HETER
TADRIFTE RSB EEE A E
FHCHENRENEEZ 28K
HELHEVEEXERERESE
AB-BREFENS KA
BEETANERAFHZAERE
FREEIN 2 RIS M EE 0 &
ThRNETELRSRNYE
RS e st I (s PR A B EE B R AR
FARE R BB E AT ASSEIER
EReELABM-

BELKEVEEMBXBEIRER

SEABM RO EEERA

FEBBEKRAZE (F3E
NRFEFHE)EE -XBKER
SELBM 2 AERFERT R
HREEXRER RAHERER
EREERRAGORNER B
THERMITREFEER AR

7

R-ZZE_MFERA=+H £H
KERSELBM 2 A HERL
ERNERERTSELEE K
FHRREREL R AR 2 hEE
BEHHEL X -AEXBKER
TELBN A FHERERZE
R BRERIA B (S EMTT 2 & fE
E RRE

18.

19.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

As at 30 June 2024, intangible assets of HK$7,304,000
(2023: HK$8,291,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 32).

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH
INDEFINITE USEFUL LIFE

For the purpose of impairment testing, all the carrying
amounts of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives set out in notes 17 and 18, respectively, have
been allocated to the Jewellery US CGU. In addition to
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives,
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
set out in notes 14 and 15, respectively that generate cash
flows together with the related goodwill and intangible
assets are also included in the Jewellery US CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of the Jewellery US CGU to which
the goodwill and intangible assets belongs was determined
based on the measurement of fair value less costs of
disposal, a level 3 fair value measurement. The valuation
of the Jewellery US CGU was carried out by Peak Vision
Appraisals Limited, an independent valuation firm who
held recognised and relevant professional qualifications and
had recent experience in the category of the goodwill and
intangible assets being valued.

The fair value less costs of disposal of the Jewellery US
CGU as at 30 June 2024 was measured using the market-
based approach taking into account the enterprise value to
sales ratio of selected comparable companies. The variables
and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the
Jewellery US CGU were based on the independent valuation
firm’'s best estimate.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z_MFEA=1THILFE

0]

th- ERERENER 19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
FHZEERER AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH
BEZBERAR INDEFINITE USEFUL LIFE (continued)
(&)
ZITEZ ERNERE R A BN The significant unobservable inputs into the approach were
T as follows:
EXRIEHZE
ool 11 BMANEEHE EAREIBEANERELTEZENRER
Range of
significant
unobservable Relationship of significant
2024 inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
B E Y3 L R 0.08%1.43 CEEEWHELEEE ATEES
The range of enterprise value to 0.08 to 1.43 The higher the range of enterprise value to

sales ratio

BRZ TSR B IERRER
Discount for lack of marketability

2R B
Control premium

AEEBEEEERNTHERRE
T EBREREELEENZ
A Uk [B] 4 A 4514,088,00078 JT °
BEREEAST - ZRX A B
CHE ERNGEBEEREME
ER=ZRADBIGRE SRS
174,000 T 2% R E k&
#-717,0008 L2 ERAEE
B~ 8,124,000 JT 2 B & LA &
965,000/ JT 2 & 2 & E W 5 R
{8 /&5 18 #99,980,0007% JT » Bl B
BEEEFARSE 2 KRE S8
BoEh HEZHEERBERES
JE5 18 Je A5 & B AN 3 0 o

sales ratio, the higher the fair value

28.80% M= mERBHERREERR A FELK
The higher the discount for lack
of marketability, the lower the fair value

25.10% THERENS A TEES
The higher the control premium,
the higher the fair value

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of
the Group determined that the recoverable amount of the
Jewellery US CGU, amounted to HK$14,088,000, is lower
than its carrying amount. Based on the recoverable amount,
impairment loss of approximately HK$9,980,000 have been
recognised against the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, amounting to HK$174,000, right-of-use
assets, amounting to HK$717,000, goodwill amounting
to HK$8,124,000, and intangible assets amounting to
HK$965,000 respectively in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. These
impairment losses were included in the Jewellery business
segment of the Group which was mainly attributable to the
loss of key customers and the increase in operation costs.
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BE-Z

THFERA=ZTRIEFE

=+

TRIEHE

20. MINING RIGHT

2024 2023

FiET FAET

HKS$'000 HK$°000

FHARE 5 Opening net carrying amount 477,531 494,940
FRRERE Reversal of impairment for the year 9,406 22,728
bE b 2 Exchange realignment (2,883) (40,137)
FORAREHEE Closing net carrying amount 484,054 477,531
IREAR%E Gross carrying amount 896,060 901,504
RETEEH Accumulated amortisation (4,056) (4,081)
REORERE Accumulated provision for impairment (407,950) (419,892)
AREF3E Net carrying amount 484,054 477,531

ST TR ER - N
ZHEARA=TH AEEER
EHAEETYE BERRE
ARFEEEORETR (FHEH

R ETEE=T) B
DEZEHRT S EENEBERE
&) o

BRUE 1 P B SRR IR & A A B AL
Z AT Bl & BERN QAR HE
KA E (F3BAFENE)
BE-HKBRSELEMIZG
ERFARA RERERER
R G EREE R RIER RS
TR B 2 BN (L (ERM 1T R A B
BFGHARAB(ZR_=%F:
PMBEFEERAE)ET

R-ZE-_WMENA=+H KiE
BEELBMNIZAFERLE
RAERMHEEL(ZF==
FMBEER)FERHALHEE
REFTE-HERBERCELE
Iz AFERER 2 EHRR
BB HEMTT 2 RIEGET A
RIE °

As disclosed in note 14, as at 30 June 2024, the
management of the Group identified impairment indicator
of certain property, plant and equipment and mining right
may have decreased with details as set out in notes 14 and
20, primarily due to the change in price of market gold
price.

The recoverable amount of the Mining CGU II to which
the mining right belongs was determined based on the
measurement of fair value less costs of disposal, a level 3
fair value measurement. The valuation of the Mining CGU
Il was carried out by BMI Appraisals Limited (2023: BMI
Appraisals Limited), an independent valuation firm who held
recognised and relevant professional qualifications and had
recent experience in the location and category of the mining
right being valued.

The fair value less costs of disposal of the Mining CGU Il
as at 30 June 2024 was measured using recent sale and
purchase transactions under the market-based approach
(2023: market-based approach). The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the Mining
CGU Il were based on the independent valuation firm’s best
estimate.

O
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o

=+ RERE ) 20. MINING RIGHT (continued)
ZAEZ BERERE R AEN The significant unobservable inputs into the approach were
e as follows:
—FE_ME
2024
R EEERZ T EEHE 30%%100%

The range of uncertainty of estimated gold resources

RHBRERRERH

Adjusted consideration to resources multiple

—EZ=HF

2023

A ESERZ T HEEHE

The range of uncertainty of estimated gold resources

RHABERRERH

Adjusted consideration to resources multiple

Mt E S ERZ T EE S E R
5 ATFERE-ZLHAEERK

o

30% to 100%

Fr ARK37.837T (IHENER40478TT) 2
Fr AR56.157T (FBE R & 5260.08747T)
RMB37.83 per gram (equivalent to HK$40.47
per gram) to RMB56.15 per gram (equivalent to
HK$60.08 per gram)

30% 2 100%

30% to 100%

BrARK40.127T (HBERER43.198TT) E
Fr ARM51.547T (HERER554887T)
RMB40.12 per gram (equivalent to HK$43.19
per gram) to RMB51.54 per gram (equivalent to
HK$55.48 per gram)

The higher the range of uncertainty of the estimated gold
resources was, the lower the fair value was. The higher the
BEEgms AFEAS- adjusted consideration of resources multiple was, the higher

the fair value was.

B ERMTTMEE BIRTHEE
MR ITE B R A - LARCE S E

The independent valuation firm exercised their professional
judgement to estimate the uncertainty of resources to

By improve the valuation technique.
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1+ REE 2 20. MINING RIGHT (continued)

AEEEEEENTHERE
EORBRESEEBAMIZ TR
[o] < %8 A&407,530,0007 7T (=
T — =4 : 404,139,000 7T)
SEREEASE -RZREE
HEBAITE  RERE (EEH
SR ER) BRI EESLE
M RE REE FREEE
REGEE At SEEEZR
ALBEITRBREEAEQAFE
WMEEKRA HFEAEAEARS
ZEE A REA IR E S BT
BERHBE ERGEEZRE
2 T W 2 7= A9 Bl BE 168,000
BILZWE BE R&ELR
9,406,000/ 7T 2 FRAEHE 2 BR A
S % (—T = =%:419,000/
7T }22,728,0007% 7t ) 1 R R B
&5 18 #& [ 499,574,0005% 7T ( —
T~ =4 :23,147,000/8 7T ) °
BEGEEEETALERZ
HEXG B -HET BT E
2,352,000 L (ZE = =% :
5,682,000/ 7T ) E N iBm R
RFTERRX

Based on the result of the assessment, the management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount of
the Mining CGU II, amounted to HK$407,530,000 (2023:
HK$404,139,000), is higher than its carrying amount.
For this cash-generating unit, the reversal of impairment
amount, before offsetting tax effect, has been allocated pro
rata to each category of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and mining right such that the carrying
amounts of each category of asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal, its value in use
and zero. Based on the recoverable amount calculation and
the allocation, reversal of impairment loss of approximately
HK$9,574,000 (2023: HK$23,147,000) have been
recognised against the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, amounting to HK$168,000, and mining
rights, amounting to HK$9,406,000, respectively (2023:
HK$419,000 and HK$22,728,000) in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
The reversal of impairment loss was included in the mining
operation segment of the Group. The related tax effect
amounting to HK$2,352,000 (2023: HK$5,682,000) was
recognised as an income tax expense in profit or loss.
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BE—Z

“MERNA=THIEFE

“t+— REERARZHE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

o
Im

2024 2023

F#ET FET

HK$'000 HK$000

Bl EESFE Share of net assets 25,151 27,460

VR Provision for impairment (3,898) (3,898)

21,253 23,562

“EPNEARAZ+TAER-ZE
=FRA= +E1 FEBER
RlZFBEM T

Il?&L

Particulars of the principal associate as at 30 June 2024 and
30 June 2023 are as follows:

ML/ FEEER
E1 BHREMEAFHE A RS R BEEEZANL IEXH
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ ownership interest
Particulars of paid-up registration and attributable to
Name registered capital operations the Group Principal activities
Metropolitan Opportunity B &R &747,582,398% T REMHS/ Bk 30 REER
Fund SPC* Paid up capital of USD7,582,398  Cayman Islands/ (ZZZ=%:30) Investment holdings
Hong Kong (2023: 30)
* EEBABUEERSTAE 5 Not audited by BDO Limited or other BDO member firms.

BRAERARBRILERERLZ
Hpk B QAR

%%%ﬁ'ﬁtmﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ

EYEFTNELBEARER
ﬁmﬁ$$lﬁﬁﬁéﬂﬂ%k
BLEEFE-ESRA RE
HtttE AR 2 B8N ER
HENAVIIE =

The above associate of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the share of associates’
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
share of net asset of the associate by the Group. To give
details of other associates would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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—t+— REEQARIZE 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
m (&)
PSS F E B & 2 A The summarised financial information of Metropolitan
Metropolitan Opportunity Fund Opportunity Fund SPC, a principal associate of the Group,
SPCZHBERME (Ftrg & extracted from its management accounts are as follows:

BB :

2024 2023
Fi# T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RANA=+H As at 30 June
mENE EE Current assets 70,553 78,140
FERBEE Non-current assets - -
mEAE Current liabilities (280) (232)
EREEE Non-current liabilities - -
BEFE Net assets 70,273 77,908
NS E iy /NG Group's share of the net assets
BEFE of the associate 21,253 23,562
BEANAZ+THILEEE For the year ended 30 June
Wz Revenue = -
FAEE Loss for the year (7,422) (21,801)
H 2 T s Other comprehensive income (213) (131)
EEIl G L Total comprehensive income (7,635) (21,932)
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BE—Z

“MERNA=THIEFE

— - REELEZE 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
=
2024 2023
F#T FET
HK$'000 HK$000
Bl EESFE Share of net assets 1,038 1,039
A& EER Due to joint ventures (1,036) (1,036)

EC—?—P;[‘E'E/\H —i—El&—T
—=FRA=TRH X221

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand.

Particulars of the principal joint ventures as at 30 June 2024

and 30 June 2023 are as follows:

EZHBUWT:
BT RAERK G301
A7 B/ HEME RS A MRS e FEEEERARESTNL TEXH
Place of
Particulars of issued and  incorporation/
paid-up share capital/ registration and Percentage of ownership Principal
Name registered capital operations interest attributable to the Group  activities
2024 2023
Reta Investment 10,000 BRERIZET RERLES/ AF 50% 50% &K
Holding Limited ZERER British Virgin Islands/ Investment
10,000 ordinary shares of Hong Kong holding
US$1 each
Metropolitan Capital 5,000,000/ B E0.01 HEHE,/&BE 33% 33% ALK
ETLLER Cayman Islands/ Investment
5,000,000 ordinary shares Hong Kong holding

of US$0.01 each
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REBERE & ¥*Reta
Investment Holding Limited
([Reta Investment | » 7 2 & B2
ZRHEFMKIRRBAEE L
BUEBMEER)HEAS0% (=
T=F:50% ) a0 ItoN - A
S B R & & 1 3 Metropolitan
Capital (RF =8 S M &
NEBEEZ BN ARIEERE)
HAE33% (ZFT=_=4F:33%)
B - aNTHERAREEIRE
HEHZECELHEEFEE
£ ZHEF| > MReta Investment
Metropolitan Capital=®= & # A ¥
EEREECEIREEGESR
FEBEZEE - RESBHBE®
HERENR  ZEEERHE
BHEAGENRF WESRAER
ERERE B HRER AR

“+Z - REELEZE 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
= (&) (continued)

The Group has 50% (2023: 50%) interests in joint ventures,
Reta Investment Holding Limited (“Reta Investment”),
a separate structured vehicle incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and operating in Hong Kong. In addition,
the Group also has 33% (2023: 33%) interest in joint
ventures, Metropolitan Capital, a separate structured vehicle
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and operating in Hong
Kong. The contractual arrangement provides the Group with
only the rights to the net assets of these joint arrangements,
with the rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities
of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Reta
Investment and Metropolitan Capital. Under HKFRS 11,
these joint arrangements are classified as joint ventures
and have been accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method.

ul
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(@)

—+I . REBCEZR
W (&)

ERIFFEREEREREIGHRAR

22.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)

Summarised financial information for individually immaterial

BHRER M BEERBEDT -

joint ventures attributable to the consolidated financial
statements as follows:

2024 2023
F#ET FEIT
HKS$'000 HK$'000
m7~A=+H As at 30 June
ERIFEERE EBER Aggregate carrying amount of individually
REMBHREKRZ immaterial joint ventures in the
4 BETH & K consolidated financial statements 1,038 1,039
HENA=THILFE Year ended 30 June
FEREEREZER Aggregate amount of the results of
#AFE immaterial joint ventures:
—FREE — Loss for the year ) (5)
2H RS AR Total comprehensive income ) (5)
REBEMRSEMESELE  Aggregate amount of the Group’s share
#AFE of results of the joint ventures:
—FREE — Loss for the year 1) )
2H RS ARRE Total comprehensive income 1) )
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“—+= UAFEFAE 23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
ﬁi’.éﬁllﬂlﬁ"ﬁZ:% THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
AL E INCOME
2024 2023
HizE FET FET
ERBEE Non-current assets Notes HK$000 HK$000
ITHBEARKE: Listed equity investments,
[ R/NC = at fair value:
BB Hong Kong 16,956 18,414
H {th3th 75 Elsewhere 499 1,508
(@) 17,455 19,922

H b 75 2 3F EMmARAS Unlisted equity investments in
& AAYE elsewhere, at fair value @) = 144

EHES UATE Listed bonds, at fair value

B Hong Kong 2,298 2,266
H 3075 Elsewhere 2,250 2,160
(b) 4,548 4,426
#Et Total 22,003 24,492
MENEE Current assets
EmfESH LARATFE  Listed bonds, at fair value
Efuin 5 Elsewhere (b) = 2,308
Htaz - Notes:
(a) BHRAEERRZE LT R (a) The listed and unlisted equity investments were irrevocably
IE EMRAK B B R 1 designated at fair value through other comprehensive
B - B N AT B 48 E % income as the Group considers these investments to be
EREANNTFEFAEME strategic in nature.
W ES o
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0]

U ATEFANE
tEmBEZE
BMEE #)

Hrat: (%)

23.

(b) ZELMEFZAEHNBRER
EMERRAE RFE WA
SEEBEABENE
ARG AR RE R
EERMEEMETNER
ZE EMEFOFERENTF
1.47%%=3.88% (ZZE ==

F:1.47%%23.88% )

HH-Z-_HAFtAE=T

—RENA(ZE==F:=

T _NFERAE_FT_AF

HA)TZE-

BRAKBENEERR IR
BLEmESNEERROE
ZHBENMIE483

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

|NCON“H@MMW¢

Notes: (continued)

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

(b) The listed bonds where the contractual cash flows are
solely principal and interest and the objective of the Group's
business model is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets. The listed bonds
carried interest rates ranging from 1.47% to 3.88% (2023:
1.47% to 3.88%) per annum and had various maturity

dates from July 2025 to September 2025 (2023: May
to September 2025).

2024

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk

arising from the listed bonds are set out in note 48.3.

(© TR B R iER : (© The following gains were recognised in profit or loss:
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RIBEFER AR FEFT A Dividends from equity investments
Hit2EW R 2 held at fair value through other
BRARE SRS : comprehensive income recognised in
profit or loss:
HRFHERAREZ Related to investments held at
"ELRH year end date 1,129 1,100
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BE-Z

THFERA=ZTRIEFE

Z+m - BERPMERSF

EYES

RAEMBIRNEK 2 BRTIER
HEVEERE:

24,

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
AND PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Properties under development and properties for sale in the
consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

2024 2023

F#T FETL

HK$'000 HK$'000

ERPYE Properties under development 210,871 657,777
FEYE Properties for sale 274,252 =
485,123 657,777

RER MR FE Y E
141,031,000 L (Z &2 ==
T+ HUR B B P 1 349,859,000

BT ERGEEaEMEE
Wsn R P HERR o
R_ZE_MFERAR=+H"

%*E#%%&?%E%%m
210,871,000 L (=& = =
¢-243,714,000/am)%ﬁ,ﬁﬁ?\g
RS B BERE AR+
B A RER -

R_ZE_WEXA=1+H &&E
] 48 B /) )5 38 49 /5485,123,000
B (ZE==%:657,777,000
B ERTYERGEME
EER ERAEEER 2 —
MIBITEERE 2 ER (M
=t=)-

During the year, a write-down of properties for sale of
HK$141,031,000 (2023: write-down of properties under
development of HK$49,859,000) have been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

As at 30 June 2024, properties under development
and properties for sale amounting to approximately
HK$210,871,000 (2023: HK$243,714,000) were not
expected to be realised within the next twelve months from
the end of the reporting date.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group's properties under
development and properties for sale with aggregate net
carrying amounts of approximately HK$485,123,000 (2023:
HK$657,777,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 32).

O
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N
(@)

“t+H FE 25. INVENTORIES
2024 2023
F#ET FET
HK$000 HK$ 000
AR Raw materials 35,596 53,533
R Work in progress 8,900 5,974
BUAK TR Finished goods 111,185 123,666
155,681 183,173
R-Z_WESA=+H KM@ As at 30 June 2024, certain inventories with

#2%833,607,0008 L (Z & ==
159,122,000 L) 2K/ T1F
BEEEH EAAEEER 2 —
MIBITEERE 2 ER (K

facilities granted to the Group (note 32).

aggregate carrying amounts of HK$33,607,000 (2023:
HK$59,122,000) were pledged to secure general banking

=+=)-
—t7x - BESERWUKE 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
Fi#& T FETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
=Y A& L] Trade receivables 67,724 71,968
R FEUR FRIE 2 REREE  Less: provision for impairment of receivables (6,325) (7,377)
E SN GRIE — F 58 Trade receivables — net 61,399 64,591
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Z+5 - BEZEWFE 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(&)

AEE—RIEBITFEENLR
ZREFPZIER ERLERE
EEHREIRTERPZEE
FR-BREPHRAERRER
B o AR E Y E R EE B WA
MR BB IR S - B RA R R
EIEE T HEE -

MR B - BB E & R 8
EER B2 E 5 EWFERER
DHTER

The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers
according to industry practice together with consideration
of their creditability, repayment history and years of
establishment. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are regularly
reviewed by senior management.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of provision, as
at the reporting date, based on the date of recognition of
the sale, is as follows:

2024 2023

F#ET FET

HK$'000 HK$000

0-30H 0 - 30 days 24,993 42,073
31 -60H 31 - 60 days 18,766 15,579
61-90H 61— 90 days 14,611 4,600
908 KA Over 90 days 3,029 2,339
61,399 64,591

BHASEEEIRAE D ER
HEEENEERRANE—TFH
BE A FE48.3 ©

AR _NFERNA=Z1+H KA
#%¥87,050,0008 L (ZFE ==
18,398,000 L) 2B T &
SEBKIECER  (EAREE
B2 —RIBTEERE 2 ER
(E=+=) -

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivable are set out in note 48.3.

As at 30 June 2024, certain trade receivables with aggregate
carrying amounts of HK$7,050,000 (2023: HK$18,398,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to
the Group (note 32).

N
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Zt+t - UATERAE 27. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT
HZERMEE FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
&R LOSS
2024 2023
HtaE F#ET FAET
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
EREEE Non-current assets
HEEE Investment fund, at fair value
AFEERTE
B Hong Kong 5,795 6,039
HAth i 77 Elsewhere 4,272 4,009
(a) 10,067 10,048
MEEE Current assets
BB ETIRAF S Listed equity securities in
AAFEFE Hong Kong, at fair value (b) 2,505 2,955
BERERE Certificate of deposits in
LA A ER = Hong Kong, at fair value (d) - 3,899
PTESHTA: Derivative financial instruments
AAFERE at fair value (© 16 =
2,521 6,854
mBaR Current liabilities
MTEemIT A Derivative financial instruments
AT EFE at fair value (© = 18
MEVEAEIE NAAFEF AR Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or
ZEREE/BENGEEESR loss under current assets presented within the section on
ERNKLEEEH —HETR/EE operating activities as part of changes in working capital in

Bo@B)z—2n - the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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=5

Bt

NUNEEES PN
HZEREE
afE @

BB AR A S R A
BEXREREZREEST
i E S RE AR FEE
ANBHEAERGE-

EHRAESDFEEE

R-ZE-_WEXA=+H8"
AEBZHTES BT AIEN
EHEEZIINESERAEL
ANFE TR AR © S IR
HZREFE - ZFRPE
#) 2 T8 £200,0005 7T ( =
= — = 4 : 400,000 7T ) -
MATEZEA N2 R T
FE RN F1REEH1.2725 T
E1HEEEH1.28374= T (=
T =F 1R 1.2517F
TTE1HEEEH1.2612%7T)
HEBRBR-T_OMFLAE
—ENFEAATE(ZE
—=F:HZE=-_=FtA
E-T-_=FhA)-

RZE_=FA=+8"
BREENR=_Z==F/\A
B3 K F F %= £5.03% ©

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR

LOSS (continued)

Notes:

(@) The investment fund with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest is classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of

the business model.

(b) The listed equity securities are held for trading.

() As at 30 June 2024, the Group's derivative financial
instruments represented foreign currency forward contracts
denominated in GBP and the fair values are based on
the quoted prices from the relevant financial institutions.
The notional amounts of these forward contracts are
US$200,000 (2023: US$400,000) and the forward currency
rates of all these contracts ranged from GBP1:US$1.272
to GBP1:US$1.28374 (2023: GBP1:US$1.2517 to
GBP1:US$1.2612) with various maturity dates from
July 2024 to September 2024 (2023: from July 2023 to

September 2023).

(d) As at 30 June 2023, the certificate of deposits were
entered with maturity in August 2023 and interest rate of

5.03% per annum.

AT (E518) e B e T (e) The following (losses)/gains were recognised in profit or
A loss:
2024 2023
F#ET F&T
HK$°000 HK$°000
HEg s ANE Fair value losses on equity investments
AAFEFAERZ at fair value through profit or loss in
BA®E 2 A FEBE other operating income (450) (909)
Eg s ANE Fair value gains/(losses) on
AAFEFAERZ debt investments at fair value
BHIRE 2 A TFE through profit or loss in other
Wz, (&18) operating income 19 (812)
HAb & EWANE Fair value gains/(losses) on derivative
PTEERIAZATE financial instruments in other
Wz, (&18) operating income 80 (578)

N
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H

—+\ - REHAS=E 28. TIME DEPOSIT WITH ORIGINAL
AU EZEHEF MATURITIES OVER THREE MONTHS
N
RZEZ=FA=+H 5B As at 30 June 2023, all bank deposits had remaining
RITERNBRTHRE R —F maturities within one year. These bank deposit carried
A o 5% FIRITIF IR F A E interest at the average interest rate of 5.01% per annum.
5.01%zT 8
“th RERBEEFER 29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Re MR FRBREUATHD Cash and cash equivalents include the following
components:
2024 2023
FET FET
HKS$'000 HK$°000
R ERSRITIF X Short-term bank deposits 16,248 51,605
e MIRITHEH Cash and bank balances 32,908 39,090
49,156 90,695

BITHEBERSARITERFA
EREVEBFE R T _MF
ANA=ZTRH - BEMRTERZE
FHAR=EAN(ZE=_=4F:
MEAA)  EEFE354%=
5.00% (ZE = =4 :490%%
5.80% ) BRELF 2. o

AREMEERR ARNRITRE
R SRR R - A ERE
FHSRUTESEAEZR-

The bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. As at 30 June 2024, the short-
term bank deposits are made for varying periods within
three months (2023: within two months) and earn interest
ranged from 3.54% to 5.00% (2023: 4.90% to 5.80%) per
annum.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair values
of the cash at banks are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because of the short maturity period on
their inception.
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“th ReERBEEER 29.

(#&)

RZZE_NNFNA=+H K&
BEAAREFECRS RIRT
45 52 49 53,596,000 T (=
— =%:3,157,000 B7t) * B
FIETF AR B RRERTHEF
BERA ARBIW I BB AT
2B o IR R B K FE 2 SNEE
IR {50 e 5 BE ~ 5 BB R T [ B 22
HE ASBEESRESEE
TTHNE 15 < SRITHE A R HE Wi
RINEE o

it & 1+ SR 1B & FE =T
gH

B HRNRBZ EERREEE
TR R 1 E Z M AR -
RBERH EREREH A
B2 5 & SIA R iR 2 A7 40

+ - BSEMNIEH 30.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(continued)

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had cash and bank
balances denominated in Renminbi ("'RMB"”) amounting
to approximately HK$3,596,000 (2023: HK$3,157,000),
which were deposits with banks in Mainland China or held
in hand. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under the
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES/OTHER PAYABLES
AND ACCRUALS

The credit terms of trade payables vary according to the
terms agreed with different suppliers. The ageing analysis of
trade payables of the Group as at the reporting date, based
on the invoice dates, is as follows:

T
2024 2023
Fi&T FEIT
HK$000 HK$ 000
0-30H 0 — 30 days 17,676 29,790
31 -60H 31 - 60 days 9,468 14,213
61 -90H 61 — 90 days 8,281 5,270
90H KA Over 90 days 24,345 26,406
59,770 75,679

N
ul
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=+ ESEMKIEH
fth FE 1 FXIE B FE =t
2R »

HMEMNFAEBEATERA

30. TRADE PAYABLES/OTHER PAYABLES
AND ACCRUALS (continued)

Other payables included the following items:

2024 2023

Fi&T FEIT

HK$’000 HK$'000

He REMRE Rental and other deposits 9,508 7,696

ERRES Retention payables 3,194 19,758

RHRB 2 Long service payment 478 =

fEEtRE Accrued liabilities 13,614 19,965

Hh &~ 5RI8 * Other payables* 10,920 23,621

37,714 71,040

* HiERIEEEREMNE & Other payables mainly represent staff costs and
TR R BRI o construction cost payables.

B 5B FR - H e 5IR &
EHERARHIME Hib- &
ERREZENFR  EMEN
AN EFERRmEREQF
BRRE-

Trade payables, other payables and accruals are short term
in nature and hence, the directors consider the carrying
amount of trade payables, other payables and accruals
approximate to their fair values.

+— BHIER 31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2024 2023
FET FETT
HK$'000 HK$ 000
HEEMEAZAKNAR Contract liabilities arising from
sale of goods 343 354
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=t+—- BHEERE ® 31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
TESRNBESTE BB RIE Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
;AT contract liabilities are as follows:
HEREHH Sale of jewellery
REERHEREFHMIM A Certain deposit the Group receives on sale of jewellery
Tl MBEHNARE EEES remains as a contract liability until such time as the work
K TIERBRZ BRI - completed to date outweighs it.
BREBEZE2E Movement in contract liabilities
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$000
FHEEER Balance as at beginning of the year 354 268
AHBERREYZEH  Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
BERNFANERR of recognising revenue during the
Wezs i om 2 year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (354) (268)
BHARBEBLEESR Increase in contract liabilities as a result
0 of billing in advance 343 354
FRAEER Balance at end of the year 343 354

N
o
~
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(03]

=+ RITEX

RITEREASBZOMAT

32. BANK LOANS

The analysis of the carrying amount of bank loans is as

follows:
2024 2023
F#ET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000
mEaE Current liabilities
R—FEREHEEZ Portion of bank loans due for repayment
RITERHH within one year
—BER - Guaranteed 20,354 15,000
—BEEREER — Secured and guaranteed 169,368 126,029
189,722 141,029
R—F &R HREE Portion of bank loans due for repayment
BEBRERER after one year which contain a repayable
B2 RITERE on demand clause
—BIEE R EER — Secured and guaranteed 692,784 713,358
882,506 854,387
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
R—FRIREEZ Portion of bank loans due for repayment
RITERHH after one year
—BIEE R EER — Secured and guaranteed 153,730 203,990
RZZB_MERA=+H R1T At 30 June 2024, the bank loans were scheduled to repay as
ERZERREERET follows:
2024 2023
F#ET FET
HK$000 HK$ 000
RITERK: Bank loans:
AR—FNEE Repayable within one year 189,722 141,029
BARE-FEEE Repayable in the second year 815,593 240,694
BRE=ZFERF Repayable in the third to fifth year,
(BREEMF)EE inclusive 30,921 676,654
1,036,236 1,058,377




Annual Report 2024 “F #f;
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE_Z-_NFRA=THILFE

=+=- JRITEFR # 32. BANK LOANS (continved)

NS BEAE R R E 2 5T 8
EFREHAEE  BYWAFHEM
RERKEFTIEX T E -

RZZE-_WFNA=F+H &
SENUABTRETIEZRIT
Bz E R E1,024,440,00075
7T (ZZ = =% :1,036,213,000
77T ) £680,000% 7T (HER
5,353,0007L) (ZE=Z=4%:
|)BHTHIEE EERER:

@ AHKHEKRBHMED
1,990,400,000%

The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment

dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect

of any repayment on demand clause.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s bank loans facilities
denominated in HK$ of HK$1,024,440,000 (2023:
HK$1,036,213,000) and in US$ of US$680,000 (equivalent
to HK$5,353,000) (2023: Nil) were secured/guaranteed by
the followings:

legal charges over the Group’s investment
properties with carrying values of approximately

T(Z T = = & : HK$1,990,400,000 (2023: HK$2,078,100,000) (note
2,078,100,0007 70) 2 16);

‘EWME (MRET) 2

EERE

b AEBE®EFELY
2,515,000 T (==&
— =4 :4,006,000/8 7T )
Y BB KR (K
FHHm) 2EERR

(© N &E B EM®@MEY
2,152,000 T (=&
—=%:2,244,000%
L) EREEE (K&
+ 1) 2 EEHRRE

d AXEBEKEH@MELD
485,123,000/ 7t ( =
T F BERERPYE
657,777,0005% JT ) 2 %
R RFEWE (B
W) ZEAEMRRE

legal charges over the Group's property, plant
and equipment (note 14) with net carrying
values of approximately HK$2,515,000 (2023:
HK$4,006,000);

legal charges over the Group’s right-of-use assets
(note 15) with carrying values of approximately
HK$2,152,000 (2023: HK$2,244,000);

legal charges over the Group's properties under
development and properties for sale with carrying
values of approximately HK$485,123,000 (2023:
properties under development of HK$657,777,000)
(note 24);

N
O
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=+= - R|RTER @ 32. BANK LOANS (continued)

() AR R K& IEEH (e)  corporate guarantees of HK$1,334,520,000 (2023:
=R ED A HK$1,340,260,000) and HK$211,300,000 (2023:
#1,334,520,000% HK$211,300,000) executed by the Company and
T (=T = = & non-controlling interests respectively;

1,340,260,000/ 7T ) &
211,300,000/ 75 (==&
— =4%:211,300,000/%

TL) Z R AER

) RAGIEEREE 2B A f) ordinary shares of an indirectly owned subsidiary of
AlzEBR: the Company;

(99 AEEEEEREYFEZA (99  assignment of rental income of investment
WA R properties of the Group; and

(hy AEEEZZHRP\VER (h)y  assignment of sale proceeds of properties under
HEMEZHEEMER development and properties for sale of the Group.
I8 o

RZZBZ_MESA=+H K As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s bank loan facility

EENETFEZRITER denominated in US$ of US$825,000 (equivalent to

{Z &/ E825,000% T (M= HK$6,443,000) (2023:US$2,829,000 (equivalent to

6,443,000 7L) (ZFE == HK$22,164,000)) was secured/guaranteed by the

£ :2,829,000% T (HHER followings:

22,164,000 7T) ) T 53 B

TR R

(a) RNEBKR®EFED (a) legal charges over the Group’s property, plant
1,322,0008 7L (=& and equipment (note 14) with net carrying
— =% :1,843,0007% JT) values of approximately HK$1,322,000 (2023:
ZWE - BB K& (T HK$1,843,000);
Hm) 2 EERR
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=+= - RITEX @ 32. BANK LOANS (continued)
(b) AN E[B7,304,00078 T (b) Intangible assets of HK$7,304,000 (note 18) (2023:
— =~ =%:8,291,000 HK$8,291,000), inventories of HK$33,607,000 (note
BIL) 2 EREE (W 25) (2023: HK$59,122,000) and trade receivables of
&=+ /1) +33,607,000 HK$7,050,000 (note 26) (2023: HK$18,398,000) of
BT (T == F: the Group; and

59,122,000 T) 2
FE(KHE_+H)R
7,050,000 T (=&
— =4%:18,398,000/8
7)) 2 B 5 eI (M

HZTR) K
(© KRANBEBEYLESEA (© corporate guarantees of HK$31,236,000 (2023:

31,236,000/8 0 (=& HK$31,343,000) executed by the Company.

— =% :31,343,000%

TC) 2N AR o
REBBTFEZRITER The bank loans of the Group denominated in HK$ of
1,024,440,0008 L (= F = = HK$1,024,440,000 (2023: HK$1,036,213,000) and US$
4 :1,036,213,0005 7. ) & LA in the equivalent amount of HK$11,796,000 (2023:
ELFEZEREBTRITER HK$22,164,000) have floating interest rates ranging from
11,796,000/ &0 (— T = =4 5.05% to0 8.5% (2023: 1.86% to 8.25%) per annum.

22,164,000/ T ) 2 )% B) F FI| &
NF5.05%%E85% (ZE ==
F:1.86%%8.25% ) °

=+=- HE&RE 33. LEASE LIABILITIES

fEREBEAN As lessee

REEPNHLERE 2 AR The Group leases various offices and properties in the
HEZEABRAEZRYWE -AEAL jurisdictions from which it operates. Rental contracts are
A —M A B AR - HEH TS typically made for fixed periods. Lease terms are negotiated
BRI - B8 B2 TRIER on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
Ko A o 10 & 1 5 I B e A 1] terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
ko any covenants.

N
-
—
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=+=- HE&E @ 33.

TERARBAN (&)

AEERKEENKZREDHT

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

As lessee (continued)

The present value of future lease payments of the Group's

R leases are analysed as:
2024 2023
FET FET
HKS$°000 HK$'000
ik ) Current 4,923 4,179
JIERED Non-current 7,834 12,111
12,757 16,290

rEBRELSMELHEHERAR

Reconciliation of the Group’s leases liabilities arising from

2 HRR financing activities:
FET
HK$°000
R-_BE__&#tHA—H As at 1 July 2022 15,718
NE Addition 5,089
FEMAZ Interest expenses 692
HER R Lease payments (5,303)
e 5, 2 Exchange realignment 94
MRIZFEZ=F7A=+H Asat30June 2023 and 1 July 2023
rR-_E-_=#+H—H 16,290
NE Addition 819
FERX Interest expenses 811
HERTK Lease payments (5,286)
HEENR Lease modification 157
RS Exchange realignment (34)
RZFZMWERA=+H Asat30June 2024 12,757
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=+=- - HE&E @ 33. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
EREBAN (&) As lessee (continued)
AEEHE (TRERRES The future lease payments of the Group’s leases (excluding
1&@1@%@.%)2*2:@%1#%(2 short-term and low value leases) were schedule to repay as
EERBRAT: follows:
RIEEEMK & FE
Minimum
lease
payments Principal Interest
T FET FET
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
RZEZMEHA=+H As at 30 June 2024
TEBR—F No later than one year 4,923 5,498 (575)
*?Jﬁi One year to two years 4,370 4,634 (264)
BRMEBRNERAF  Later than two years but not later
than five years 3,464 3,599 (135)
12,757 13,731 (974)

R-ZFEZ=F7xA=-1H As at 30 June 2023

TNEBER—F No later than one year 4,179 4,902 (723)
—EWF One year to two years 8,730 9,495 (765)
BERMFETERAS Later than two years but not later

than five years 3,381 3,503 (122)

16,290 17,900 (1,610)
RZZBZWNERA=THZEE The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
WA RER 2 HEBEFTE applied to lease liabilities recognised in the consolidated
ﬁﬁZ%fﬁ/\bﬂﬁfiﬁi =EEF statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024 is 5.79%
KEBFS79% (ZE=_=4: (2023: 5.84%) per annum.
5.84% ) e
=+ EAIEESEE 34. DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
I8 INTERESTS

ENRIBAEER RERHBA The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and not
AR+ {8 A AEE - repayable within the next twelve months.

N
-
w
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BHE-_Z_MEXA=FTHILFE
=+ - BRI R 35. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES
L |
2024 2023
F#ET FHETT
HKS$'000 HK$'000
REAE Current liabilities
JEAS BB A A Zk 08 Due to related companies (note (a))
(Bt3E@)) 7,379 8,859
EREBEaRE Non-current liabilities
& <t BA B A B FRIE Due to related companies (note (b))
(Ft3E(D)) 30,047 27,987
Htat - Notes:
() R-_ZT-_mEX/ =+ (a) As at 30 June 2024, the amounts due to related companies

H:ERNE@E a?‘”* K IE
6,844,000 L (=T ==
4 16,867,000/ JT ) /& K
PR %S H AR JE R Pacific
Islands Company Limited ( &
RATMITESREL L E
—E=FREVELE)
WA ) RERAREREE -

RZZTE_WESA=+A8"
EREMNEHEZESERAR
(IEH] Wz L (=ZF
=g /N L) AEE
TEIE A 8)7KI8535,0007
T(ZZEZ=F:%))EE
AR %E&/EBA*%EfE
FLA-+_-_HRHE

R-BE-_=FxA=1+8"
J‘&“HE@%’ATT»\I@ 992 000

stiﬁl*)um\a%mxém’aﬂﬁ
RAR([MBH] AARH
TEEH/ |\ RLLAEEE
EIEAB)FIE1,615,000%
F_é_@ﬁzﬂﬂ +/\
B E| 81 & K & T P98
BEREHEZEEERA
Al ([E] AARRRIT
ERE/\RLLTHE) B
377,000/87CH =Z = U4 Y
A-+—BRHEE-

of HK$6,844,000 (2023: HK$6,867,000) were unsecured,
interest-free, which is an amount due to Pacific Islands
Company Limited, which was owned by Mr. Chan Wai
Lap, Victor (2023: Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor), an executive
director of the Company, and repayable on demand.

As at 30 June 2024, the amounts due to

EBMEHRESE

7) ([E44]) of HK$535,000 (2023: Nil), which Ms.
Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (2023: Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley)
was a key management personnel, were unsecured,
interest-free and due for repayment on 22 July 2024.

As at 30 June 2023, the amounts due to related companies
of HK$1,992,000 were unsecured and interest-free, of
which an amount due to EINTIEHZEEZAER
A& ([M8#]), which Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley, an
executive director of the Company was a key management
personnel, of HK$1,615,000 was due for repayment on 26
May 2024, and amount due to ;I P93 5 & 5= = &

RAERAF

([#3:&] ), which was owned by Ms. Cheng

Siu Yin, Shirley, an executive director of the Company, of
HK$377,000 was due for repayment on 21 April 2024.
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TWFERAZTHILEFE

=+H - BAEBEARMR
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Hiet - (&)

(b)

%:::@iﬁﬂz+5'
JE < REH A B F0E2,761,000
ﬁém%ﬂ?f&ﬁ&%m Hd
JE 1+ fB %R 718 1,605,000/
TR _E-R"FRA-+X
B B 818 2 DA K B R0 i
3K IE375,0007% 7T K. 781,000
BILARR —_ZE - RFWNA
—t+—BE_Z-RFtA
FBRHEE-

RZZE-_=F+=-HA—H"

ENERREASEARE
27,250,000t 2 E|EAH B &
Bxr—_T_RFt+—HA=+
H- &téﬁ%%m@éﬂ%ﬁz LA
BREBE_ZT _NMF A
=4 Elthﬂ;EiﬂﬁnﬁEw
I 251,289,0008 7T (=&
— =%:1,293,000/ 7T ) °
RZZTE-_WESA=+H8"
ENERREZREDSE
27,286,000/ L (ZF = =
4 1 27,449,000/ 7T.) Jh f# A
45 & Fl &4, 75%§+‘§ 'R
EIEH - RE RN TR

F+—A=1+RHEHEE-

R-E-_=%FA=+H"
FERER (BNt (=
T =F 8Nk ) BE
FEEE A E)FIE538,000
BLTRAEER 2ERNRZ

—NEttA -+ B3
BE-

(b)

35. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

As at 30 June 2024, the amounts due to related companies
of HK$2,761,000 were unsecured and interest-free, of
which an amount due to 1E#; of HK$1,605,000 was due
for repayment on 26 May 2026, and amount due to J#j3&
of HK$375,000 and HK$781,000 was due to repayment
on 21 April 2026 and 9 July 2026 respectively.

On 1 December 2023, the maturity date of the principal
amount of amount due to 8% of RMB27,250,000 was
renewed to 30 November 2025. This constitutes a debt
modification resulting a gain of HK$1,289,000 (2023:
HK$1,293,000) recognised in profit or loss during the year
ended 30 June 2024. As at 30 June 2024, the carrying
amount of amount due to 1E# of HK$27,286,000 (2023:
HK$27,449,000) is calculated using a market interest rate
of 4.75% per annum was unsecured, interest-free and due
for the repayment on 30 November 2025.

As at 30 June 2023, the amounts due to & %1 of
HK$538,000, which Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (2023:
Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley) was a key management
personnel, were unsecured, interest-free and repayment on
22 July 2024.

N
ul
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=+ Egﬁaﬂs’ii?&ﬁz 36. LOAN FROM A CONTROLLING

B SHAREHOLDER
2024 2023
F#ET FET
HKS$'000 HK$°000
mEAas Current liabilities

TR IR R IRt 2 B Loan from a controlling shareholder - 4,306

ERBEE Non-current liabilities
PR R IR 2 B Loan from a controlling shareholder 4,280 =

RZZE_WERA=FH &)
ML+ (DT =458/
+) B —% AK#4,000,0007T
(¥2724,280,0008 L) (= ZF
—=%F: AR™4,000,0007T (18
£ 144,306,000/ ) ) Z B3

As at 30 June 2024, a loan of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$4,280,000) (2023: RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,306,000)) is advanced from Ms. Cheng Siu Yin,
Shirley (2023: Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley) and is unsecured,
interest-free and due for repayment on 25 October 2026
(2023: 25 October 2023).

ZERBERR 2B RNRZT
ZARFTAZ+RBE(ZE==
F:ZTZ=F+A=+HH)
FIHAEE -
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M AR % A D R ¥ B

ELERBE(BE) AfF AR
REFERNEFE 2 &

DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

The following are major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised at the reporting date and the movements during
the current and prior years:

ERY: T
R it
ERENR
231 ¥4 i3 FE Hi
ATERE BIRHE HIERE BEEER Mgt
Fair value
adjustment
on property,
plant and
equipment,
land use Accelerated
rights, and tax  Provision for  Other timing
mining right  depreciation receivables difference Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
RZF-ZF#tRA—RAz#&# Balance at 1July 2022 106,878 (190) (2,475) - 104,213
SRRk Exchange realignment (8,638) - - - (8,638)
A/ GIE)EREFGER  Credit(Charged) to profit
or loss for the year 5614 4,624 1,705 390 12,333
RZFZ=%7-A=+HRE Balance at 30 June 2023
—E_=FtH-HZ&H  and 1July 2023 103,854 4,434 (770) 390 107,908
R Exchange realignment (625) = = = (625)
FAFRREFKEE Credit to profit or loss
for the year 2,285 3,280 106 295 5,966
R-F-MEAA=ZTAH Balance at 30 June 2024
b 7 105,514 7,114 (664) 685 113,249

N
-
~
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DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

(continued)

The following amounts, determined after appropriate
offsetting, are shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position:

2024 2023

FiET FET

HK$°000 HK$'000

FEEHIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 114,089 108,931
EIEFLIBE B Deferred tax assets (840) (1,023)
113,249 107,908

N E B ABHEBEBREBLY
361,585,000 L (=& ==
£ :309,016,0007 70 ) ' ;Z 5
BEEAAREEELEZSE
B2 RAZARRERT & F
ER N AABEHR KRR IE R @
A HEAZE RS ARIEE
B AT ARZEEESA
BREHEEE RABAKRES
104,629,000 L (=& ==
£ :101,830,000/8 7T) R E =
—FENE(ZF=F:=F
ZNF) (BEZF)2TRAB
BAZIER - E fth R B) AT I ES 1R 7]
IR H A58 o

The Group has tax losses of approximately HK$361,585,000
(2023: HK$309,016,000) that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies which
incurred the losses. Deferred tax assets have not been
utilised in respect of these losses as it is not probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which these
unused tax losses can be utilised. Unused tax losses of
HK$104,629,000 (2023: HK$101,830,000) will expire in
various dates up to and including 2029 (2023: 2028). Other
unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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38.

SHARE CAPITAL

The movements in the issued ordinary share capital during

e the year are as follows:
LEREE FETT
Number of
ordinary
shares HK$°000
BERITERHR: Issued and fully paid:
R=_ZE-_—FtHF—H" At 1 July 2022, 30 June 2023,
—E-=FA=+H" 1 July 2023 and 30 June 2024
—E=FtA—HK
—E_mEXRA=TH 683,118,258 560,673

=+h - BE-FEEER
A2

REHE

REBAREE RIARFE 2 GG
TRNEEYNREEREER
E=2E

HAbREEE R M B A B 2 Boh
f“*S'ZﬁZFc{EEEiHAHSZﬁ%H il
R E AR A MRS A R
St %Uﬁéﬁf(ﬁZéF&Eﬂ
BELZER-

5 0l ekt Pk b E AN SR — R Y
BARETREWRZKERD
BRI E A IRE S S
HEERREMEZER

39.

RESERVES — GROUP AND COMPANY

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Other reserve represents the difference between the
consideration paid for the additional interest in the
subsidiaries and the non-controlling interest’s share of the
assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the dates of the acquisitions of the
non-controlling interests.

Special reserve represents the difference between the
consideration received for the disposal of certain Group's
interest in a subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’s
share of assets and liabilities at the date of the disposal of
the non-controlling interest.

N
O
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39. RESERVES - GROUP AND COMPANY

Y, /N=INE (continued)
PIN/NE| Company
BRERE TU2RGE HERKE REBiRF @
Share Non- Capital
option  distributable  contribution Retained
reserve reserve reserve profits Total
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHT
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
W-Z- -+ A—H2#&#% Balanceat 1July 2022 6,609 273,606 22236 1,230,531 1,532,982
T =FREKE (MFFT) 2023 final dividend
(note 10) - - - (13,662) (13,662)
BHEEAZRS Transactions with owners - - = (13,662) (13,662)
FREE Loss for the year - - - (34,672) (34,672)
FAZAKREE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - (34,672) (34,672)
RZFZ=F"A=1tHK Balance at 30 June 2023
“E=FHA—-Bz&s and 1uly 2023 6,609 273,606 22,236 1,182,197 1,484,648
FERRRES|HE K2 (BIEEPD+)  Lapsed of share option
upon expiry (note 40) (1,409) - - 1,409 -
HBEFALRS Transactions with owners (1,409) = = 1,409 =
FRNEE Loss for the year - - - (250,704) (250,704)
ENZEKEEE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - (250,704) (250,704)
RZIFZMEXA=+HZ  Balance at
g3 30 June 2024 5,200 273,606 22,236 932,902 1,233,944

A DR FEERER — LN F
AAa)EBER 2 HER&KR2.50
BITHDRE0. 10 TR E A& 2 0%

B

HE R EIEAEFEBERIER
PR R ER H Y s B A VAR B

&o with controlling shareholders in prior years.

Non-distributable reserve represents the premium arising
on the reduction of the par value of ordinary shares of the
Company from HK$2.50 to HK$0.10 per share in 1994.

The capital contribution reserve represented deemed capital
contribution arising from the gain on debt extinguishment
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M+ - EERR#ERTE) 40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

RAE 2 ERETE ([ ZF—
ZEHEDR=ZZE—ZF LA
T=ABEARRARRR =T
—ZEFFECBERAR/TF
WER—_E-_ZTF+HA+=H
BH-Elt XAFRERZZEZ
EE+ A+ _HEH—E
FTERES (2= F&
2o

—EFFEE

—ETFFHEZEEERA
—|T :

Exg([E5g ) EZRES
ALZERE it 55 K%
AR 75 40 8% I/ Sk ¥ 7 5 (B R R
RERRZ BB EEEER -
BB BT T HEERAL
([ZZE=ZTFE5EBATL]E
R BRI ARIEAR R RIRD -

0) ARRNT - BERHELQE
SEMPRET 2 EM
BE (BERmE2BAR
B) =SMITHRA&®RE
KR -EE(BEH
17 FERTT B IERTT
BEx) MEF(KRE=S
SHE) BEAKEHA
SEZERRERELR

RBEEVARUTZ&EE
(OARRBMREBRERLD BB
(BEAREXER)EBRMER
WERAB2WHE : KGR
AR N REZBREED R HA
TSR BEBIAERRER
Pl P (B -

The share option scheme of the Company (the “2010
Scheme”) was approved by the shareholders of the
Company on 13 July 2010. The 2010 Scheme would be
valid for a period of ten years and expired on 12 July 2020.
Therefore, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme on 22 December 2020 (the “2020 Scheme”).

2020 Scheme

The principal terms of the 2020 Scheme are as follows:

The board of directors (“Board”) may in its discretion, invite
any following eligible person (“2020 Eligible Persons”),
having regard to each person’s qualifications, skills,
background, experience, service records and/or contribution
or potential value to the relevant members of the Group, to
take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
executive or officer, manager, director (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive director) of the Company; any of its
subsidiaries or any investee who, as determined by
the Board, have contributed or will contribute to the
growth and development of the Group.

The subscription price must be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
offer of the option, which must be a business day; and (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
offer of the option.

N
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BREMRERESENRAE
DREIER NS S ARA - %
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40.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2020 Scheme (continued)

The 2020 Eligible Persons must accept any such offer
notified to him or her within ten business days from the
offer date, failing which it shall be deemed to have been
declined. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the grant.
The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2020 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No option may be granted under the 2020 Scheme and
any other option schemes of the Company if such limit is
exceeded. If the Company conducts a share consolidation
or subdivision after the 10% limit has been approved by
the shareholders in general meeting, the maximum number
of shares that may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the 2020 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company under the 10% limit as
a percentage of the total number of issued shares at the
date immediately before and after such consolidation or
subdivision shall be the same.

The option period shall be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon grant of each option, provided that it shall
commence on a date not earlier than the offer date and not
be more than ten years from the offer date.

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, there is no
option granted under 2020 Scheme.
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M+ - EEEERE @ 40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
—Z-ZF5tE 2010 Scheme
—E-TFEFEAZEEZRRD The principal terms of the 2010 Scheme are as follows:
T
EFAMNEEBEA NIEE The Board may in its discretion, invite any following eligible
BAT(ZE—ZFEERA persons (“2010 Eligible Persons”) to take up the options to
THEZERENRERAQF subscribe for shares of the Company:
B -
(i) NAR) HEMMTEB AR (i) any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
AR IR E 2 M executive or officer, manager, director (including
EE (EwmeE2BakR executive, non-executive and independent non-
B) saRITHRAESE executive director) or consultant of the Company;
B LE - BEE(2EHR any of its subsidiaries or any investee who, as
17 3EE 1T R JE L IE determined by the Board, have contributed or will
fTES )RR iK% contribute to the growth and development of the
(FEEeET) BER Group; or
HEHAEE IR R
BRIEHER: 3L
(iy  EAIERET - (i) any investee.
REEELAR/UTZERE The subscription price must be at least the highest of (i)
(VAR FIROD REEAREZ A A & the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
(MEREXR)EHRAEH the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
WMERMRWTE  REAR offer of the option, which must be a business day; and (ii)
AR N BB AR 2 40 B AR AT the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
FEEEBEBZMFARER stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
Bz SF T (E o the five business days immediately preceding the date of

offer of the option.

No
N
W
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BREDNRERESENREE
B e S AR A - %
HREFREN B HME - 75
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40.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2010 Scheme (continued)

The 2010 Eligible Persons must accept any such offer
notified to him or her within ten business days from the
offer date. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the grant.
The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the 2010 Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed (i) 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at the adoption date; or (ii) 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant
in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the share
capital of the Company then in issue unless approved by the
shareholders of the Company in general meetings.

The option period shall be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon grant of each option, provided that it shall
commence on a date not earlier than the offer date and not
be more than ten years from the offer date.

Since 22 June 2020, there was no options granted under
2010 Scheme.
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REBEEZT-WNFR_F-=F
NAZTHILEFE —F—
SEITHARRIESHAEZHA
TERERE BN

F

Details of the outstanding share options under the 2010

Scheme held by the directors of the Company during the

years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

EhEExA
Number of share options
REAA ik fileh BRIER RED  EmBE  ERRH RER
At the Granted Lapsed At the
Exercise price ~~ beginning during during end of
Name of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period per sfhgrg of the year the year the year the year
T
HKS
2024
REH EREAATAR CE-BEAATARECRCMERATNA 138 1000000 - (1,000,000) -
Chan Wai Ke, Vick 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024
REL EPERATAR CE-RERATARECRCRERATIR 13 1000000 = (1000000 -
Chan Wai Lap, Victor 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 0 18 June 2024
FAl ZE-REYAZTER CE-RECACTRARZZCRECACTRA 121 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 25 July 2014 25 July 201440 24 uly 2024
s “E-RFEALA “E-RELAEAZCECRELANA 2451000000 - - 100000
Chan Wai Ke, Vick Tuly 2015 7y 20150 6 July 2025
R E-RErALE “E-REEALAZCECRELANA 245 1000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 7 July 2015 7 July 201510 6 July 2025
frER ZE-REtALH TE-RELACARSRCRELARA 25 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Yam Tat Wing Tuly 2015 7y 20150 6 July 2025
i ZE-REEALE “E-REEALAZCECRELANA 245 1000000 - - 1000000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 7 July 2015 7 July 201510 6 July 2025
s EnE-RSR 0 CEET-RSRECRCAET-ACR 149 1000000 - - 100000
Chan Wi Ke, Vicki 3 Novernber 2016 3 Novernber 2016 to 2 November 2026
R ENET-AZR ERET-AZRECRET-ACE 1491000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
fER EnE-RSR 0 CEET-RSRECRCAET-ACR 149 1000000 - - 100000
Yam Tat Wing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 Noverber 2026
73 ENET-AZR ERET-AZRECRET-ACE 1491000000 - - 1000000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
Ly CECRERACTCE CRCRERACTCREIRSRENACT-H 05 1200000 - - 1200000
Other employees 22 June 2020 22 June 2020t 21 June 2030
12200000 - (2000,000) 10,200,000

N
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

BhEzA
Number of share options

RS RitR% it Bh{IRE RED MM ERRN REX

Brercise Mthe Granted Lapsed At thef

price beginning during during endo
Name of grantee Date of grant Exerdisable perod per ;g?rg of he year the year the year the year

BT

HKS
03
e BREAATAR CE-MERATARECRCMENATAR 138 1000000 - - 1000000
Chan Wai K, Vick 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024
e ZE-RERATAR CE-BERATARECRCRERATAA 1331000000 - - 1000000
Chan Wai Lap, Victor 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024
13 “E-REYAZTIR CE-MECACTRAECSCMECA-TAE 121 1000000 - - 1000000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 25 July 2014 5 Ju\y 201410 24 July 2024
e il ds T-RECALAECRCRELAR 2451000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Kei, Vick 7July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
e “E-RFtALA ZE-RELALAECECRECANA 245 1000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 7July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
% il ds T-RECALAECRCRELAR 2451000000 - - 1000000
Yam Tat Wing 7July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
EER “E-RELALA TE-TFrAtARCRCRRLARA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 7 July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
e ZE-AET-AR ZE-ET-AAZCEIAET-ACH 149 1000000 - - 1000000
Chan Wai K, Vick 3 Noverber 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 Novernber 2026
e “EREt-RZR 0 CERFT-RZRECRCAET-ACA 149 1000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
% ZE-AET-AR ZE-ET-AAZCEIAET-ACH 149 1000000 - - 1000000
Yam Tat Wing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
13 “EREt-RZR 0 CERFT-RZRECRCAET-ACA 149 1000000 - - 1000000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
HihER S 4. i = e .y oy = - Yo 7 oy = 05 1200000 - - 1200000
Other employegs 22 June 2020 22 June 202010 21 June 2030

12,200,000 - - 12,200,000

M AR 1T B IR i 2 ndE 1T
FEER2BET(ZE==4F:

1.6775 70 ) + 1M 18 7K 17 {50 B A e
ZINHEFE TR E ) F B A2

F(ZF_=F:3%F)-

Weighted average exercise price of outstanding share

options is HK$1.72 (2023: HK$1.67) and the weighted

options is approximately 2 years (2023: 3 years).

average remaining contractual life of outstanding share
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M+— - K2R ZBHHR 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
IS OF THE COMPANY
2024 2023
ok F#E T FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
ERBEE Non-current assets
NN PNCIR 2 Interests in subsidiaries 1,008,562 1,008,562
DN P Due from subsidiaries 777,565 849,759
1,786,127 1,858,321
REEE Current assets
AR -me & Prepayments, deposits and
H b e UL 5RIB other receivables 585 568
A ENGIE ] Due from subsidiaries 405,900 560,363
RERRESEH Cash and cash equivalents 1,561 413
408,046 561,344
nEaE Current liabilities
HL At JE < 5RIE ) Other payables and accruals
EsrE A (884) (863)
R NG/ Due to subsidiaries (398,672) (373,311)
TRIBR Provision for tax = (170)
(399,556) (374,344)
REEEFEE Net current assets 8,490 187,000
EEFE Net assets 1,794,617 2,045,321
W 7= EQUITY
% 2R Share capital 38 560,673 560,673
(i) Reserves 39 1,233,944 1,484,648
HE SR Total equity 1,794,617 2,045,321
REREEZ=S On behalf of the Board
PR 1% 3L Chan Wai Lap, Victor
BEZ Director
R /) Fig Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
BEZ Director

No
N
~
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m+=- MBAA 42. SUBSIDIARIES
RZZE-_NFEARA=+H £ZE Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2024
MEBAR BT : are as follows:

AL/ EfiREMR/

4 AMRBERE ERORARE FAREGEERNM IEXRH
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of paid-up Percentage of
registration and  registered/issued equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
B k3

Direct Indirect

Brangredi Limited 0 LRRIET - 100 HEEHES
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Jewellery trading
NEAR AT & LRRIET - 100 HWxKE
Capital Luck Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
HRARAT &R LRRIET - 100 MERE
Charm Harvest Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
ERERAA & LRRIET - 100 HWxKE
Cheermax Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 Property investment
CJ. (UK) Limited* RE 1330BEREEIRE - 7519 KEEHHE
United Kingdom LBk Jewellery wholesaling
1,330 ordinary shares of
GBP1 each
ENERARAT &R Lak100% T - 100 #RES
Conti Diamond Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$100 Diamond trading
Continental Investment Company Limited ~ &7 LB 100,000/ 100 - REER
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Investment holding
HK$100,000
ENXEESHARAA &R £11%10,000,000% T 100 - REEHRERLE
Continental Jewellery (Mfg.) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Jewellery manufacturing
HK$10,000,000 and wholesaling
EMBERRAA A LRkET - 100 MERE
Continental Property Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$2 Property investment
Continental Universe Limited ABRAHS WRBHRAEIETZ 100 - REER
British Virgin LER Investment holding
Islands 2 ordinary shares of
US$1 each
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

ML/ EHRER/
A AMREEHE ERTRARE FAEEEEENE  FEER
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of paid-up Percentage of
registration and  registered/issued equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
EE A%
Direct Indirect
CJUSALLC* FH2ERE 1,005 B REHE0OIXT - - REENES
United States of pd; 30 (ZZ2Z=F:  Jewellery trading
America 1,000 shares of 100)
US$0.01 each (2023: 100)
DCGS Management Senvice Limited £ £387%10,000,0008 7 - 100 RERR/REEE
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of TR
HK$10,000,000 Investment holding/
providing
management services
REERARAT BB LRRIAT - 100 WFRE
Daily Famous Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
EEREARAA &R L130%500,000% 7T 100 - REER
Diamond Creation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Investment holding
HK$500,000
BEERARA &b LERIET - 100 #MFRE
Diamond Bright Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Equal Glory Limited EBRAAE/ \RBREEFEIZ - 0 REZR/MELE
&b LEk Investment holding/
British Virgin 10 ordinary shares of US$1 Property development
Islands/ each
Hong Kong
ERERARAR B LaRIET - 100 WERE
Fortune Success International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Golden Creation Jewellery Limited &b TiER1,000,0055 7T - 100 KEEHZS
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Jewellery trading
HK$1,000,005
BX(HE)BRAF &E LRERIET - 100 WF*RE
Huge Sky (China) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment

No
N
O
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m+=- MBAR & 42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AL/ BiRm,/
R AMRBERE BEARIRE AAEAEREERENL  TEXEH
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of paid-up Percentage of
registration and  registered/issued equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
B A
Direct Indirect
HEARAH & LRRIET - 100 #%RE
Keen Mind Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
BHERARAT &k ERRIET - 100 WERE
Lucky Key International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Master Gold Development Ltd. EBRUES 1REREEIZTL - 100 REER
British Virgin Liak Investment holding
Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1
each
B2 (RE)BRAA i LRRIET - 100 WERE
Max Creation (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Novell Enterprises Inc. FHBERE 10000 SR EE0.01% T - 100 KEEHHEREE
United States of pd 3 Jewellery manufacturing
America 1,000 shares of US$0.01 and selling of jewelry
each
Ontrack Ventures Limited RBRAHE 100 BREEIETL - 75 RAER
British Virgin Lak Investment holding
Islands 100 ordinary share of
US$1 each
REREBRAA & LRRIBT - 5 NERE
Pacific Gate Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Patford Company Limited 0 LiB1R10,000% T - 100 MERE
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Property investment
HK$10,000
Realford Company Limited &b E3E1%10,00057T = 100 MERE
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Property investment
HK$10,000
BELFBRAA &R LER10,000E T - N NERE
Rich Dragon Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of Property development
HK$10,000
RRERBRAR &k ERRIET - 100 REER
Top Grace International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Investment holding
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AMHL/ EHREM/
A AMRBENE BEARARSE FMABGEEZENE  IEEE
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of paid-up Percentage of
registration and  registered/issued equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
EE A%
Direct Indirect
EEARERAR BB LRRIAT - 100 ReEfnEs
Top Label International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Trading of food and
beverages
RERAA A LERIET - 100 WF*RE
Wealthy Joy Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
6L (B8) BRAT A LTERIET - 100 #ERE
Well Power (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
RERERRAH A LERIET - 0 MEER
Well Century Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property development
BHEEARAR A LTERIET - 100 #EER
Wise Capital Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property development
AA T BERERARA NS B#RBA - 100 RRROFEER®E
Mainland China 21,000,000 T Mining and exploration
Paid up capital of of mineral reserves
US$21,000,000
IMmBUKERRAR hE KB EHRRAARY - 100 HEEHTE
Mainland China 18,605,04075 Jewellery retailing
Paid up capital of
RMB18,605,040
BFR%E (IM) 5B AR hE AR B#RBRA - 100 HEEHZE
Mainland China 35,000,000 Jewellery manufacturing
Paid up capital of
HK$35,000,000

No
w
—
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m+=- MBAR & 42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

N
N

# R BEARREZEMZ N B E
®E-

" BREEDF— B BRERT
NEE -

* FREBLIEEESAE
BRARABRIZERSR
Hp 8 AR B- %5k
HIERRERZHEDRR
FEEREGAREFEE
HBEHR2% °

w0 CJUSA LLICE === 4F—
A =+ A B &6 ANovell
Enterprises Inc. °

BEERR ERASIARRE ZH
BRAEEFEFRREIAMNX
AEBEEFEIBRID &
ERA RUEEMMBARZH
FeERREBBRILE -

RIZE-NFER - - =FXA
=+8 MEBRAESEITEM
B o

FFEHIER

RAREETS% (ZTE_=4F:
75% ) ¥ z= 2 [} B 2 & Ontrack
Ventures Limited525% 2 & X
TSR REASEMS B
BN FTEEMASEWIEHESR
100% 7 23 2 MY /88 22 7] 2 FE#E
BEWRBTERK-

o Wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered in the
Mainland China.

Limited liability company — joint venture between domestic
investors and Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau investors.

* Not audited by BDO Limited or other BDO member firms.
The aggregate net assets of these subsidiaries not audited
by BDO amounted to approximately 2% of the Group's
total net assets.

g CJUSA LLC was merged into Novell Enterprises Inc. with
effective on 25 January 2024.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, none of the subsidiaries had
issued any debt securities.

Non-controlling interests

Ontrack Ventures Limited, a 75% (2023: 75%) owned
subsidiary of the Company, has material non-controlling
interests of 25% which is material to the Group. The
non-controlling interests of all other subsidiaries that are
not 100% owned by the Group are considered to be
immaterial.
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M+= - MEAE ) 42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
TGRS (&) Non-controlling interests (continued)
A BOntrack Ventures Limited & Summarised financial information in relation to Ontrack
H2BMBARSERERRA Ventures limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Pacific
AN B A EPET $H Al 2 B 75 & Gate Investment Limited, before intra-group elimination, is
MEBZFNWT presented below:
2024 2023
F#T FETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
HEANAZTHILSEE For the year ended 30 June
& Revenue 13,914 7,580
FNEBE Loss for the year (109,232) (55,784)
FREEW=ETE Total comprehensive income
for the year (109,232) (55,784)
DT IR b 2 EiE Loss allocated to non-controlling
interests (27,308) (13,946)
HEANAZTHILEE For the year ended 30 June
KEFEHMACRERE Cash flows used in operating
activities (51,842) (14,320)
KEEMAZEERE Cash flows used in investing activities (275) (13,669)
BMEEBEACRESRE Cash flow generated from
financing activities 53,322 22,753
WBERA GR35 Net cash inflows/(outflows) 1,205 (5,236)
RANA=+H At 30 June
FERENE E Non-current assets 1,730,422 1,813,672
MENEE Current assets 8,645 5,257
mEAE Current liabilities (901,268) (874,960)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (78,607) (75,545)
BEFE Net assets 759,192 868,424
ZETIEE R Accumulated non-controlling
interests 189,798 217,106

No
w
W
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RBEAE AEE 2 KETE

43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At reporting date, the Group had outstanding capital

ARAEGEWT ¢ commitments as follows:
2024 2023
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI B R B : Contracted but not provided for:
"EYZE Investment properties - 15,858

m+m - AE%H
fER A

R-ZZE-_MERA=TH K&
BREEEZHHEETYE
(MFE+R) BEHRZES
R=F ZFHETBEENAE
T AKEBERBEMPIIYLZ
TRBEEEE 2 AR &EHEE
WA AR BRI T

44, LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessor

As at 30 June 2024, the Group leases certain properties
(note 16) under lease arrangements, with lease negotiated
for a term of three years. None of the leases include
contingent rentals. The Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

2024 2023

F#ET FET

HK$'000 HK$ 000

—FR Within one year 25,922 22,201
—FRERFNRN After one year but within two years 15,596 19,359
MERE=FN After two years but within three years 4,427 8,972
45,945 50,532
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m+% - FBAXS 45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BRZNER & BA 5 R 3R M 2B 9 P Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

BEIN AEBRFANBEILT statements, during the year, the Group entered into the

SIRARE TR 5 © following related party transactions.

@ REEZZ-_OAFXH (@  During the year ended 30 June 2024, imputed
=tBHIEEE X&E interest expenses of HK$1,289,000 (2023:
HEMN—FRE/NERL HK$1,293,000) were incurred from amount due
T (= =F: 8/ to a related company of which is wholly-owned by
ZRT)2EHRE2BEA Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (2023: Ms. Cheng Siu
Al ZHIAEEREFEHNE Yin, Shirley).

521,289,000 7t (=
£ — =4 :1,293,000/%

JT) °
by FEEBEASHE (b)  Compensation of key management personnel
SFAREBIRAXCEE Included in employee benefit expenses are key
EEABREREIE management personnel compensation and comprise
B : the following:
2024 2023
FiET BT
HK’000 HK'000
A E ST Short term employee benefits 8,994 9,315
B2 A Post-employment benefits 295 295
9,289 9,610

No
(99)
ul
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N
(@)}

m+4 -

HAEAX S &)

MN-ZT_MENA=F
H - & IE % i #E 25 K
BERERE—SEMN—H
HES /i £ R RES
EEWB BB AR Z
X IE50,439,0005 7T (=
T — = 4 :63,529,000/8
TL) °

B RAMT D + T (a) K (o) 2 BRES
R ZTER ETRRE T HAZE

TR ECRERS -
M+ EERES B
YL F4

Kz

BRME=+h =+ EO+H

(@)K (c

P EEE N A A

B ANRABRBERARRBZED
RINARRIESEHRIMERE
THEEBEARGZZEMEARAR
5 RHHAH TEEMNERH
R RHFAAHNTFE-

45.

46.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(c) As at 30 June 2024, included in due to non-
controlling interests, an amount of HK$50,439,000
(2023: HK$63,529,000), was due to a related
company which is owned by Ms. Cheng Siu Yin,
Shirley and Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor.

The related party transaction in respect of notes 45(a) and
(c) also constitute connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in notes 35, 36, 45(a) and (c), no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, were entered
into or subsisted during the financial year.
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M+t MEFHEEZ 47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
BEYHER ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
TREFMRNEEREEBEE 2 The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
BEZEY pRRERIFReH from financing activities, including both cash and non-
FopERBELAZABIIHIR cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
BRARREMEERNER Z4R liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
EHRERERTHEARETEE be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash
EZHEREZEE flows from financing activities.
1 R EftaE BRRE [ GEZEE]
ARFE RITER TERE REZER BETE ARER
Due to Loan from a Due to
related Due to controlling  non-controlling Lease
companies Bank loans joint ventures shareholder interests liabilities
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
(FE=15) (fE=1+2) (HE=+=) (fE=17) (frE=1m) (KE=1=)
(note 35) (note 32) (note 22) (note 36) (note 34) (note 33)
RZF-ZZ§+tA-H At1July 2022 39,501 1,027,421 1,036 4,686 56,275 15,718

Changes from cash flows:

FRHIEEER Advance from non-controlling interests = = = 7,254 =
BRFE* Interest paid* = (44,064) = = o o
HERTER New bank borrowings - 1,145,015 - - - -
BEBTER Repayment of bank borrowings = (1,114,018) - = = =
REREREZ AL RFIE Repayment of principal and interest amount
of lease liabilities - - - - - (5,303)

MEARESHERDOR Total changes from financing cash flows - (13,067) - - 7,254 (5,303)
R Exchange realignment (2,655) (41) = (380) = 94
SHEER —FABIBARIFURER  Gain on debt modification on amounts

BIH 2 Wi due to a related company (1,93) - = = =
Hih#5): Other changes:
HiEEE Addition of new lease = = = = = 5,089
FISHY Interest expenses 1293 44,064 - - - 692
Hiv#8aR Total other changes 1,293 44,064 - - = 5,781

No
w
~
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47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (continued)

M+t MEBEFHEEZ
BEHER @

N
(0]

JEf1 B Eft&E BRERE s
AARE RITHF LERE Rt HH RENE BEAE
Due to Loan from a Due to
related Due to controlling  non-controlling Lease
companies Bank loans joint ventures shareholder interests liabilities
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
(Fa=t%) (H&#=12) (HE=12) (=) (H=+m) (H@=+=)
(note 35) (note 32) (note 22) (note 36) (note 34) (note 33)
RIFZZEXAZHAR At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023
ZF_Z%tR-H 36,846 1,058,377 1,036 4,306 63,529 16,290
ReReRy: Changes from cash flows:
FEGIERBT Advance from non-controlling interests - = S - 17,141 -
BRFS Interest paid* - (63373) - - - -
MERTER New bank loans - 247,513 - - - -
EENEEA Advance from a related party 781 - = - - -
BRETER Repayment of bank loans - (269,579) - - = =
ERAEREZALRFIS Repayment of principal and interest amount
of lease liabilities - - - - - (5,286)
HEARLTEEDAE Total changes from financing cash flows 781 (85,439) = = 17,141 (5,286)
B HE Exchange realignment (201) (75) - (26) - (34)
SLIEN—MEBBARZUEES  Gain on debt modification on amounts
06 due to a related company (1,289) - = - - -
Hip#8: Other changes:
HEHE Addition of new lease - - - - - 819
FlEBX Interest expenses 1,289 63,373 - - - 811
BEEHT Lease modification - - - - - 157
EREneR Total other changes 1,289 63373 - - - 1,781
RZF-MEAAZTA At 30 June 2024 37426 1,036,236 1,036 4,280 80,670 12,757
*

* ERRERD T AGRAaRE

MER o

Included as operating activities in the consolidated

statement of cash flows.
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m+)\ - BB EREIEE 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

BRREBR

AEEZETEZESRTABRER
AEE EHBRETET A
TRITAE REHBR=EAK
EZERER B 5 RKEOR
Be EtENEOR - Re MR
ER BEHEMNFIA HME
MREBEREER RITER
FERf & & BRFIR - A IEEH
RS TR IR  FET RARE A B RIR
ZREREHZERLEER
B-ZFEMIAZFBERIERMA
MERE BxEeRTAGH
Z B\ BORR % F RS2 2 BUR
RTIX-BEEESEEELERZ
TR - LARE(R BE BT N A At
EITEERR-

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments, debt investments, derivatives, financia
instruments, time deposit with original maturities over
three months, trade receivables, deposits, other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, other payables
and accruals, bank loans, amounts due to joint ventures,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to
related companies, loan from a controlling shareholder and
lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

N
O
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m+/)\ ~ BB EREEH 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
BRER @) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
481 ZRIEERTHEEER 48.1 Categories of financial assets and financial
liabilities
HREMBIRARANZES 2 The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated
FHESBEIRATEHE statement of financial position relate to the
ERcmAEREN -F2 following categories of financial assets and financial
BIBRE3. 1404 TR S RET liabilities. See note 3.14 for explanations about how
Az BRI 2 HpEE the category of financial instruments affects their
= subsequent measurement.
2024 2023
F#ET FAT
HK$'000 HK$°000
EMEE Financial assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
AR FEFT AHAD Financial assets at fair value through
EHRGEZCREE other comprehensive income 22,003 24,492
AT ERFAERZ Financial assets at fair value through
TREE profit or loss 10,067 10,048
MBEE Current assets
A EFFABRZ Financial assets at fair value through
TRLEE profit or loss 2,521 6,854
AT EFAEMEE Financial assets at fair value through
Wes 2z e EE other comprehensive income - 2,308
REHK AT E 2 Financial assets at amortised costs:
CRIEE
— B 5 RUGKIA — Trade receivables 61,399 64,591
— H b fE U 5k I8 — Other receivables 11,641 6,380
-~ REEAE=M@A — Time deposit with origina
LAk 2 F 8377 5% maturities over three months = 6,406
—RekBReEH — Cash and cash equivalents 49,156 90,695
122,196 168,072
156,787 211,774
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m+/)\ ~ BHEREEH 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁﬁﬁ (&) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
481 ZRIEERTHEEER 48.1 Categories of financial assets and financial
(%) liabilities (continued)
2024 2023
F#ET FAET
HK$000 HK$'000
EREE Financial liabilities
mBaR Current liabilities
AT ERFABRZ Financial liabilities at fair value
=N through profit or loss - (18)
REHEK AT EZ Financial liabilities measured at
CRIBE: amortised cost:
— B HEMNRIA — Trade payables (59,770) (75,679)
— E fth JE AT 3RIE K% — Other payables and accruals
et &R (31,969) (71,040)
—RITER — Bank loans (882,506) (854,387)
— FE{ AR B F5R0R — Due to related companies (7,379) (8,859)
—ERIRERIEMH 2 B — Loan from a controlling
shareholder - (4,306)
— A& ENRIA — Due to joint ventures (1,036) (1,036)
(982,660) (1,015,325)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
W SHK AT EZ Financial liabilities measured at
TRAE: amortised cost:
—IRITER — Bank loans (153,730) (203,990
— FE{ A2 B 5R0R — Due to related companies (30,047) (27,987)
—% Hﬁﬂx%kﬁ?Zﬁ?ﬂ — Loan from a controlling
shareholder (4,280) -
— e FEHE S e 2R 5RIR — Due to non-controlling interests (80,670) (63,529)
(268,727) (295,506)
(1,251,387) (1,310,831)

[N)
Js
—
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48.2

M EREER
BREBUR (@)

™% E

(i) SMEEBR

SN L i R S 6 B
REHMENEMT
ERXRKBEEREZ
RFELRRSZ
R -AEETEE
T EE EEK
B KPR X
ERRBORH A
BT R R
MRk AREFER
BE-DARBERSE
TEIEZEREER
TR B B E IR
BRkE - mMARER
ETREZERX S
A ciN Y e
MBARZWEEE
K- REBZINER
REBEXREE TSR
TA BREARFE
SFARMEZEREZ
THMEE EHEW
FIE AR FEFA
BRceBMEE R
ERREFENES
ENFE ZEFTLA
AT BT # 8
KINTTaHE R &% F
FERN AEEYTE
SN E PR IR
HEREERINER

&5 o
AA

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk

(@

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that
the fair value of future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, UK,
US and the Mainland China with most of
the transactions denominated and settled
in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"),
British Pounds (“GBP"), Canadian Dollars
("CAD") and RMB. No foreign currency
risk has been identified for the financial
assets and financial liabilities denominated
in RMB and US$, which is the functional
currencies of the subsidiaries in the Mainland
China and US respectively to which these
transactions relate. The Group's exposure
to foreign currency risk primarily arises
from certain financial instruments including
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, trade receivables,
financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, cash and cash equivalents and
trade payables which are denominated in
US$, Euro, British Pounds and CAD. During
the years, the Group did not have foreign
currency hedging policy but management
continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure.
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m+/\ - MBEREER 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁ% (&) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
48.2 TR (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)

() srEERE () () Foreign currency risk (continued)
TREMN =T The following table summarises the
FR_TE_=F\A Group’s major financial assets and liabilities
= THUESEEAR denominated in currencies other than the
N BB AN B functional currency of the respective group
FrMECAEBEES companies as at 30 June 2024 and 2023.
BMEERAE-

UFET5R
Expressed in HK$'000
e B 3 mi
Us$ Euro GBP CAD

RZZZMERAZ+H At 30June 2024

A TERNE Financial assets at fair
SENGZEHMEE value through other
comprehensive income 4,548 - - 499
B S RUGRE Trade receivables 22,525 76 - 131
ATEF ARG Z Financial asset at fair value
TREE through profit or loss 10,067 - - =
HeRhHAEEH Cash and cash equivalents 18,092 8 75 709
B oM TE Trade payables (47,693) - - -
BEERR Overall net exposure 7,539 84 75 1,339

WZZE-=F,A=1H At30June 2023

NATEF AR Financial assets at fair

PENELERHEE value through other

comprehensive income 6,734 - - 1,508

Z SN A Trade receivables 32,718 = = 131
NATEFABRZ Financial asset at fair value

CREE through profit or loss 13,947 - = =
BehBReEH Cash and cash equivalents 60,655 54 75 709
BHRENHA Trade payables (42,056) = = =
BRFRR Overall net exposure 71,998 54 75 2,348

[N)
J=
W
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk (continued)

() srEsEfE () (i) Foreign currency risk (continued)
B 7 3 T B2 T B As US$ is pegged to HK$, the Group does
8 WA S B TER = not expect any significant movements in
TABTZERTE the US$/HK$ exchange rates. No sensitivity
BAEEMENE analysis in respect of the Group’s financial
BHRESZERA TR assets and liabilities denominated in US$ is
SHHETABETLZ disclosed as in the opinion of directors, such
PE &= B E) K - iR sensitivity analysis does not give additional
REEAERTFEZ value in view of insignificant movement in
TRIEEREBERER the US$/HK$ exchange rates as at reporting
2B E O I date. The following table indicates the
REEINMEE - B approximate change in the Group’s loss for
ERBEZERRED the year and equity in response to reasonably
Mo &R B TREER possible changes in the foreign exchange
¥ HEIARE B A rates to which the Group has significant
X E KRR 2 INEE[E exposure at the reporting date.
K7 AIEA e
REHE Z FREBER
*& mARE IR 2 A
2024 2023
NEEE  EREH BE EEX  £REB B
t#/ WO/ #m/ R/ By E/
(T8 (Em)  GEg)  (Fk) (B GA)
Increase/  Decrease/ Increase/  Decrease/
(Decrease) (Increase) (Decrease)  (Increase)
in foreign in Increase/ inforeign in Increase/
exchange  loss for (Decrease)  exchange loss for  (Decrease)
rates  theyear in equity rates  theyear  inequity
FéT  FéET FEr  TET
HK'000  HK$'000 HKO00  HKS 000
BT Euro +5% 4 4 +5% 3 3
-5% (4) (4) -5% 3) 3)
1 GBP +5% 4 4 +5% 4
-5% @ @ 5% () 4
mi CAD +5% 4 67 +5% 4 117
-5% (42) (67) -5% 42) (17
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk (continued)

()

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Other than the above, the Group held
several foreign currency forward contracts
denominated in USD which were recognised
as derivative financial instruments (note
27(c)) as at 30 June 2024. Upon the maturity
dates, these contracts will be settled in GBP.
Accordingly, the fair value and the future
cash flow will fluctuate because of the
change in the foreign currencies of USD and
GBP.

The following table indicates the
approximate effect on the profit for the
year in response to reasonably possible
changes in the foreign exchange rates, with
all other variables held constant, to which
the Group has exposure in respect of the
derivative financial instruments at the end
of each reporting period. The appreciation

EABEREZEBES%E and depreciation of 5% in USD exchange

BREHRERNEE rate against GBP represents management’s

MER 7 & JE A gt assessment of a reasonably possible change

Lt e in currency exchange rate over the reporting
periods.

2024 2023

FET FAT

HK$'000 HK$000

FHES5% Appreciation by 5% 1 1

B2 1B85% Depreciation by 5% (1) )

[N]
ul
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BERRRTEANET
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RB) 2 B AN &
BEXxZsRERNEGE
BUAATEFAEAM
2HER AR FE
FFAEZE 2 EWR
AEH LHEHFR
BEEGHR 2 RE X
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AREFRETRR
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk (continued)

(@

(ir)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rates had occurred at the reporting
dates and that all other variables remain
constant.

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until
the next annual reporting date.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk
have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to be effective.

Price risk

Price risk related to the risk that the fair
values or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of change
in market price (other than changes in
interest rate and foreign exchange rate).
The Group is exposed to price risk primarily
through its investments in listed equity
securities, listed bonds and investment funds
which are classified as at fair value through
other comprehensive income or fair value
through profit or loss. The board of directors
manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk
and return profiles and will consider hedging
the risk exposure should the need arise. The
Group is not exposed to commodity price
risk.
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%&Eﬁ% (%) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
48.2 TR (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)

(i) EEEER (&) (ii) Price risk (continued)
RZETEZ_MWMERA At 30 June 2024, if prices had increased by
=+ B WEKLH 10% (2023: 10%) and all other variables
10% (B = =%F: were held constant:
10% ) i FT 8 £ fib &

BrerrT& Al

- REEZER - the Group's loss for the year
BB KR 4 would decrease by approximately
1,257,000/% HK$1,257,000 (2023: HK$1,299,000).
T(ZE=Z= This is mainly due to the changes in
£ : 1,299,000 investment fund and listed equity
BL)  EE securities included in the Group's
= HERETAR financial assets at fair value through
EBUAFE profit or loss; and
FFABmZE
BMEECKRE
Eek LW
N an i
B &

N
i
~!
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%

M EREER
BREBUR (@)

miSEE (F)

(i) E15mERE (&)

NEE 2
(R B & F Br
HN) 15 32 0 49
2,200,0005%
T(ZE ==
% 12,666,000
BIT) Ty
HRETARE
B AR FEEF
AE A2 E K
WA E
Z ETIRA &
ERLEmESH
ZAFELR
BEFTE -

—ET_MFERA
=+ B HEET®
10% (ZB-=%:
10% ) i BT & H &
e Al

AEBZER
B8 1L AN AY
1,257,000
T(ZZE ==
£ 11,299,000
BIL)  EE
ZHBERFTALR
SBUATE
ATABRZE
BMEEZIRE
Bk EWR
REHHIEE
BFTEC &

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk (continued)

(ir)

Price risk (continued)

- the Group’'s equity other than
retained profits would increase
by approximately HK$2,200,000
(2023: HK$2,666,000) as a result
of the changes in fair value of listed
equity investments and listed bonds
included in the Group's financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

At 30 June 2024, if prices had decreased by
10% (2023: 10%) and all other variables
were held constant:

- the Group’s loss for the year
would increase by approximately
HK$1,257,000 (2023: HK$1,299,000).
This is mainly due to the changes in
investment fund and listed equity
securities included in the Group's
financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss; and
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m+/\ - BFEREER 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁ% (&) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
48.2 TR (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)
(i) BEEE (&) (ii) Price risk (continued))
- REE 2w - the Group's equity other than
(R B & | Br retained profits would decrease by
HN) 18R 2 49 approximately HK$2,200,000 (2023:
2,200,000/ HK$2,666,000) as a result of the
T(ZE== changes in fair value of listed equity
F : 2,666,000 investments included in the Group’s
BIT) v Ut Th financial assets at fair value through
BRETARE other comprehensive income.
AR FEE
AE A 2
Wl B REE
Z LR A&
BZRAFES
WEBFTE -
LSRR E D AT TR & This sensitivity analysis has been determined
R¥RERBHBRER assuming that the price change had occurred
FEmEE WEE at the reporting dates and has been applied
RAEXREERZAZ to the Group’s investment on that date.
BE o
REEEBEFHELU The policies to manage price risk have been
R—EETEEEBR followed by the Group since prior years and
[E\ B 2 ISR - R A are considered to be effective.
ZEBWEAR
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SRELBED A
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BEAREEHAT
EREAR -

ATEFERS

AEE 2 A FEF =
BB+ ZEQFE
FFAREMEE K2
PREETNZ ETWE
FIRE ([FE=+=)
4,548,000/ 7T (=&
— =4 :6,734,000/8
TC) RBEE AR A
FFAB R ZIFRE
(WHaEF=++) (==
— =% :3,899,000/%
TT) B o R B IR
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25 70 4A A 1) 2= TR 2 T
EHREAEE K
AEE 2 A FEF =
ENCSER RS- RN
FEBRKERTE -

s

=

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk (continued)

(iir)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that
the fair value or cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Floating interest rate
instruments will result in the Group facing
the risk of changes in market interest rate,
and fixed interest rate instruments will result
in the Group’s fair value interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk
relates primarily to investments in listed
bonds under financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (note
23) of HK$4,548,000 (2023: HK$6,734,000)
and certificate of deposits under fair value
through profit or loss (note 27) of Nil (2023:
HK$3,899,000). The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy. The
Group's fair value interest rate risk exposure
is not expected to have a significant impact
on its fair value given the changes of the
underlying interest rate is not expected to be
material.
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M)\ - EAFFERREEH 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁ% (%) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
48.2 TR (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)
(i) FI| =R/ R (42) (i) Interest rate risk (continued)

R nENXER

REBKAT 2%
B b EERERT
B ARIBITER
RBRWITEHKIAF
BRH BEREE
ARZIE S REFE
[E\ B o P 3R 5 B HA A
REEBRITERZH
KR EEARAME
=t-®E

ZA S BN
KGR - AT
ERESERNERE
B XN A T ER
ZRE HMEBAN KM

LA
ST}
ZoN

o

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk
primarily arising from bank balances and
bank loans. Majority of the bank loans are
arranged at variable rates which expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
interest rates and repayment terms of the
bank loans outstanding at reporting dates
are disclosed in note 32.

The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However,
management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

N
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk (continued)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity
of the loss for the year and retained profits
to a change in interest rates of +100 basis
point and -100 basis point (2023: +100 basis
point and -100 basis point) with effect from
the beginning of the year. The calculations
are based on the Group’s bank balances and
interest-bearing bank loans held at each
reporting date which are subject to variable
interest rates. All other variables are held
constant.

HHIFTE o
2024 2023
FET FET
HK’000 HK'000
fisi 1 2= £ F+1001E = B4 If interest rates were 100 basis
—E-=fF: point (2023: 100 basis point)
1001EE &)
FERNEEFEEE IR Net loss for the year increased
R E % AR A and retained profits
decreased by (7,543) (7,704)
fir 1 2 S B 100 & E 2 If interest rates were 100 basis
B =4 point (2023: 100 basis point)
100E = 2h) lower
FHRBRFFRRD K Net loss for the year decreased
RE % A2 N and retained profits
increased by 7,543 7,704

AEEBBEFEMN
K—HEBTEENX
BB 2 R W R R
HZEBRA M

The policies to manage interest rate risk have

been followed by the Group since prior years

are considered to be effective.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.3 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge
its obligation under the terms of the financial
instruments and cause a financial loss to the
Group. In order to minimize the credit risk, the
senior management compiles the credit and risk
management policies, to approve credit limits and
to determine any debt recovery action on those
delinquent receivables. As at 30 June 2024, the
carrying amount of these financial assets as disclosed
in note 48.1 best represent the maximum exposure
to credit risk. The Group's exposure to credit risk
mainly arises from granting credit to customers in

the ordinary course of its business.

The Group continuously monitors default of
customers and other counterparties, identified
either individually or by group, and incorporates
this information into its credit risk controls.
Where available at reasonable cost, external
credit ratings and/or reports on customers and
other counterparties are obtained and used. The
Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy
counterparties. The credit policy has been followed

by the Group since prior years.

N
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.3 Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets with credit risk exposure

Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group's historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the

Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

receivables as at 30 June 2024 and 2023:

FEEEBBEZER:

EHBRE BREARE B EEE
Gross

R-FEZME Expected carrying Loss
~A=+H As at 30 June 2024 loss rate amount allowance
(%) FiExT FiExT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BNEA Current 0.00% 38,623 -
# #i0-30H 0 — 30 days past due 0.60% 11,701 70
# H#831-60H — 60 days past due 3.29% 7,776 256
#HA61-90H - 90 days past due 31.22% 2,781 868
#8891-180H 91 — 180 days past due 39.97% 2,693 1,076
#HA181-365H 181 — 365 days past due 92.82% 842 782
# HA365H JA Over 365 days past due 98.94% 3,308 3,273
67,724 6,325
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M)\ - EAFFERREEH 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁ% (%) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
483 f=ERRK (&) 48.3 Credit risk (continued)
E 1= B B % 2 Financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)
(#&)
B S EWGRIE (&) Trade receivables (continued)

FEHRE R XK FR AR ER B

Gross

RIZZ=%F Expected carrying Loss
~NA=+H As at 30 June 2023 loss rate amount allowance
(%) FET FAT
HK$000 HK$°000
BIEA Current 0.00% 31,005 -
# HA0-30H 0 — 30 days past due 8.11% 24,650 2,001
@ Hi31-60H 31 - 60 days past due 12.90% 7,374 951
# H161-90H 61 — 90 days past due 14.25% 3,494 498
# HA91-180H 91 - 180 days past due 16.08% 1,692 272
# H3181-365H 181 — 365 days past due 73.97% 315 233
#HA365H MA £ Over 365 days past due 99.53% 3,438 3,422
71,968 7,377
TERRIE R R B EHF 2 Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
BERBRERAER % experience over the few years. These rates are
SRARSELFE U adjusted to reflect differences between economic
F2 el W 5= 52 BB AR 2 conditions during the period over which the historic
KBARD - B RTAR A K data has been collected, current conditions and
N6 (B 4 pE W R IR TE HR T the Group's view of economic conditions over the

BEHRNE BRI BB 2 expected lives of the receivables.

Faﬁﬁlﬂ%ﬁ"

N
ul
ul
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.3 Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The movement in the provision for impairment of
trade receivables is as follows:

2024 2023

F#ET FETT

HK’000 HK'000

REH) 2 KR Balance at the beginning of the year 7,377 20,276
BRI E R D Reversal of impairment loss

recognised (642) (3,317)

AU E Mmifes 2 ©%  Amount written-off as uncollectible (408) (9,647)

PE % A& Exchange realignment ) 65

REFR 2 ek Balance at the end of the year 6,325 7,377

B> B 5 R
AR B £
RIS -

AR FEGTAEM 2 EK
wm I EFTA

EHESTRABRFE
BN ZHFIEIT &
SHEHATERETAEFH
EXBITREEE Bk
5AKERBTERE
BZETMEEELER
BEHEREER-

None of the Group’s trade receivables are secured by
collaterals or other credit enhancement.

Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The listed bonds are issued by counterparties with
sound credit rating and the directors does not expect
any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. In
this regard, the Group does not expect to incur
significant ECLs on managing these financial assets.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.3 Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost of the Group include other receivables, time
deposits with original maturities over three months
and cash and cash equivalents. In respect of time
deposits with original maturities over three months
and cash and cash equivalents, since there is no
significant increase in credit risk, any loss allowance
recognised during the year is therefore limited
to 12-months ECLs. The directors consider the
probability of default is low on these balances since
the counterparties are financial institutions with high

credit rating or with good reputation.

Other receivables of measured at amortised cost
are considered to have low credit risk as the
counterparties have a low risk of default and does
not have any past due amounts. Impairment on
these balances has been measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs. No loss allowance is
recognised as the amount of ECLs on these balances

is insignificant.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the fully-
impaired other receivables of HK$1,468,000 had
been fully recovered and hence, there was a reversal
of loss allowance of HK$1,468,000 recognised in

profit or loss.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will
not able to meet its obligation associated with
its financial liabilities. In the management of the
liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows
in the short and long term. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank loans and ensures compliance

with loan covenants.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered to have

been effective in managing liquidity risk.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the reporting date of the Group's
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on rates current at the reporting
date) and the earliest date the Group can be

required to pay.

Specifically, for bank loans which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be
exercised at the lender’s sole discretion, the analysis
shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period
in which the entity can be required to pay, that is if
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights

to call the loans with immediate effect.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

RHREH —ERE —FNE
REEE HENELE KREXEE BEIREE MEN L
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year oron lessthan ~ More than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 2 years
FAT AT AT AT AT
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
RZBZMERAZTH As at 30 June 2024
FiTEEMER: Non-derivative
financial liabilities:
BN Trade payables 59,770 59,770 59,770 - -
At ERFEREER Other payables and
accruals 31,969 31,969 31,969 - -
HEGE Lease liabilities 12,757 13,731 5498 4,634 3,599
R Bank loans 1,036,236 1,063,098 835,937 227,161 -
ERGERERA Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036 1,036 - -
EEs A R0R Due to related
companies 37,426 37,426 1319 30,047 -
ARNE Zail E g Due to non-controlling
interests 80,670 80,670 - 80,670 -
BRIRRERZER Loan from a controlling
shareholder 4,280 4,280 - 4,280 -
1,264,144 1,291,980 941,589 346,792 3,599
RZFZZERAZHH As at 30 June 2023
FirEERaR: Non-derivative
financial liabilities:
BHERTE Trade payables 75,679 75,679 75,679 - -
At ERHEREER Other payables and
accruals 71,040 71,040 71,040 - -
HERE Lease liabilities 16,290 17,900 4,902 9,495 3,503
RITEH Bank loans 1058377 1,084,015 867,206 216,809 -
EREELERA Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036 1,036 = =
ERBHARTE Due to related
companies 36,846 36,846 8,859 27,987 -
FER SRR iR 3R Due to non-controlling
interests 63,529 63,529 - 63,529 -
BRIRRRRZER Loan from a controlling
shareholder 4,306 4,306 4,306 - -
1,327,103 1,354,351 1,033,028 317,820 3,503
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

The table that follows summarises the maturity
analysis of bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set
out in the loan agreements. The amounts include
interest payments computed using contractual rates.
Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the directors do not consider that it is probable that
the bank and lender will exercise its discretion to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe
that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.

HBANHT-
REFEEF AR MAERERET B L ZRITEH
Maturity analysis - Bank loans subject to repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates

RNRME —§RE —ENE
FOcH Hensdf REAEE BIRRE MEUL
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year oron lessthan ~ More than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 2 years
TET TET TET AT AT
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
RZBZMERAZTH As at 30 June 2024
FITER Bank loans 1,036,236 1,089,683 150,983 902,898 35,802
RZFZZ£xA=+H As at 30 June 2023
RITER Bank loans 1058377 1,145,716 169,780 257,967 717,969
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%&Eﬁ% (&) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

485 REESHBERRRERZ 48.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the
DNEEFE consolidated statement of financial position
LR BEIRBTE2ME The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities
ERAEZAFEMRZ into three levels based on the relative reliability of
FE2H ABBE A ER significant inputs used in measuring the fair value
E #HZEemEERE of these financial assets and liabilities. The fair value
BEID A=K - AF hierarchy has the following levels:
BEBZERNAT :

—F1E: HRABENE — Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
PR T % 2 B markets for identical assets;
(REEFEE)

—F2E: REIERE — Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
LAGN - B At B included within Level 1 that are
# (B ERK) observable for the instruments and
sk A (B¢ derivatives, either directly (i.e. as
ERHENT) A prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
ERCTITAR prices); and
PMETAEZE
AE: &

—%F3E: WIHREAE — Level 3: inputs for the instruments that are
=7 G EUE not based on observable market data
ZITEZ&8 A (unobservable inputs).

B (EEHER
ZEBAE) °

N
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

RFE MR RER 2 48.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the
AFEFE (F) consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)
eHEERBEMEAZ The level in the fair value hierarchy within which
N EREER  TER the financial assets and liabilities is categorised in its
HATEFEAEBERE entirety is based on the lowest level of input that
E2RRERBAEEE is significant to the fair value measurement. The
ETE o iR G Mk &R financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
BEAFHEFECZEREE in the consolidated statement of financial position
RBERATEREZD are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:
BT
F1E 2B %38 @
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
(Fiat@)  (FtEEw) (FizEQ)
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
RZB_MERA=1H As at 30 June 2024
ARTERHAEMEEYEZ  Finandal assets at fair value
cREE through other comprehensive
income
~EBEB LM RARE — Listed equity investments in
Hong Kong 16,956 - - 16,956
—TEEM S LT ZBRARE - Listed equity investments in
elsewhere 499 - - 499
~-EBAB LT ER — Listed bonds in Hong Kong 2,298 - - 2,298
—EEMMS LTz RS - Listed bonds in elsewhere 2,250 - - 2,250
NAFEFFABZZEREE  Finandal assets at fair value
through profit or loss
~EBEB LM RAES ~ Listed equity securities in
Hong Kong 2,505 - - 2,505
—ERBIREES - Investment fund in Hong Kong - 5,795 - 5,795
~TEMH 2 REES — Investment fund in elsewhere = 4272 = 4272
—fTEERIA ~ Derivative financial instruments - 16 - 16
24,508 10,083 - 34,591
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M EREER 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁ% (&) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
REGEMBERRTRERZ 48.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the
RNEEFE (F) consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)
218 $2E £38 @5
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FAT FET FET FET
HK$000 HK$000 HKS$ 000 HK$000
(Mz@) (FizE(b)) (FizE()
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
RZZEZ=F,A=1H As at 30 June 2023
WATEFAEMEANEZ  Financal assets at fair value
EREE through other comprehensive
income
—ERBLTZRARE ~ Listed equity investments in
Hong Kong 18,414 = = 18,414
~TEEMME ET 2 BAERE - Listed equity investments in
elsewhere 1,508 - - 1,508
— e H A 75 9 £ 2 B AR 4% & - Unlisted equity investments in
elsewhere - 144 - 144
~ERB LT ER — Listed bonds in Hong Kong 2,266 - = 2,266
~fEEME FmzES — Listed bonds in elsewhere 4,468 = = 4,468
NATEFABZZEREE  Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
—EBA LT RAES — Listed equity securities in
Hong Kong 2,955 - - 2,955
—EBBZENE — Certificate of deposits in
Hong Kong = 3,899 = 3,899
—ERARERS ~ Investment fund in Hong Kong - 6,039 - 6,039
~TEMM L RERS ~ Investment fund in elsewhere = 4,009 = 4,009
NAFEANBEZEMEME  Financal liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
—fTESRIA - Derivative finandial instruments = (18) - (18)
29,611 14,073 - 43,684
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.5

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)

The methods and valuation techniques used for
the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged
compared to the previous reporting periods.

Notes:

(a) Fair values of listed equity securities and listed
bonds have been determined by reference to their
market prices at the reporting date and have been
translated using the spot foreign currency rates at

the end of the reporting period where appropriate.

(b) The fair value of the unlisted investment fund
is the share of the net assets value of the funds
which has been determined with reference to
the fair value of the underlying financial assets
and liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
The fair value of unlisted equity investments and
derivative financial instruments are determined
directly or indirectly based on valuation techniques
with market observable inputs including
observable market data. The fair value of the
certificate of deposits have been determined by
the quote market prices of the financial institution

at the reporting date.

(@] Financial assets classified in Level 3 use valuation
technique based on significant inputs that are not
based on observable market data. The Group does
not have any financial assets classified in Level 3

during and as at the end of the reporting period.
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49,

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Level 3).

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group's capital management
is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
during the current and previous years.
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49,

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debts divided by total equity plus net debts. Net debts
are calculated as the sum of bank borrowings less cash and
cash equivalents as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group aims to maintain the gearing
ratio at a reasonable level and the directors are of the
opinion that the Group’s gearing ratio was maintained at
reasonable level at the reporting date. The gearing ratios as
at the reporting date were as follows:

KT
2024 ZOZE
Fi#ET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
iﬁiﬂﬁ% Current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 882,506 854,387
ERE **ﬁ}% Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036
TH&E & Lease liabilities 4,923 4,179
fﬁ REEE N RIFIE Due to related companies 7.379 8,859
HxHx%}m{#Z%f,%{ Loan from a controlling shareholder - 4,306
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 153,730 203,990
HEaE Lease liabilities 7.834 12,111
A5 R RS A Bl 5k IE Due to related companies 30,047 27,987
JE - FEH2E %‘H%EE?KIE Due to non-controlling interests 80,670 63,529
PR AR IRt 2 B Loan from a controlling shareholder 4,280 _
BEIB4A%E Total debts 1,172,405 1,180,384
RS MRS EEAN Less: Cash and cash equivalents and time
REEIH A=A L deposits with original maturities
Z EHER over three months (49,156) (97,101)
BIF5E Net debts 1,123,249 1,083,283
EREE Total equity 1,980,659 2,285,933
iR R IETEHEE Total equity and net debts 3,103,908 3,369,216
BEAMRBILE Gearing ratio 36.19% 32.15%
4 - HUEBMERE 50. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL
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STATEMENTS

25 September 2024.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2024 were approved for issue by the directors on
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HAEERRZYE FHEHE
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/

SALES

R &M
WERE ik BHpBER aEEER AR BEH THESR fhatxs S ElhER
Estimated Attributable
Approximate approximate Stage of interest of
Lot No. Location sitearea  gross floorarea  Use Lease Term completion Completion date the Group
(FHH) (F54)
(sqft) sqft)
HNENRE2196HA B CRRER hERDEEEES 3,240 29141 BEREE T BIERK 90%
MNEMHEENTFA B CRREBLR  No. 1, Cheung Wah Street, Commercialand ~ Medium Completed
FNRERMEFE21985HA B CRRBE Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon fesidential
Section A, B, C and the remaining portion of
New Kowloon Inland lot 2196, Section A, B, C
and the remaining portion of New Kowloon
Inland ot 2197, and section A, B, C and the
remaining portion of Inland Lot No. 2198.
NEABRFE097FHR AR RHEESH R B ARSI 4164 164A5% 5,054 25200 fE ik REETH 100%
([&l) Nos 164-164A Boundary Street, Residential Medium Planningin progress
The Remaining Portion of Section H and Sub-section Kowloon City, Kowloon
5 of Section H of Kowloon Infand Lot No. 2097
(the “Lots")
BEEREZYE PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT
A&
1B SEHS i Efi#EE RE HEH
Attributable
interest of
Lot No. Location the Group  Use Lease Term
L2 X 51209 53689 AR R CB HATHABILABSHRRSEEAR 100%  H# F
Section A and section C of Lot no 3689 in D.D. 120 OIE 1012 114 1248 - 1388 - 1588 Rental Medium
1618 - 1712 - 1912 - 208 - 2112 ] 2218
9/F, 10/F, 11/F, 12/F, 13/F, 15/F, 16/F,
17/F, 19/F, 20/F, 21/F and 22/F,
Glassview Commercial Building,
No. 65 Castle Peak Road,
Yuen Long, New Territories
TEEB 5 HER S 405R I K JUREAT RS [ 70- 1A% R R &418% 100% A i E]
NEEEHEZOEHEEIHE S TR L = P Rental Medium
Section | of Kowloon Marine lot No. 40 and Unit P 1st Floor, Kaiser Estate 3rd Phase,
sub-section 1 of section H of Kowloon Marine lot No. 40 Nos. 9 - 11A Hok Yuen Street,
No. 18 Man Lok Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon
TUBE P ER 55104295% BRER - JLRE M ER NERDBHEE19-23FE R T 100% {8 R E]
1043257 AR R LB I HER 104315 8RR AT B AEA R Rental Medium
The remaining portion of Kowloon Inland lot No. 10429, —EAZHRRARE
the remaining portion of Kowloon Inland ot No. 10432 and  Shops A & B on the G/F and
the remaining portion of Kowloon Inland lot No. 10431 Office Ato Hon 1/,
Hart Avenue Court,
19-23 Hart Avenue,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
B R 1249 A ER BEEFEFE2325 75% R H
The remaining portion of Marine Lot no. 124 232 Wan Chai Road, Wan Chai, Rental Long

Hong Kong
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the respective published audited financial statements
and restated as appropriate, is set out as below. This summary does

not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

E 4 RESULTS
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
FHT FAT FET FET FET
HKS$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
Yezs Revenue 360,402 455,608 603,926 536,267 420,315
BRETER A (B1R),/ 2 (Loss)/profit before income tax ~ (294,149)  (102,908) 18,157 22,310 (13,673)
FiisH (AX) /e Income tax (expense)/credit (6,165) (12,501) 20,305 11,959 (4,209)
R (BE) /&7 (Loss)/profit for the year (300,314)  (115,409) 38,462 34,269 (17,882)
Fal Non-controlling interests 43,012 17,123 (26,320) (14,384) 2,541
AREHER AEM Net (loss)/profit attributable to
(B518) /HFFE the owners of the Company ~ (257,302) (98,286) 12,142 19,885 (15,341)
EE - - BERIEEER ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
FH#T FET FET FET FET
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
BEE Total assets 3,366,905 3724643 3865024 3718277 3,456,478
BEE Total liabilities (1,386,246)  (1,438710) (1,418658)  (1,271,769)  (1,090,203)
JEE s Non-controlling interests (163,180)  (206,196)  (223,201)  (202,257)  (186,692)
1,817,479 2079737 2223165  2,244251 2,179,583
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